STRATEGIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date: Thursday 29 September 2022
Time: 5.30 pm
Venue: Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter
Members are invited to attend the above meeting.
If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Sharon Sissons,
Democratic Services Officer (Committees) on 01392 265115.
Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the rear entrance at the back of the Customer Service
Centre, Paris Street.
Membership Councillors Hannaford (Chair), Leadbetter (Deputy Chair), Allcock, Asvachin, Atkinson, Branston,
Harvey, Jobson, Knott, Mitchell, K, Moore, J, Oliver, Read and Vizard

Agenda
1

Apologies

2

Minutes
To approve and sign the minutes of the Strategic Scrutiny Committee held on 16
June 2022.

3

Declaration of Interest
Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer
prior to the day of the meeting.

4

Local Government (Access to Information) Act - Exclusion of the Press and
Public
It is considered that the Committee would be unlikely to exclude the press and
public during the consideration of the items on this agenda, but if it should wish to do
so, then the following resolution should be passed:

(Pages 5 16)

"RESOLVED that, under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the particular item(s) of business
on the grounds that it (they) involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in the relevant paragraph(s) of Part 1, of Schedule 12A of the Act."
5

Questions from the Public Under Standing Order No.19
Details of questions should be notified to the Corporate Manager Democratic and
Civic Support via the committee.services@exeter.gov.uk email by 10.00am at
least three working days prior to the meeting. For this meeting any questions
must be submitted by 10.00am on Monday 26 September 2022.
For details about how to speak at Committee, please click the following link https://exeter.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-and-meetings/publicspeaking-at-meetings/overview/

6

Questions from Members of the Council Under Standing Order No.20
To receive questions from Members of the Council to the relevant Portfolio
Holders for this Scrutiny Committee. The Portfolio Holders reporting to this
Scrutiny Committee are:Councillor Bialyk Councillor Morse Councillor Parkhouse
Councillor Wood Councillor Wright -

Leader
Portfolio Holder City Development and Planning
Portfolio Holder Leisure & Physical Activity
Portfolio Holder Climate Change
Portfolio Holder Arts, Culture and Corporate Services

Advance questions from Members relating to the Portfolio Holders should be
notified to the Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support via the
committee.services@exeter.gov.uk email.
7

Portfolio Holder Reports

(Pages 17
- 24)

Councillor Bialyk (Leader) and Councillor Wood (Portfolio Holder Climate
Change) to present a report on their respective portfolios.
8

Working Towards Net Zero - Exeter City Council's Corporate Carbon
Footprint Report and Carbon Reduction Action Plan

(Pages 25
- 110)

To consider the report of the Director Net Zero & City Management.
Dr Daniel Lash from the University of Exeter, Senior Research Fellow, Centre for
Energy and the Environment will also be in attendance.
9

Progress Report Shared Prosperity Fund - Update
To consider the report of the Director Net Zero & City Management.

(Pages
111 - 148)

10

Scrutiny Programme Board Annual Report

(Pages
149 - 166)

To receive the report of the Scrutiny Programme Board.
11

Forward Plan of Business
Please see for noting a link to the schedule of future business proposed for the
Council which can be viewed on the Council's web site https://exeter.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-and-meetings/forwardplan-of-executive-decisions/
Should Members wish to raise issues in respect of future business please notify
Sharon Sissons in advance of the meeting.

Date of Next Meeting
The next scheduled meeting of the Strategic Scrutiny Committee will be held on Thursday 17
November 2022 at 5.30 pm in the Civic Centre.
Follow us:
Twitter
Facebook

Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265115.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
STRATEGIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
16 June 2022
Present:
Councillor Rob Hannaford (Chair)
Councillors Leadbetter, Allcock, Branston, Harvey, Jobson, Lights, Moore, J, Oliver, Read
and Vizard
Apologies:
Councillors Asvachin, Knott and Mitchell, K
Also present:
Chief Executive & Growth Director, Director of City Development, Corporate Manager
Democratic and Civic Support and Democratic Services Officer (SLS)
In attendance:

7

Councillor Philip Bialyk
Councillor Josie Parkhouse
Councillor Laura Wright

-

Councillor Duncan Wood

-

Leader of the Council
Portfolio Holder for Leisure Services & Physical Activity
Portfolio Holder for Culture, Corporate & Democratic
Services
Portfolio Holder for Climate Change

Councillor Diana Moore

-

Attending Under Standing Order 20

Minutes
Subject to the following typographical amendments relating to Minute No. 4 and a
question to the Leader in relation to Exeter City Futures, to read neither rather than
either statutory power or policy-making authority, and in relation to Minute No. 5 and
in the reference to city centre parking to read affected for effected and also in relation
to a reference to graduates remaining in the city which should read the affect not
effect of Brexit, the minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2022 were taken as
read, approved and signed by the Chair as correct.

8

Declaration of Interest
No declarations of interest were made by Members.

9

Questions from the Public Under Standing Order No.19
In accordance with Standing Order No.19, the following question had been submitted
by a member of the public, Mr Cleasby and was circulated in advance to Members of
the Committee. Councillor Wood, Portfolio Holder for Climate Change attended the
meeting and gave the following response as set out in italics below:Question to the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change – Councillor Wood
Will the relevant Portfolio Holder please list the achievements of the Council’s
Transport Working Group in the year since it was established?
The membership of the Transport Working Group was finalised in February 2022 and
the first meeting was held on Wednesday 16 February 2022. The priority areas of
focus which the Group established have been used to provide a consistent message

Page 5

to Devon County Council in our strategic discussions with them around transport in
the city. The Group has not met since the change in Portfolio Holder in May but a
new date will be put forward shortly.
As a District Council, Exeter City Council is neither the Transport Authority nor the
Highway Authority. Both of these functions fall to Devon County Council as the upper
tier authority. The issue of transport is vital for the future of our city and incredibly
important to our residents, businesses, visitors and the environment. Our ability to
influence and steer policy around transport is therefore crucial. The Working Group is
specifically to act as a critical friend to himself as the Portfolio Holder and help be a
unified voice for the City Council in all matters related to transport.
Mr Cleasby asked a supplementary question on whether the Transport Working
Group had sent any specific messages to the Transport Authority to date?
Councillor Wood responded and stated that the Working Group had not met since he
became the Portfolio Holder, and he was not aware that any detail had been
specifically passed to Devon County Council, but he would make enquiries. Following
a further comment, Mr Cleasby confirmed that he had only had sight of the terms of
reference and was not aware the minutes were available. The Chair suggested that if
the minutes were in the public domain, they would be made available.
10

Questions from Members of the Council Under Standing Order No. 20
In accordance with Standing Order No. 20, the following questions were submitted by
Councillor Oliver in relation to the Portfolio of Councillor Parkhouse and also from
Councillor Diana Moore in relation to the Portfolios for Councillors Wood, Wright and
Morse. The questions were circulated in advance to Members of the Committee. The
responses of the Portfolio Holders are set out in italics below: –
Question to the Portfolio Holder for Leisure Services & Physical Activity –
Councillor Parkhouse
1.

Having noted with concern that Cornwall and other Councils have closed
popular local swimming pools, please can the Portfolio Holder tell me if
closures of swimming pools have been considered in Exeter?
Councils across the UK have been considering cost saving measures such as
higher prices and even closing pools with the energy price rise heating pools
has increased by 150% since 2019. However, Exeter City Council remains
committed to swimming pool provision in the city. The Council brought 170
members of staff in house and offered local government terms and conditions
and a minimum of a living wage. Through Covid and also post pandemic the
leisure market has seen unprecedented turbulence. Energy costs are further
restricting operators ability to run services, whether they be in private hands,
Council run or in a trust.
In Exeter we have invested over £52m in our leisure estate, including the new
St Sidwell’s Point flagship centre which has just opened, and a refurbished
Riverside Leisure Centre. As we speak, £1.5million of additional improvements
are taking place to the roof at Riverside so it can host solar Photovoltaic panel
(PV) and reduce operating costs. A further £750,000 was recently agreed by
Council to enable pre development work to take place at Wonford. We are
dedicated to trying to provide the best facilities in our most deprived
communities.

Page 6

The Council will continue to work with Sport England to develop a future leisure
strategy that safeguards our current leisure provision whilst looking to invest
further. Senior Sport England officers are visiting in late July to outline the
process and formal partnership approach to investing in the leisure portfolio.
Questions to Portfolio Holder for City Development - Councillor Morse (The
Leader, Councillor Bialyk offered the prepared responses as Councillor Morse was
unable to attend the meeting)
Please can the Portfolio Holder report on the following:-1.

Turnover of staff in the planning team over the past 2 years?
The retention rate (direct employees only) was 85% based on date range of 1
June 2020 – 1 June 2022.
He added thatONS reports Public Sector 1 year retention rate at 84% (2019)
Leading people management sources cite employee retention rates during
2022 at 15 – 17% (CIPD/Ceridian/Monster Jobs)

2.

The proportion (both the number of roles (1) and the proportion of the staff
budget (2) in the planning team that are employed on a consultancy basis, and
for how long these contracts are expected to continue for ?
(1) (the number of roles)
39.2 Full Time Equivalent(FTE) on agreed structure
28.2 FTE direct employees
5 FTE Current Agency/Consultants
11 FTE vacant posts (direct employed) compared to structure (recruitment in
progress)
Agency/Consultant contract end dates range from 31 July 2022, January 2023
or until such time as the direct employed posts are appointed into
(2) Proportion of agency staff/consultants cost VS directly employed salary
costs
17% spend on Agency/Consultants
83% spend on directly employed (+ on costs)
The Leader advised that the following additional information would be included
in the minutes:Table 1.offers a breakdown

Total Staff Pay including on-costs
Agency Staff/Consultants

Actual
664,648
138,039

Budget Variance
943,200 -278,552
0 138,039

802,687

943,200

Page 7

-140,513

% Actual
Costs
83%
17%
100%

3.

The number, if any, of planning officers seconded or allocated from the
planning team to work to the Liveable Place Board or any other bodies ? (E.g.
Exeter City Futures).
There are no planning officers seconded or allocated to the Place Board of
Exeter City Futures.
City Development provides a secretariat for the Liveable Exeter Place Board.
The Director of City Development supports the Chair of the Place Board.
One Project Manager is seconded to Exeter City Living.

4.

What measures are being taken to recruit, retain and support officers in the
planning team?
The Director City Development has taken steps to implement the approved
City Development structure, ensuring that all four teams have the right skills
and capacity to do their jobs effectively and efficiently, maintain morale and
ensure a healthy working environment.
A new Assistant Service lead (Major Projects) has recently been appointed.
A resourcing and recruitment plan, has been formulated, which will be
implemented in phases.
Phase 1 will see the launch of a national advertising campaign, later this
month, aimed at recruiting permanent roles to fill all vacant posts. This
includes the Service Lead role (previously filled on a temporary agency basis)
A new Planning Enforcement role has been created (replacing the existing
temporary agency role) and will be recruited.
City Development is delivering all of its statutory functions, but there are
significant gaps in the structure as detailed.
There is a dearth of qualified planners nationally and recruitment to fill vacant
posts has become increasingly competitive in recent years.
The Leader also referred to a recent discussion with representatives of the
South West Employers Panel who confirmed that recruitment and retention
was proving to be a major concern for many employers in the South West,
and Councils were not alone in finding issues in recruiting staff at this time.

Councillor Moore asked a supplementary question in relation to the support and
follow up offered to planning staff, bearing in mind the high levels of work. The
Leader advised that he was aware that support was offered through the Council’s
Management teams, along with the HR Department. He was not aware that any
Director or Managers had indicated there was a support issue amongst the staff.
The Chair suggested that a written request outlining the Council’s well-being support
structure, including any buddying or mentoring offered be made to staff generally but
also in the Planning Department. Councillor Moore thanked the Chair for making that
request.
Questions from Councillor Diana Moore to Portfolio Holder Climate Change Councillor Wood
1.

Would the Portfolio Holder consider and introduce carbon literacy training for
officers and councillors, such as that provided free (unless certification is
required) by the Carbon Literacy project for Local Authorities?.
(www.carbonliteracy.com)

Page 8

The majority of the Net Zero team have been through Carbon Literacy training,
with two members of the team currently going through train the trainer for
carbon literacy. This will enable the Net Zero team to deliver carbon literacy
training in-house for officers and Elected Members. Councillor Wood said that
he had carbon literacy training booked in through the Association of Public
Service Excellence (APSE) very soon.
2.

Please can the Portfolio Holder provide an update on the structure, roles, and
a summary of remit of the ECC Net Zero team and progress towards the
recruitment to this team?
The Net Zero Team are not directly linked to the report coming before the
Committee today which relates to city wide challenge of getting Exeter to Net
Zero Carbon by 2030 and is a collaborative area of work led by Exeter City
Futures. The focus of the ECC Net Zero team’s work is towards reducing
carbon emissions produced through services delivered by the City Council –
such as museums, waste collection, our housing stock, leisure and our back
office services. The City Council’s Carbon Reduction Action Plan will be
coming to Committee later this year, which will be the work programme of the
team.
Two new members of the Net Zero team were recruited this spring, those are
the Sustainability Officer and the Net Zero Data & Support Officer.
Victoria Hatfield – is the Service Lead for ECC Net Zero & Business
There are four staff members in the ECC Net Zero team and Jo Pearce is the
Net Zero Project Manager.
Councillor Moore welcomed news of the carbon literacy training and asked if
some training could be offered to officers to ensure a consistent approach to
completing the Carbon implications section in the Council’s reports to
Committee.
The Portfolio Holder thanked the Member for the suggestion and he confirmed
that he would liaise with the Net Zero & Business Team Lead.

Questions from Councillor Diana Moore to Portfolio Holder Culture, Corporate
and Democratic Services – Councillor Wright
Please can the Portfolio Holder provide an update on the following:1.

The numbers of organisations that have signed up to the SWAN Charter
(Safety of Women at Night)?
20 organisations have signed up so far.

2.

Will the Portfolio Holder be recommending that the Council itself sign up this
Charter?
The Portfolio Holder said that she would have recommended signing up to the
SWAN Charter, but the Leader had ensured that the City Council had signed
up on line, as soon as the Charter was produced. The Charter is a University of
Exeter led initiative and have developed this as part of their Safety of Women
and Girls at Night work.

Page 9

Councillor Moore added that she could not see that the City Council was listed
on the web site as one of the organisations that had signed up to the Charter
and enquired if there was an error on the web site.
The Portfolio Holder advised that she had just checked the web site and the
Council was now listed.
3.

What monitoring is being undertaken to assess the impact of the Charter on
improving the safety for women?
In November 2021, a partnership led by the University of Exeter, was awarded
funding to tackle crimes against women at night by the Home Office’s Safety of
Women at Night Fund. Over the five month project period and by working
collaboratively with partners across the city, the project successfully delivered a
number of initiatives one of which included the Charter. The timescale for both
submitting the bid and spending the money was extremely short and the final
monitoring criteria is still being worked on and forms part of an additional Safer
Streets 4 Bid.
The longer term aspirations are a reduction in offences and that is what they
are hoping to see and an increase in reporting but these may not be seen
straight away. The Strategic Partnership Analyst for Devon and Cornwall Police
already provides quarterly crime trend reports to the Community Safety
Partnership and this will continue during 2022 and beyond. The report includes
police data and analysis on a number of areas which will help the Community
Safety Partnership evaluate the success of the project and where further work
is needed.
Councillor Moore thanked the Portfolio Holder for the information which was
very helpful and asked if the Council had signed up for training of the CCTV
operatives, particularly in terms of identifying and handling situations involving
vulnerable women at night.
The Portfolio Holder responded that training for the CCTV operatives was
already under way including for recent recruits in the CCTV Control Centre,
many of whom were former members of the police force.
The Portfolio Holder also responded to a question from the Chair and
confirmed that she sat on the Community Safety Partnership with Councillor
Pearce, Portfolio Holder for Communities & Homeless Prevention and
Councillor Ghusain Portfolio Holder for City Management and Environmental
Services, and collectively they will discuss how they will share any pertinent
information with Members.

11

Progress Report from Exeter City Futures and the City of Exeter Greenhouse
Gas Inventory
The Chief Executive & Growth Director made a presentation (a copy of the
presentation is appended to the minutes) and reported on the progress from Exeter
City Futures Community Interest Company on the work being done to progress the
Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan, together with a baseline Greenhouse Gas (GHG)
inventory for the city. The report quantified the reductions required to achieve Net
Zero by 2030 and identified more specific and timely metrics for monitoring progress
towards carbon neutrality in each emissions sector along with key performance
indicators as a strategic dashboard for the city. It also outlined the scale, opportunity,
and pace of the challenge and step change in resources, activity and policy making

Page 10

both at a local and national level, required for the city to achieve a Net Zero city by
2030. Members were invited to comment on the report that would be presented to the
next Executive.
In setting the context, Exeter City Futures offered a collaboration between the key
public sector partners within the city (Exeter City Council, Devon County Council, the
Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Trust, Exeter College and the University of Exeter and
Global City Futures) to deliver on Net Zero, but also to build on sustainability,
resilience, innovation and productivity, well-being and an inclusive agenda in respect
of the city’s communities. The delivery of a whole system change approach to Net
Zero includes looking at policy, but also the physical and social environment, and
whilst there was potentially life changing positive social change, there was
recognition that individuals as well as the collective need would each have their own
future challenges. Organisations and institutions in the city would also have to
consider their own behaviour. The Chief Executive & Growth Director referred to the
vision that Exeter will be a carbon neutral city by 2030 and the aspiration that the
Exeter of the future will have grasped the opportunities ahead, based on Exeter’s
excellent reputation for climate science.
The Chair referred to advance questions received from a Member, (appended to the
minutes along with a set of draft recommendations received for information). The
Member welcomed the report and the ambitious target of 2030, which was 20
years ahead of the national target set by the public sector and commented on the
Council’s report as follows concern that not all of the University of Exeter’s key monitoring targets and
areas identified for change such as retrofitting were replicated in the Council’s
report.
that a mechanism including an adequate supply chain should be encouraged to
enable individuals, as well as the Council for their own housing stock, to be
able to carry out retrofitting work.
a planning consideration to reach a level of energy independence would help
meet those targets, but there was no positive indication of how that related to
the current restraints of Photovoltaic (PV) on buildings to enable this to happen.
the University report has made reference to an 11% target and suggestions for
a clean air zone and other measures such as a work place parking levy as well
as looking at increasing walking and cycling rates. Such measures and targets
should be referred to the Council’s Transport Working Group for action as well
as consider if there any implications for the Exeter Transport Plan.
a lack of policy target to reach a suggested target of a rate of recycling of 70%
by 2030.
rolling out a food waste collection service would increase the recycling rate to
50% and, if glass collection was included, that rate would go even higher.
in conclusion, the Member suggested two key points for consideration should
be to monitor all of the targets set out in the University’s report, and despite the
drive to Net Zero by 2030 requiring collaborative action across many areas of
the Council, there was no mechanism such as a standing committee to address
this.
The Chief Executive & Growth Director responded to a number of the questions and
stated that the Council’s report had only included the headline areas, but it was
acknowledged that everything needed to be done and the cooperation of other
partners and organisations would be needed. The setting and adoption of targets
was possible, but adequate resources were needed to address the obstacles. Exeter
City Futures have brought together organisations to consider the targets as well as

Page 11

working with the County’s Transport Authority to look at overcoming any
obstacles. The Member reiterated the comment she made earlier relating to the
University’s full list of policy areas which were not included in the Council’s report
suggesting they were needed to ensure that policy would need to flow from all of the
University’s measures and targets identified in order to achieve the targets.
The Chief Executive & Growth Director responded to a Member’s enquiry stating
that the Council could only work within national development guidelines and currently
house builders could still deliver houses with gas boilers, which would have to be
retrofitted in time. Members from both Scrutiny Committees have been scrutinising
the City Development Fund, which included a land ownership model that offered
more control rather than being dependent on national policy. The Director City
Development added that the Exeter Plan will be a statutory document but it also
offered a way to convene and meditate a contested space with developers,
stakeholders, communities and the local planning authority. The whole system
approach referred to in the Council’s report will present a strategic challenge for
planning. He also responded to a comment on the scope for putting Photovoltaic
Panels (PV) on Listed Buildings This was governed by different legislation to protect
and enhance the setting and fabric of such buildings. Any significant intervention
through further legislation required a balanced approach. The real challenge to
address the rest of the city’s housing stock, remained.
Members made the following comments and the Chief Executive & Growth Director
responded where appropriate and as set out in italics:delivering on Net Zero 2030 was clearly a huge challenge and should be seen
as a call to action for the Council. Despite the focus on skills and having a
world leading university in the city, physical barriers such as a lack of
affordable housing and the availability of the right kind of jobs to help
graduate retention persisted. There ought to be an opportunity for the Council
to lead on progressing incentives through the Government and local
businesses to offer support for improvements such as PV panels, insulation
or retrofitting boilers as this was just too big a financial barrier to leave to
individual households.
despite the delays in the County Council’s Active Travel ambitions, which was
not without some controversy, further trials for a neighbourhood street model
in all of the city centre wards and beyond would be welcomed and ensuring
alternative transport and affordability was included.
it was acknowledged that delayed supply chains were holding up the rolling
out of the implementation of the collection of food waste, but there might be
an opportunity to approach one or two larger local authorities such as in
London or Manchester to see if there was an opportunity to pool their vehicle
resources in some way to overcome this delay. The Director (DB) would be
made aware of the suggestion of pooling vehicle resources with other Local
Authorities and would report back to Members.
although biodiversity was included in the recommendation it was not
referenced in the report as a target action for Exeter. The idea of creating a
pricing structure had initially seemed very appealing and a tangible way to
value nature, but it could also offer some justification for the destruction of
habitat by replacement on another site as part of planning controls.
Bristol and Lichfield Councils have established a mechanism to enable
developers to pay for ongoing management of land sequestration. Efforts
would be made to find an opportunity to investigate more detail of this
work and, potentially, consider a pricing mechanism for such carbon off

Page 12

setting that could be included in the planning system and enable Devon
to come up with its own unique way.
clarification on whether it was the budget of Exeter City Futures or the Council
that would be exceeded was sought. It was the city’s carbon budget not the
financial budget which would be exceeded by 2026 although the challenge
relating to local authority finances remained.
as there may be a tipping point for future fuel type used for large commercial
vehicles, perhaps a more generic approach for reducing carbon emissions in
transport should be taken rather than setting targets due to the ever changing
technology and resulting pace of change. Flexibility over the management of
commercial vehicles was needed and discussions over alternative fuel
sources such as with hydrogen manufacturers. The County Council would
likely have views about such matters and the return in carbon terms.
many essential car users those in the care sector who were reliant on their
cars for work, may not be able to make the move to electric cars and buses
by 2030.The challenge over policy and financial issues would require work
over the future years, Exeter City Futures were working with a number of
companies and through these strategic partnerships for solutions such as an
electrification of fleet vehicles or how to incentivise the transport network.
further examination of the assumption in the Council’s report of the
conversion of 50,000 cars to electric, as any reduction in the number of
journeys should be included in the modelling, along with the impact of
congestion and air pollution. The Member also sought an explanation of the
strategy to prioritise the electric charging infrastructure at such an early stage,
when the overall plan would require very significant change on every street
and might prevent the agility that will be needed. There was good reason to
make an early investment to encourage people to purchase electric vehicles
and allay any fears of not having a convenient charging point infrastructure. A
number of the bus companies have also indicated they will no longer buy
diesel engines and so if the charging infrastructure was put in place that could
make the decision to change easier for them.
if there was an opportunity for Exeter City Council’s commercial waste
services to expand their business, or if those leasing Council property could
be encouraged to use their services. The Director (DB) has been working with
a waste management company based on the Exeter Science Park to look at
ways to scale up the City Council’s commercial operations. The forthcoming
report to the Executive on waste in relation to the Council’s Greenhouse Gas
Emissions report will include a discussion about those commercial contacts.
that whilst funding would be a question for respective Governments, there
should be recognition that the Council has made an effort to find innovative
ways of progressing ways to meet the Net Zero challenge.
it was essential that public transport be seen as a public service and properly
funded.
why was the energy from the Energy to Waste plant on Marsh Barton and
the new housing on the outskirts of Exeter by the Devon Motel not connected
to a District Heating system. The business case made for the Energy to
Waste plant was supported by Teignbridge District Council, but it had not
been possible to secure the deal with the volume house builders in
Teignbridge.
it was suggested that as much of a visual message as possible be given to
the Council’s Communication team to share with the public to be aware of the
challenges ahead. The message including the challenges will be shared
through Exeter City Futures.
the different means of individuals to be able to participate should be borne in
mind in the messaging. The Member referred to some residents in her ward

Page 13

who were supportive but initiatives such as road changes had meant that their
livelihoods had been disproportionally affected as individuals. There was a
need therefore for any move to behavioural change to be communicated
sensitively. The request was acknowledged and directly correlated with the
intended messaging.
The Chair hoped that despite the cost of living crisis that there may be an opportunity
to reinvigorate the economy through public spending to develop the green technology
and the infrastructure needed. The Chief Executive & Growth Director referred to the
various reincarnations of the county’s Devolution deals and the consistent message
that Exeter has made a solid case to pursue green innovation. It was important to be
clear locally about the direction of travel and wait for the right opportunity which he
was confident that the Leader at the County Council would support.
The Chair referred to the discussion and sought Members’ support for an additional
recommendation to set up a Standing Overview Group to scrutinise the allencompassing piece of work that will be needed by both the City Council and all of
our partners. The detail and operation of the new Group would be presented to the
Scrutiny Programme Board. It would include the opportunity to enable witnesses to
present evidence to ensure the whole process will be properly scrutinised. The
challenge of the effort to tackle climate change with limited resources was
acknowledged. Members expressed support for the additional recommendation.
The Strategic Scrutiny Committee supported the report and requested that comments
made by this Scrutiny be relayed to the Executive when it considers the Greenhouse
Gas Emissions Inventory report. Strategic Scrutiny Committee supported approval by
Executive of the following:(1) the Exeter Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory and that the pace and scale
of change required to deliver on the Net Zero 2030 goal will require a step
change in resources, activity and policy making both at a local and national
level,
(2) the importance of biodiversity and carbon sequestration in addressing the
challenge of delivering a Net Zero Exeter and invite a presentation to a future
meeting of Scrutiny Committee on practical proposals for linking the planning
and development system with the climate and ecological emergency involving
a mechanism to deliver net biodiversity gain on development sites and carbon
offsetting within Devon, this could comprise a Natural Capital Delivery
Partnership; and
(3) a Standing Overview Group be established, with the Scrutiny Programme
Board requested to consider the detail of operation to enable further scrutiny
of the collaborative work needed by the Council’s partners as an ongoing and
significant piece of work.
12

Presentation on the Role of Scrutiny
The Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support referred to the important role
of scrutiny within the Council’s democratic process in acting as a critical friend for the
Authority and enabling the 26 Members who made up the two Scrutiny Committees
to be able to contribute to the Council’s policies and procedures.
Members were reminded of the approach within the Authority:Scrutiny Committee Members had the opportunity to address and scrutinise
the decisions being taken by the Executive by attending the meetings as well

Page 14

as initiating a call-in of Executive decisions, provided it met one of the four
criteria set out in the Council’s Constitution.
questions could be put forward to Portfolio Holders on their particular spheres
of responsibility within the Council with a standard format to highlight the
ongoing programme of work, service delivery, financial performance and
other matters on the portfolio has been developed. It was noted that this
format would be used for the Portfolio Holder reports going forward to the
next cycle of Scrutiny Committees.
a Forward Plan of business for the Executive for the future period was
published and offered the opportunity for a particular matter to be brought
forward through a more collegiate approach through scrutiny,via the Scrutiny
Programme Board.
the opportunity existed for Members to suggest a Task and Finish Group or
Spotlight Review to raise particular items of interest or urgency. Members of
the Scrutiny Programme Board had also developed a proforma for Members
to make such requests which is shared with the Strategic Management Board
and the Scrutiny Programme Board for determination and timetabling against
other requests that may come forward.
a forthcoming meeting of the Governance Review Board would ensure that
the Council continued to improve on recent changes made, which included
promoting greater public access with public speaking permitted at Council
and the Executive meetings.
The Corporate Manager Democratic Services and Civic Support referred to the
example of scrutiny working which had been very evident at this evening’s meeting
both from the detailed questions to Portfolio Holders, pertinent questions on the
reports and from that an additional recommendation for a time limited Standing
Overview Group to facilitate a way forward for a key matter for the Council. He also
responded to the following Member’s comments: the Forward Plan offered an opportunity both internally and externally to
identify future business and whether it was appropriate for additional
discussion at Scrutiny, via a request to the Scrutiny Programme Board, before
the matter was discussed at the Executive. There was also the opportunity to
place an item of business directly on the Scrutiny agenda.
the appointment of Chairs and Deputy Chairs were made as the result of
nominations made at the Annual Council meeting, voted en bloc as a Council
decision. There had been opposition Chairs of Scrutiny Committee and whilst
this could be a matter for discussion in the future, such appointments
remained a Council decision.
lockdown had offered an opportunity to broadcast meetings via zoom, but
face to face meetings required an individual recording with a member of the
Communications Team present at the meetings. Currently only the decision
making meetings of Council, the Executive and Planning Committee were
recorded. Members of the public were able to attend all Committee meetings,
including Scrutiny Committees and the agendas were published well in
advance of the meetings. The Chair made a request for officers to explore a
cost effective way of broadcasting these meetings and it was confirmed that
the Governance Review Board will be asked to consider any future plans to
broadcast meetings of Scrutiny.
The Chair reiterated that the Governance Review Board was particularly committed
to strengthening scrutiny along the lines that have been outlined this evening. He
referred to the approach which included cross party working and promoting
inclusivity. At the Chair’s invitation, Councillor Vizard, as Chair of the Customer

Page 15

Focus Scrutiny Committee echoed the opportunities for cross party working, ensuring
an open and transparent process and encouraging Members to come forward with
topics for discussion.
Members noted the update.
13

Forward Plan of Business
Members noted the Forward Plan.

The meeting commenced at 5.30 pm and closed at 7.50 pm
Chair

Page 16

Agenda Item 7
REPORT TO STRATEGIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting: 29th September 2022

PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S REPORT TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES
COUNCILLOR PHIL BIALYK, LEADER
1. Issues relating to achieving the Council’s published priorities
One Exeter - work is ongoing with this major transformation programme and it is to
be covered under the report of the Deputy Leader.
MTFP – The expectation now is that the Fair Funding review and Business Rates
reset will be pushed back to after the next election. The Government (prior to the
change in Prime Minister) announced its intention to announce a two-year
settlement for 2023-24 and 2024-25, which will give certainty over the next two
years. It is a very difficult time financially and the need to reduce our spending has
become immediate regardless of the Government’s decisions around the future of
local government finance. The reasons are: the proposed pay award is substantial
- £1.5 million higher than expected for the General Fund alone; The energy crisis
impacts on the Council as much as every other business and household. Energy
prices are not yet capped for the Council and therefore we are projecting
significant increases. The savings to be identified remain at circa £6.6 million over
the MTFP (£2.3 million for 2023-24) and work is progressing with the Council’s
transformation programme, One Exeter, to make better use of the skills and
resources we have, enable us to provide more cost efficient and joined up services
and crucially, support the delivery of cost reductions that need to be made by April
2027.
Embedding Net Zero in all services, planning and activity. All portfolio holders
now have this explicitly stated in their role description. All executive members have
been made aware of their joint responsibility to support the delivery of the Net Zero
Exeter 2030 goal.
Exeter City Living – The strategic issues facing the construction sector, with
inflation hitting the pricing of tenders and seriously challenging capital projects, are
explored in the 6 monthly update of the managing director being reported to
Executive in September. I believe the strategic issues facing the country and
creating the local context for development within the city point to an immediate
housing supply challenge for the country and the city. I will want to review the
governance of the Board to make sure we address the skills that we need to
manage the challenge as well as managing risk and strengthening the
engagement with members and the Board.
Exeter Development Fund - Engagement with the Scrutiny Committee is nearing
completion so that a recommendation can be made to Executive. A task and finish
group will provide a deep dive into the outline business case. ECF under the
leadership of the Director of City Development is working to identify flagship
Liveable Exeter sites which will form the basis of the modelling work required to
take the project to a full business case. The Director of City Development will
request the formal involvement of project partners and assess their requirements
for any due diligence. Further work to develop the project governance and
procurement processes is ongoing.
Liveable Exeter - Six Liveable Exeter principles have been developed as tools to
deliver outcomes of the Exeter Vision 2040. These principles are embedded in the
draft Exeter Plan, which is being launched for public consultation in September.
The draft Exeter Plan also identifies the 8 strategic Liveable Exeter sites where the
majority of new homes will be built.

Page 17

2. Update or commentary on any major ongoing programmes of work
Corporate Plan - The corporate plan has been drafted and will be presented to
Executive on 4th October and Council on 18th October. A briefing for all members
was scheduled for 14th September but had to be cancelled.
Devolution and the County Deal – The initial work of setting out the basis for a
county deal has been presented by Devon County Council to the Department of
Levelling Up Housing & Communities. There are other places in the country
ahead of Devon, conversations continue with Devon and the other authorities in
the next group. There is inevitably uncertainty because of the internal election
taking place and the changes that will follow. Devon Leaders continue to meet and
Devon, Plymouth and Torbay are continuing with their conversations. In August the
Government advised that it hopes to begin official-level discussions on the
devolution proposals in the autumn.
Shared Prosperity Fund – The council is working with neighbouring district
councils in jointly commissioning business support, delivered through the Shared
Prosperity Fund. This is to support growth of the regional economy, new business
start-ups, high growth potential businesses and supporting businesses with current
business challenges.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) - Consultants have been engaged in the
review of the CIL Charging Schedule. Background evidence regarding viability and
infrastructure is moving towards completion. An updated programme is currently
being put together. Consultation on the Draft Charging Schedule will need to take
place following completion of the Exeter Plan consultation, towards the end of
2022 or early 2023. Following consultation, an Examination will be required before
the new Charging Schedule can be implemented in the second half of 2023.
Procurement - We have gone live with a new ordering system, which will enable
better management of supplier payments and will enable us to enforce no
purchase order no pay policy across all council services.
3. Issues that may impact : services delivery/financial
performance/future budget requirements
Economic outlook - The strategic picture facing the country and in turn the local
government sector is challenging to say the least. Inflation and the cost of living
crisis will place increasing burdens on local government and we are working in a
political vacuum until national policies emerge. We need an emergency inflation
budget to address the pressing needs of local government. The demands of the
MTFP are already shaping our approach to many areas of council business, the
impact of inflation, the costs of energy simply make the problem even more
challenging. The strategic problems are piling up, and some councils have to make
significant in year budget savings that are eye watering, in particular upper tier
authorities are facing serious shortfalls.
4. Potential changes to services/provisions being considered
The One Exeter programme is considering options on service provision as part of
the consideration of identifying budget savings.
5. Other matters the Portfolio Holder wishes to raise with the Scrutiny
Committee
Covid-19 Support Schemes – The Deputy Chief Executive has presented a
report to Executive on the significant number of grants provided to residents and
businesses. Exeter City Council has given £56.4 million in Covid-19 Support
across households and businesses: £1,233,953 to 3,169 households; £55,201,024
to 12,670 businesses.

Page 18

REPORT TO STRATEGIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting: 29th September 2022

PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S REPORT TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES
Councillor Duncan Wood – Lead Councillor for Climate Change

1. Issues relating to achieving the Council’s published priorities
Net Zero 2030 Road Map – Exeter City Council declared a climate emergency in 2019
committing to a target of net zero carbon by 2030. It is clearly one of the Council’s key
priorities. Working through Exeter City Futures (ECF) a Carbon the Net Zero 2030 Road
Map was produced and ECC and ECF with the support of partners is working to deliver
the plan.
Net Zero 2030 Exeter City – Carbon the Net Zero 2030 plan has been adopted and in
June the Strategic Scrutiny Committee considered the City of Exeter Greenhouse Gas
Emissions Inventory (territorial emissions). The observations and challenges in the report
have been given much debate at Scrutiny and Executive. The scale of the challenge
facing the city of Exeter to achieve a net zero 2030 target date is clear for everyone to
see. Clearly the City Council cannot achieve Net Zero across the city on its own. It is a
collective, collaborative challenge for all sectors and residents of Exeter to rise to.
Net Zero 2030 Exeter City Council - An integral part of achieving net zero is the carbon
reduction of organisations within the city. ECC must lead the way by achieving net zero
carbon for its own organisational activities. As with many other councils committed to
reaching carbon neutrality this is a significant challenge across such a complex
organisation and a significant employer within the city. However, unlike the city wide net
zero challenge, the council is clearly more able to directly control the carbon emissions
from its own activities. We began this journey many years ago and have achieved so
much. We have an organisational greenhouse gas inventory for Exeter City Council and
we are pushing ahead.
Transport – is clearly a component part of delivering Net Zero 2030 (22% or territorial
emissions for the city of Exeter) and the challenges created by our transport systems can
impact significantly on residents. We are not the transport authority (which is Devon
County Council) but Exeter City Council plays a supportive and critical friend role on
transport matters. From supporting active travel measures to lending support for transport
improvements, such as with GWR in support of community infrastructure for the new
Marsh Barton railway station and improvements to St Thomas Station. However our
ability to directly respond to transport and travel challenges is obviously limited.
Exeter City Futures – was tasked to produce the Carbon the Net Zero 2030 plan and to
engage and explore collaborative working, concepts and projects to help deliver it. A
progress report on Exeter City Futures was reported to Strategic Scrutiny Committee on
16th June. Given the size of the challenge here, there are limited resources to explore
opportunities and drive the collaboration between stakeholders and residents to make the
range of significant changes needed.
Strategic Communications - The council has a responsibility to communicate well with
residents. Sharing public interest information, updates, council decisions and initiatives.
This information is done through its recognised news site, mainstream social media, and
a paper magazine, the Citizen, delivered widely across the city. It is important that
accurate balanced messaging reaches as many residents as possible and in this ECC it

Page 19

is supported by public service broadcasting, Local Democracy Reporting Service and the
strong media outlets not driven by circulation targets or other agendas.
The Council has a number of social media channels some are based within specific
functions of the Council for example the Dennis the Dustcart accounts on waste and
recycling as well as Exeter Housing Services amongst others.
The Strategic Comms Team itself manages the core Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn and
Instagram as well as the news site and the design and distribute the Citizen magazine.
So far this calendar year the council has had a reach of 3.404,500 interactions across all
its main social media channels. With the news channel also having 193,000 visitors. Main
stream media often picks stories up directly, further extending the reach of accurate,
balanced information and updates.
2. Update or commentary on any major ongoing programmes of work
Net Zero 2030 - Exeter City (ECF)
Alongside the strategic influencing work of the ECF Board a series of projects are being
delivered this year and these include:
A series of workshops to engage partner policy makers and system leaders in a
discussion on key topics to assess to what extent there are shared strategies towards Net
Zero and to identify priorities for shared action to create the right conditions for systemic
change. ECC councillors will be invited to each of these workshops:
Commercial District Heating Network: A proposal for Exeter City Futures partners
and discussion on appetite and viability
Exeter Transport Strategy: Review of current strategy: to what extent will this get
us to net zero: what else might we need to consider?
Exeter Electric Vehicle Charging: Developing a clear strategy for the city: facilitator
Exeter City Futures
The role Hydrogen could play in decarbonising Exeter: An opportunity to
understand the potential that taking a strategic approach to hydrogen production and
distribution could offer the city
Engaging communities in Net Zero: the role of community energy projects
Exeter Development Fund Progress on the DLUHC funded project linked to Liveable
Exeter continues with an ECC scrutiny task and finish being established to enable
members to fully understand the model and concept as it emerges.
National Lottery Change Makers Programme - The funded project is under review with
discussions planned with the funder to review performance and outcomes planned for the
end of the project in March 2023. These include the publication of a free to access toolkit
for communities and small businesses to help them address climate change and achieve
NetZero.
Community Energy Project Pilot - This project is aiming to design and test out the
concept of a street by street retrofit and renewable energy provision with neighbours
working together to share assets and resources. It is anticipated that the pilot will
commence early in 2023 and the evaluation will help shape a proposal for a systemic roll
out across each ward to work towards the city’s 2030 target.
Net Zero 2030 - Exeter City Council
Water Lane Smart Grid and Storage project near completion. Includes, a ground
mounted 1.2 MW array at Water Lane co-located with energy storage technology and a
connection providing a renewable energy supply to the Council’s Operations Depot at

Page 20

Exton Road to support the electrification of the Council’s fleet. Including testing of battery
storage at three further sites where solar energy is generated and a 140kw solar
installation at the Riverside Leisure Centre
Decarbonisation survey undertaken to establish a bid for the next round of Public Sector
Decarbonisation Scheme, to decarbonise heat and reduce energy consumption in high
use buildings that meet the funding criteria
Review of Solar opportunities and new Invest to Save proposal for generation to
reduce rising energy costs and PPA potential to reduce carbon emissions through selfsupply to be completed
Net Zero Ambassadors recruited and will act as a champion for services to ensure new
and existing projects make a positive contribution, reducing carbon emissions and
working towards net zero for the City Council.
Carbon Literacy training programme is in place to deliver carbon literacy training by
newly qualified Net Zero team members. To be provided to Councillors, Net Zero
Ambassadors, SMB, OMB, and other relevant officers and teams.
Developing a structured reporting format to carbon impact information to support
committee papers informed by the above Carbon Literacy training.
Skills Agenda
The Skills Strategy was approved by council, training session held for members on
07/09/22 with a summary version circulated and full version and action plan available.
There is ongoing activity to deliver against the priorities and work with partners.
Exeter Works – a review of the service and offer is required to ensure that value for
money is being achieved and that demand is being met in the customer groups that are
not supported by other organisations.
Shared Prosperity Fund – ‘People’ funding available for 2024-25 financial year.
Scoping of requirements in 12 months’ time to define the needs of our residents and
procure activity. There is also a funding allocation for a Retrofit Skills project as part of
this fund.
Construction Skills – Building Greater Exeter entering its 5th year of operation, strong
partnership delivering a variety of services to promote the sector and support people in to
employment, including the use of planning and procurement.
Retrofit Skills – major project underway with Exeter College to establish a dedicated
Retrofit Skills Centre in Exeter as part of their construction offer. Also Green Construction
Skills Advisory Panel established by College, with ECC and Building Greater Exeter
engaged. Identifying gaps in the curriculum, developing content and responding to
industry need. Working with partners across the South West.
Strategic Communications
Exeter Plan – launch of eight week public consultation, on the draft Exeter Plan is
due to commence on September 26th.
Formal opening of Edwards Court Extra Care Facility, first Passivhaus care
facility in the UK. Delayed from September 9 now likely end of September.
October Executive will highlight the city’s response to the Cost of Living Crisis.
National Passivhaus Trust conference comes to Exeter on October 26.

Page 21

Newtown city access – the consultation on better public access to the city centre
through Newtown expected later this year in partnership with Devon.
Devon District Councils Forum - Exeter takes over chairmanship of the Devon
District Councils Forum at the end of the year.
3. Issues that may impact : services delivery/financial performance/future budget
requirements
Given the scale of the strategic ambitions for a Net Zero 2030 City of Exeter it has not
been built on a credible budget and delivery plan. The Net Zero road map identified the
scale of investment required to support the goal and the greenhouse gas emissions
inventory coloured the practical implications and the scale of measures required to
achieve the goal. It is not credible to expect the city council to solve the problem on its
own.
The work that is being done in support of the ambition of a 2030 goal is being pursued in
good faith but this has not been formally acknowledged by Scrutiny members. KPI and
targets cannot be realistically assigned in the absence of a resource plan. In the absence
of defined powers/levers over the key areas and an adequate resource plan, KPIs and
targets can only be, at best, stretch targets.
Building Greater Exeter will be required to contribute financially to corporate services
(e.g. Strata, finance) from April 2023. This will reduce the amount of funding available for
direct activity, and will require the project manager to spend some time focussed on
generating additional income.
There will also be a change to Project Manager and chair at the end of September. A
chair designate has been identified and the Skills and City Inclusivity Manager will provide
continuity to the project whilst a new PM is appointed.
Exeter Works – limited budget and staff capacity to deliver, there is a need to manage
expectations and to provide a service in line with this.
Skills Strategy – some of the work identified within the strategy is currently being
scoped. It is likely that not everything will be able to be delivered, so prioritisation and
collaborative working will be required.
4. Potential changes to services/provisions being considered
Matters that need to be addressed in the Net Zero Plan were identified by the progress
report on 16th June to Strategic Scrutiny Committee. Recognition of the collective
responsibility and the size of the challenge is important in securing the wider stakeholder
commitment required to achieve a net zero city by 2030. Exeter City Council cannot do
this alone it is a city wide challenge.
Review of Exeter Works service – both physical hub and online offer in line with need
and demand within the city.
5. Other matters the Portfolio Holder wishes to raise with the Scrutiny Committee
Problems with buses in Devon and Exeter are well publicised, of course we
acknowledging that driver shortage and fuel costs are a national problem impacting on
bus and other services. We know how challenging it is to get drivers and to continue to
provide services.
However, I have no desire to provide excuses for Stagecoach regarding the shape or
reliability of their services. In my view how shortages has been managed is very poor in

Page 22

comparison to other bus services facing the same challenges. In fact the service within the
city was shrinking, both in terms of routes run and the frequency of buses, well before the
impacts of Brexit, the pandemic and the war in Ukraine were felt.
The services failings are manifest and it may be an area Scrutiny members may want to
explore directly with the transport authority (DCC) and Stagecoach. We await the findings
of the Traffic Commissioner’s Public Inquiry on the 27th October with interest.
Environmental Intelligence Institute - It has been a long term ambition to achieve for
Exeter an Environmental Intelligence Institute building on the world class climate change
sciences and research being undertaken in the city.
It is a project that is the product of partnership work between the University of Exeter and
the Met Office and was advanced in the work done by the city on the local industrial
strategy and it has been a consistent theme of the work of the local enterprise partnership
and is part of the ask of the county deal. The project is identified in the University of
Exeter’s ten year strategy.
As is the concept of an innovation hub in the city centre. In the context of both projects the
work of Exeter City Futures in building an enabling culture between key stakeholders with
a focus on innovation and net zero is central to the strategic ambitions of innovation and
creating a living lab demonstrating practical solutions to addressing climate challenges.
This is an area that members may want to consider as a subject for a future briefing.

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
REPORT TO STRATEGIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting:

29 September 2022

Report of:

Net Zero Exeter & City Management

Title:

Working Towards Net Zero - Exeter City Council’s Corporate Carbon
Footprint Report and Carbon Reduction Action Plan

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
No

1.

What is the report about?
1.1 To report on the work of the Net Zero Team, to both assess the Council’s potential
to achieve its commitment for its own corporate activities to be net zero by 2030 and to
deliver the first City Council Carbon Reduction Plan.
1.2 To share the City Council’s Corporate Carbon Footprint report, ‘Achieving Net Zero’.
A detailed bottom up analysis of the Council’s own corporate activities and associated
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The methodology undertaken in this study provides
significantly improved emissions data across the majority of the Council’s direct and
indirect activities, with a detailed assessment across these services.
1.3 A Corporate Carbon Reduction Plan is established to bring to the fore a mix of
potential actions set out in the Carbon Footprint, ranging from straightforward to far more
challenging, and potentially contentious solutions in one complete table. The measures
set out in the Carbon Reduction Plan are needed to drive forward action across all
services to work towards net zero.

2.

Recommendations:
2.1 That members note and debate the Corporate Carbon Footprint report, and
acknowledge the detailed analysis and improved data provided on previous year’s
reports, but also the challenge to improve data capture across the whole organisation.
The projections reinforce the measures required across all Council activities, and that
organisationally achieving Net Zero in such a short timeframe is extremely challenging.
2.2 That Members acknowledge the scale of the challenge set out in the Carbon
Footprint Report and combination of aggressive carbon reduction measures included in
the projections which will require a step change in Council policy, activity, and capacity.
2.3 That Members acknowledge the importance of the Carbon Reduction Plan, work
already in progress, and service wide commitment required to deliver net zero, with a
dedicated team to lead on activity. Equally, the need to undertake an annual assessment
of the Council’s GHG emissions to monitor, identify change and evaluate actions needed
to deliver net zero.

Page 25

2.4 That Members note to achieve net zero by 2030 will require an increase in capacity,
financial investment and operational resource, both internally and from government at a
national level. Whilst the carbon footprint provides accurate carbon reduction measures,
the precise amount of resource needed is currently unquantifiable. This will require a
detailed investment plan based on costed proposals.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1 Exeter City Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and as part of this
commitment, it aims to achieve net zero Green House Gas (GHG) emissions for its own
corporate actives by 2030. The target year is 20 years in advance of the 2050 national
net zero target required under the Climate Change Act and reported on in the Sixth
Carbon Budget.
3.2 In 2021 the Net Zero team commissioned a corporate carbon footprint baseline
report, which was undertaken and completed by the Centre for Energy and the
Environment, at the University of Exeter. The footprint is a detailed evaluation of the
Council’s emissions across seven sectors, and sets out a range of carbon reduction
measures, projections and offsetting options to deliver net zero.
3.4 Members have a clear understanding and appreciation of the Council’s GHG
emissions, changes needed within the Council and the resources, both financial and nonfinancial, needed to deliver net zero by 2030; and that current resources are an under
estimation for a timeframe as tight as 2030.
3.5 Members understand that Council decisions have an impact on net zero, such as
delivering other Council Corporate Priorities, including constructing new buildings
purchase of new assets and contract selection.

4.

What are the resource implications including non-financial resources
4.1 Achieving net zero, whether nationally, locally or organisationally, requires broad
action across all emission scopes and across every service. Reducing Council carbon
emissions will be very challenging in such a tight time frame and with the resources currently
available.
4.2 Further support will be required to enable the Net Zero Team to strategically plan the
required organisation change and investment budget needed to deliver activity across
services to support one of the main Council’s corporate priorities. Financial and non-financial
resources currently in place, were detailed in a report to Executive July 2022.
4.3 Investment and a clear policy change will be required to support the Council to achieve
net zero by 2030. Furthermore, capacity (financial and non-financial) to deliver the
measures set out across services in the Carbon Reduction Plan must be addressed with
some urgency.

5.

Section 151 Officer Comments:
5.1 The Section 151 Officer notes that additional resources will be required to deliver the
Policy by 2030. Any such request can only be considered and approved by Council.
Members are reminded that there is a need to reduce spend by £6.6 million over the life
of the medium term financial plan and any request for additional resources needs to be

Page 26

considered against this and further reductions will need to be identified in order to deliver
additional funding.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
6.1

7.

None identified.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
7.1 This report raises the need for additional resources. Any request for additional
resources must comply with the Council’s Organisation Change Policy.

8.

Carbon Baseline Report and Way Forward
8.1 Exeter City Council (ECC) declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and as part of
this commitment aims to achieving “net zero” greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions for its
own corporate activities by 2030. ECC commissioned the Centre for Energy and the
Environment (CEE) at the University of Exeter to assess the potential to achieve the
commitment.
8.2 The definition of “net zero” in this context includes all GHG emissions arising from
the Council’s direct activities (termed Scope 1 and 2) and from other indirect activities
including its supply chains (termed Scope 3), which together result in the Council’s gross
GHG emissions. Deducting the emissions mitigated through the export of low carbon
energy and land use change gives net GHG emissions. The aim is to achieve net GHG
emissions as close to zero as practicable by 2030. Remaining net emissions require the
purchase of carbon offsets. The objective is to achieve net zero with as little reliance on
offsets as is practicable.
8.3 The approach taken updated the Council’s carbon footprint from the assessment
made in 2018/19, and assess the potential to reduce these emissions across seven
sectors: non-domestic buildings, council-owned housing, transport, procurement, F gases
and waste, renewable energy and land use change / afforestation. The assessment of
carbon reduction potential in each sector includes:
appraisal of central government policy,
input from discussions with ECC service leads and other officers in relevant
departments and
consultation with key ECC documents and data sources.
8.4 The service assessments are desk based, as there was no scope for detailed site
visits or audits. However, the use of improved data and methodologies to develop a more
detailed evaluation of emissions for each sector feeds back into the updated footprint.
These changes inevitably lead to adjustments in the 2020/21 footprint when compared to
2018/19. As data collection across all Council service has been challenging, discussions
are ongoing with service and Net Zero Ambassadors to improve data collection. The Net
Zero Team have already began working with Ambassadors from every service, who will
also receive Carbon Literacy training along with elected members, senior and
organisational management, and relevant officers.
8.5 In 2020/21 GHG emissions totalled 52,551 t CO2e. The most significant change
from 2018/19 is a reported increase of over 500% in indirect GHG emissions. This is a

Page 27

result of improved data, methodologies that are more detailed and, most significantly,
changes in the activity levels. Indirect emissions are now twice direct emissions, which
have fallen a modest 4% over the two-year period (including the impact of Covid), onefifth of the rate needed to achieve net zero in 2050.
8.6 In 2020/21 GHG emissions for the Council totalled 52,551 t CO2e. The most
significant change from 2018/19 is a reported increase of over 500% in indirect GHG
emissions. This is a result of improved data, methodologies that are more detailed and,
most significantly, changes in the activity levels including the construction of the new St
Sidwells Point (see 8.10). Indirect emissions are now twice direct emissions which have
fallen a modest 4% over the two-year period (including the impact of Covid), one-fifth of
the rate needed to achieve net zero in 2050.

ECC’s GHG emissions by footprint reporting category for 2018/19 and 2020/21 showing
Scope 1 (blue) Scope 2 (red) and Scope 3 (green)

8.7 In 2020/21 the council’s non-domestic building stock emitted 2,236 t CO2e, the
Royal Albert Memorial Museum has the largest footprint. More generally, around 80% of
building emissions are associated with the council’s corporate estate and leisure centre
buildings. The expectation is that increase in building use post-Covid will see increasing
emissions in 2025. This is expected to be countered to some extent by grid
decarbonisation. Non-domestic building energy consumption is 40% electricity so this has
a significant impact on emissions. However, pre 2025 (including savings from energy
efficiency and PV) is insufficient to reduce emissions. Outside its effect on existing
electricity use, the grid emissions factor also plays a role in the next largest projected
emissions reduction post 2025; the switch from gas heating to heat pumps across the
estate. Energy efficiency makes a similar contribution. The projections also include some

Page 28

speculative changes in assets that reduce the estate footprint. By 2030 emissions are
projected to fall to 602 tCO2e, a 73% reduction from 2020/21.

Projected emissions from non-domestic buildings for ECC in 2020, 2025 and 2030
8.8 Emissions from the Council’s housing stock contributes a third of gross emissions
and is the sector with by far the most significant contribution to direct emissions (85%).
Extensive analysis of data from Energy Performance Certificates quantifies a range of
measures on existing council homes, which, despite emission increases from 1,000 new
homes, reduce the sector’s emissions from 17,319 t CO2e in 2020/21 to 1,916 t CO2e in
2030 (89%). Energy efficiency measures and rooftop PV contribute 5% and 3%
respectively, but post 2025 deep retrofit and heat pumps make up the bulk (70%) of the
savings. These expensive measures are required to make significant progress in the
housing sector.

Page 29

Estimated emissions from energy consumption in homes by end use in 2020.
8.9 A detailed bottom-up analysis of the Council’s transport, including previously
unidentified vehicles and equipment, shows emissions of 1,018 t CO2e in 2020/21. Of
these, 82% are from the Council’s fleet and 9% from red diesel (used in the maintenance
of public and green spaces). Reducing emissions relies on electrification across the
sector. The projections include an extension of the current enlightened initiative to replace
high emission waste trucks with electrically powered vehicles and the assumption that an
electric vehicle replaces every vehicle that leaves the fleet from now on. As a result, fleet
emissions in 2030 are 11% of current levels. Overall transport emission including those
over which the council has less control, e.g. staff commuting, are projected to fall to 331
t CO2e, a 68% reduction from 2020/21.

Projected transport emissions in 2020, 2025 and 2030

Page 30

8.10 Indirect emissions from the goods and services the Council bought in 2020/21 is the
largest source of emissions (61% or 32,380 t CO2e). Nearly half of these emissions are a
result of the St Sidwell’s Point development; construction, which is a very carbon
intensive activity, is responsible for 60% of 2020/21 emissions. Projections assume that
similar construction activity does not take place in 2030 although 100 new homes built
each year are included. The 2030 projection shows emissions reduced to 9,658 t CO2e,
largely due to a fall in embodied construction emissions. Indirect emissions from external
sources are inevitably those over which the Council has least control and, while it is
important to take steps to influence indirect emissions, this should not overly divert
attention from reducing direct emissions where the Council is in control.
8.11 Emissions from the Council’s own waste disposal and use of F gases are currently
small (21 t CO2e in 2020/21). However, this is the only service where projections show a
significant rise in emissions. 2030 emissions increase over tenfold to 252 t CO2e due to F
gas leakage resulting from the rollout of 5,500 heat pumps in homes and non-domestic
buildings. This new source of GHG emissions will need to be closely scrutinised.
8.12 Exported renewable energy and changes to land use through afforestation are
deducted from the Council’s gross emissions. Council non-domestic and domestic PV
generated an estimated 2,600 MW in 2020/21 exporting 1,800 MW that offset 423 t CO2e.
Projections show that expansion of the PV portfolio on non-domestic buildings, from
ground arrays and house rooftops has the potential to increase total generation to 15,200
MW with exports offsetting 756 t CO2e. Grid decarbonisation means that the offset GHG
emissions do not match the dramatic increase in generation, but own use PV generation
is deducted from electricity consumption (Scope 2 emissions). It should be noted that
added benefits of renewable energy generation at source provide energy security and
long term financial savings.

PV export generation and GHG offset (in MWh and t CO2e respectively on the same
scale)

Page 31

The planting of broadleaf trees over 25% of the Valley Parks and other greenspace
between now and 2030 offsets 829 t CO2e in 2030.

GHG offset from planting varying proportions of Valley Parks and greenspace with
broadleaf woodland
8.13 The combination of aggressive carbon reduction measures included in the
projections indicate the potential to reduce 2020/21 net emissions from 52,551 t CO2e to
11,174 t CO2e, a fall of 79%. Indirect emissions from procurement dominate the residual
2030 emissions (76%). Excluding procurement, residual emissions fall 92% from 20,171
t CO2e to 1,516 t CO2e with housing the largest remaining emitter (62%). Offset of these
2030 emissions through the purchase of Pending Issuance Units (PIU) for UK Woodland
Carbon Units, or alternatively, direct coniferous tree planting between now and 2030 of
941 ha or 128 ha respectively achieves these offsets.

Page 32

Projected emission for all sectors for 2020, 2025 and 2030
8.14 Scope 3 procurement and housing emission dominate. Procurement of goods and
services, the sector the council perhaps has least control over, accounts for 61% of
emissions in 2020 rising to 76% in 2030. Housing currently contributes a third of
emissions although its share falls to 15% in 2030 due to the implementation of extensive
carbon reduction measures across the stock. The dominance of these sectors must not
distract attention from the emissions in other sectors where the Council has the ability to
make progress.
8.15 Achieving net zero, whether nationally, locally, or organisationally requires broad
action across all sectors. The projections for the Council reinforce this message and
demonstrate enormous opportunity to make significant GHG emission savings.
8.16 There have been considerable challenges in collecting baseline data from services
across the Council, to develop the Council’s Carbon Reduction Report. There are some
services that haven’t been able to provide data to date, this will be a priority going
forward, to ensure we have comprehensive data.
8.17 The City Council’s carbon footprint report, supporting carbon reduction plan and risk
register, will inform the work programme of the Net Zero team for the foreseeable future.
This will also be the case for individual Council services.
8.18 The annual assessment of the council’s GHG emissions will enable the evaluation
and updating of the Carbon Reduction Plan and actions required to deliver net zero. This
will be reported to Strategic Scrutiny every six months along with the Risk Register, the
next update being March 2023

Page 33

8.19 A number of officers from the Net Zero Team work with the Devon Climate
Emergency team in collaborating on projects to reduce Council carbon emissions, and in
the delivery of the Devon Carbon Plan.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
9.1 This report and the work of the Net Zero team links directly to the Exeter Vision and
a number of corporate priorities. Work will have to be delivered in partnership with all City
Council service areas to reduce our carbon emissions.
Exeter
Vision

Innovative & Analytical
City
Healthy & Inclusive
The Most active city in
the UK
Accessible world class
educations
Liveable & connected

Corporate
Plan

A leading sustainable
city
Delivering Net Zero
Exeter 2030
Providing value for
money services
Building Great
Neighbourhoods

Promoting active &
healthy lifestyles

The team has developed a range of data
sets to monitor City Council carbon
emissions
Ensure City Council owned homes are
energy efficient
Projects are developed to support active
travel for employees
N/A
Commercial and residential properties are
energy efficient and built to the best
possible standard
The City Council is a role model for other
organisations in Exeter
Net Zero team focuses on reducing City
Council carbon emissions to deliver Net
Zero by 2030.
Carbon reducing actions will be
commercially viable and will reduce service
delivery costs
Working with Building Greater Exeter,
Liveable Exeter, Exeter City Living and
other developers in developing sustainable
and accessible neighbourhoods and new
homes, using sustainable constructions
methods
Working in partnership with Live & Move in
developing sustainable travel options and
low traffic neighbourhoods for staff active
travel

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
10.1 The development of the Council’s carbon footprint report, supporting action plan
and supporting risk register will inform the work programme of the Net Zero team and that
of other services for the foreseeable future. The action plan and risk register will be
presented to Strategic Scrutiny every six months for ongoing monitoring and evaluation.
If this stream of work is not supported, the Council will not deliver net zero by 2030.
10.2 Ownership, understanding and a lack of some emissions data is being addressed
by the Net Zero Team, with initiatives undertaken such as the Net Zero Ambassadors and
Carbon Literacy Training Programme, as listed in the Carbon Reduction Plan.

Page 34

10.3 The financial cost to deliver net zero within the Council will be significant. This
report provides a detailed carbon reduction projections, and measures that can be taken
to deliver those projections. The team is unable to provide accurate financial costs for the
measures needed, this will require investment plans and accurate cost proposals to be
included in the work going forward.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 In delivering the action plan, the Net Zero team will take into account the potential
impact of actions in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and
Travellers), sex and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation,
pregnant women and new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership
status in coming to a decision. A separate EQIA will be developed for each action being
developed.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
12.1 The City Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and as part of this
commitment, it aims to achieve net zero emissions for its corporate activities by 2030.
The Carbon Reduction Plan provides a clear roadmap of actions to reduce Council GHG
emissions.
12.2 The Net Zero Risk Register will consider the carbon reduction measures required to
achieve net zero.

13. Are there any other options?
13.1 There is the option of not committing financial and non-financial resources to work
towards Net Zero within the Council. This would result in a lack of co-ordination, strategic
direction and delivery in reducing our carbon emissions and to realise the Council’s Net
Zero 2030 target. On a regular basis, the Net Zero team are sourcing and applying for
external funding to support the delivery of the Council’s own carbon reduction plan,
working with services to identify capacity and match funding within the Council.
Director Net Zero & City Management, David Bartram
Author: Net Zero Project Manager

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:Executive, July 2022
Exeter City Council Corporate Carbon Footprint, Achieving Net Zero by 2030
Carbon Reduction Plan 2022-2030
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Exeter City Council corporate carbon footprint
Achieving net zero by 2030

Page 37

Author(s): D Lash, TA Mitchell, ADS Norton, A Rowson
Report Number: ID 1005
Publication Date: May 2022
Revision number
First draft
Draft updated in response to comments
Updated land area for afforestation

Initial
DL/ADSN/AR
ADSN
ADSN

Date
07/03/2022
08/04/2022
10/05/2022

CENTRE FOR ENERGY AND THE ENVIRONMENT
University of Exeter
Hope Hall
Prince of Wales Road
Exeter, EX4 4PL
+44(0)1392 724143/4/5
www.exeter.ac.uk/cee

Cover image:
Exeter Livestock Centre PV array

Page 38

Management Summary
Exeter City Council (ECC) declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and as part of this commitment aims to achieving “net
zero” greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions for its own corporate activities by 2030. ECC commissioned the Centre for Energy
and the Environment (CEE) at the University of Exeter to assess the potential to achieve the commitment.
The definition of “net zero” in this context includes all GHG emissions arising from ECC’s direct and indirect activities
including its supply chains, which together result in the Council’s gross GHG emissions. Deducting the emissions
mitigated through the export of renewable energy and land use change gives its net GHG emissions. The aim is to
achieve net emissions as close to zero as practicable by 2030. The remaining net emissions require purchase of carbon
offsets. The objective is to achieve net zero with as little reliance on offsets as is practicable.
In 2020/21 GHG emissions totalled 52,551 t CO2e. The most significant change from 2018/19 is a reported increase of
over 500% in indirect GHG emissions. This is a result of improved data, methodologies that are more detailed and, most
significantly, changes in the activity levels. Indirect emissions are now twice direct emissions, which have fallen a modest
4% over the two-year period (including the impact of Covid), one-fifth of the rate needed to achieve net zero in 2050.
The assessment uses seven emissions sectors: non-domestic buildings, council-owned housing, transport, procurement,
F gases and waste, renewable energy, and land use change / afforestation. The assessment of each sector provides a
number of potential measures to reduce emissions ranging from straightforward energy efficiency to far more
challenging and potentially contentious solutions. It is important to note that these are not a pre-determined trajectory,
but a combination of aggressive carbon reduction measures across all sectors that provide a set of options to pursue
the net zero ambition.
In 2020/21 the council’s non-domestic building stock emitted 2,236 t CO2e. The Royal Albert Memorial Museum has the
largest footprint. More generally, around 80% of building emissions are associated with the council’s corporate estate
and leisure centre buildings. The expectation is that increase in building use post-Covid will see increasing emissions in
2025. This is expected to be countered to some extent by grid decarbonisation. Non-domestic building energy
consumption is 40% electricity so this has a significant impact on emissions. However, pre 2025 (including savings from
energy efficiency and PV) is insufficient to reduce emissions. Outside its effect on existing electricity use, the grid
emissions factor also plays a role in the next largest projected emissions reduction post 2025; the switch from gas
heating to heat pumps across the estate. Energy efficiency makes a similar contribution. The projections also include
some speculative changes in assets that reduce the estate footprint. By 2030 emissions are projected to fall to 602
tCO2e, a 73% reduction from 2020/21.
Emissions from the council’s housing contributes a third of gross emissions and is the sector with by far the most
significant contribution to direct emissions (85%). Extensive analysis of data from Energy Performance Certificates
quantifies a range of measures on existing council homes, which, despite emission increases from 1,000 new homes,
reduce the sector’s emissions from 17,319 t CO2e in 2020/21 to 1,916 t CO2e in 2030 (89%). Energy efficiency measures
and rooftop PV contribute 5% and 3% respectively, but post 2025 deep retrofit and heat pumps make up the bulk (70%)
of the savings. These expensive measures are required to make significant progress in the housing sector.
A detailed bottom-up analysis of the council’s transport, including previously unidentified vehicles and equipment,
shows emissions of 1,018 t CO2e in 2020/21. Of these, 82% are from ECC’s fleet and 9% from red diesel (used in the
maintenance of public and green spaces). Reducing emissions relies on electrification across the sector. The projections
include an extension of the current enlightened initiative to replace high emission waste trucks with electrically powered
vehicles and the assumption that an electric vehicle replaces every vehicle that leaves the fleet from now on. As a result,
fleet emissions in 2030 are 11% of current levels. Overall transport emission including those over which the council has
less control, e.g. staff commuting, are projected to fall to 331 t CO2e, a 68% reduction from 2020/21.
Indirect emissions from the goods and services ECC bought in 2020/21 is the largest source of emissions (61% or 32,380
t CO2e). Nearly half of these emissions are a result of the St Sidwell’s point development; construction, which is a very

Page 39

carbon intensive activity, is responsible for 60% of 2020/21 emissions. Projections assume that similar construction
activity does not take place in 2030 although 100 new homes built each year are included. The 2030 projection shows
emissions reduced to 9,658 t CO2e, largely due to a fall in embodied construction emissions. Indirect emissions from
external sources are inevitably those over which ECC has least control and, while it is important to take steps to influence
indirect emissions, this should not overly divert attention from reducing direct emissions where the Council is in control.
Emissions from ECC’s own waste disposal and use of F gases are currently small (21 t CO2e in 2020/21). However, this
is the only sector where projections show a significant rise in emissions. 2030 emissions increase over tenfold to 252
t CO2e due to F gas leakage resulting from the rollout of 5,500 heat pumps in homes and non-domestic buildings. This
new source of GHG emissions will need to be closely scrutinised.
Exported renewable energy and changes to land use through afforestation are deducted from ECC’s gross emissions.
ECC’s non-domestic and domestic PV generated an estimated 2,600 MW in 2020/21 exporting 1,800 MW that offset
423 t CO2e. Projections show that expansion of the PV portfolio on non-domestic buildings, from ground arrays and
house rooftops has the potential to increase total generation to 15,200 MW with exports offsetting 756 t CO2e. Grid
decarbonisation means that the offset GHG emissions do not match the dramatic increase in generation. The planting
of broadleaf trees over 25% of the Valley Parks and other greenspace between now and 2030 offsets 829 t CO2e in
2030.
Achieving net zero—whether nationally, locally, or organisationally—requires broad action across all sectors. The
projections for ECC reinforce this message and show that delivering net zero in a timeframe as tight as 2030 is
challenging.
The combination of aggressive carbon reduction measures included in the projections indicate the potential to reduce
2020/21 net emissions from 52,551 t CO2e to 11,174 t CO2e, a fall of 79%. Indirect emissions from procurement
dominate the residual 2030 emissions (76%). Excluding procurement, residual emissions fall 92% from 20,171 t CO2e to
1,516 t CO2e with housing the largest remaining emitter (62%). Offset of these 2030 emissions through the purchase of
Pending Issuance Units (PIU) for UK Woodland Carbon Units, assuming an average cost of £13.5 t CO2e, would cost
£151k and £20k respectively. Alternatively, based on the land use change analysis in Section 9, direct coniferous tree
planting between now and 2030 of 941 ha or 128 ha respectively achieves these offsets.
Annual assessment of the council’s GHG emissions to identify the changes that have taken place each year will enable
the evaluation and updating of the actions required to deliver net zero.

Page 40

Contents
1

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................................ 1

2

ECC’s current carbon footprint ......................................................................................................................................... 2

3

Non-domestic buildings ..................................................................................................................................................... 5
3.1

Detailed sector summary .......................................................................................................................................... 5

3.2

National policy framework ........................................................................................................................................ 8

3.3

Opportunities ............................................................................................................................................................. 8
Decarbonisation of electricity .......................................................................................................................... 8
Change in assets (speculative).......................................................................................................................... 9
Efficiency and demand reduction .................................................................................................................... 9
Decarbonising heat ......................................................................................................................................... 12
Renewable energy ........................................................................................................................................... 13

3.4
4

Target for 2030 ........................................................................................................................................................ 13

Housing ............................................................................................................................................................................. 15
4.1

Detailed sector summary ........................................................................................................................................ 15
Data acquisition and processing .................................................................................................................... 15
Energy and emissions in 2020........................................................................................................................ 16

4.2

National policy framework ..................................................................................................................................... 19

4.3

Opportunities ........................................................................................................................................................... 21
New Passivhaus dwellings .............................................................................................................................. 22
Loft and cavity wall insulation ....................................................................................................................... 22
Improvements in energy efficiency ............................................................................................................... 23
Further deployment of solar photovoltaic panels ....................................................................................... 23
Grid decarbonisation ...................................................................................................................................... 23
Solid wall insulation ........................................................................................................................................ 24
Replacing fossil fuelled heating with air source heat pumps ..................................................................... 24
Deep retrofit and other energy saving .......................................................................................................... 24
Final deployment of solar photovoltaic panels ............................................................................................ 25
Further improvements in energy efficiency and grid decarbonisation ..................................................... 25

4.4
5

Target for 2030 ........................................................................................................................................................ 25

Transport........................................................................................................................................................................... 27
5.1

Detailed sector summary ........................................................................................................................................ 27
Direct emission from transport ...................................................................................................................... 27
Indirect emissions from transport.................................................................................................................. 27

5.2

National policy framework ...................................................................................................................................... 28

5.3

Opportunities ........................................................................................................................................................... 28
ECC Fleet .......................................................................................................................................................... 28

Page 41

Other direct transport ..................................................................................................................................... 29
Indirect transport ............................................................................................................................................ 30
5.4
6

Target for 2030 ........................................................................................................................................................ 30

Procurement ..................................................................................................................................................................... 33
6.1

Detailed sector summary ........................................................................................................................................ 33

6.2

National policy framework ...................................................................................................................................... 35

6.3

Opportunities ........................................................................................................................................................... 35
Improve data capture...................................................................................................................................... 35
Consider the need for new buildings ............................................................................................................. 35
Follow circular economy principles ................................................................................................................ 36

6.4
7

Target for 2030 ........................................................................................................................................................ 38

F gas and waste ................................................................................................................................................................ 39
7.1

Detailed sector summary ........................................................................................................................................ 39

7.2

National policy framework ...................................................................................................................................... 40

7.3

Opportunities ........................................................................................................................................................... 40

7.4

Target for 2030 ........................................................................................................................................................ 41

8

Renewable energy ............................................................................................................................................................ 42
8.1

Detailed sector summary ........................................................................................................................................ 42

8.2

National policy framework ...................................................................................................................................... 42

8.3

Opportunities ........................................................................................................................................................... 43
Non-domestic PV ............................................................................................................................................. 43
Domestic PV ..................................................................................................................................................... 44
PV summary ..................................................................................................................................................... 46

8.4
9

Target for 2030 ........................................................................................................................................................ 47

Land use change - afforestation ...................................................................................................................................... 48
9.1

Detailed sector summary ........................................................................................................................................ 48

9.2

National policy framework ...................................................................................................................................... 49

9.3

Opportunities ........................................................................................................................................................... 49

9.4

Target for 2030 ........................................................................................................................................................ 50

10

All sectors...................................................................................................................................................................... 51

11

Conclusions ................................................................................................................................................................... 53

Appendix 1: Scope 2 (purchased electricity) GHG accounting methods .............................................................................. 54
Appendix 2: Exeter City Council GHG emissions by scope in tonnes CO 2e .......................................................................... 55
Appendix 3: Purchase of carbon offsets ................................................................................................................................. 56
References ................................................................................................................................................................................. 58

Page 42

1 Introduction
Exeter City Council (ECC) declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and as part of this commitment aims to achieve “net
zero” greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions for its own corporate activities by 2030. The Centre for Energy and the
Environment (CEE) at the University of Exeter was commissioned by ECC to assess the potential to achieve this
commitment.
The definition of “net zero” in this context includes all GHG emissions arising from ECC’s direct activities (termed Scope
1 and 2) and from other indirect activities including its supply chains (termed Scope 3), which together result in the
Council’s gross GHG emissions. Deducting the emissions mitigated through the export of low carbon energy and land
use change gives net GHG emissions. The aim is to achieve net GHG emissions as close to zero as practicable by 2030.
Remaining net emissions require the purchase of carbon offsets. The objective is to achieve net zero with as little
reliance on offsets as is practicable.
The approach taken is to update ECC’s carbon footprint from the assessment made in 2018/19 (Section 2), and assess
the potential to reduce these emissions across seven sectors: non-domestic buildings, council-owned housing,
transport, procurement, F gases and waste, renewable energy and land use change / afforestation (Sections 3 to 9).
The assessment of carbon reduction potential in each sector includes:




appraisal of central government policy,
input from discussions with ECC service leads and other officers in relevant departments and
consultation with key ECC documents and data sources.

The sector assessments are desk based, as there was no scope for detailed site visits or audits. However, the use of
improved data and methodologies to develop a more detailed evaluation of emissions for each sector feeds back into
the updated footprint. These changes inevitably lead to adjustments in the 2020/21 footprint when compared to
2018/19.
Each sector assessment provides a number of potential measures to reduce emissions ranging from straightforward
energy efficiency to far more challenging and potentially contentious solutions. It is important to note that these are
not a pre-determined trajectory, but a combination of highly aggressive carbon reduction measures across all sectors
that provide a set of options to pursue the net zero ambition.

1
Page
43

2 ECC’s current carbon footprint
ECC’s carbon footprint for the most recent financial year (1 st April 2020 to 31st March 2021) follows the same approach
as the 2018/19 footprinta. The footprint is prepared in accordance with Chapter 3 of HM Government 2019,
Environmental Reporting Guidelines1 with a financial control approach taken to organisational boundaries. The
guidelines require the classification of GHG emissions into three groups or Scopes:
Scope 1 (direct emissions from owned sources), including combustion of fuel in boilers in council owned
buildings for heating and hot water, refrigerant leaks from council equipment and fuel in council vehicles.
Scope 2 (indirect emissions from generation of purchased electricity) which covers all electricity use across the
council’s services
Scope 3 (other indirect) including GHG emissions embodied in all material and services bought by the council,
business travel, grey fleet use and commuting, waste disposal, etc..
Calculations generally involve combining activity data with emission factors 2 to estimate emissions across a range of
categories. Activity data includes specific information from each category considered, for example the amount of energy
used in a building, or fuel used in a vehicle. It is vital that this data is collected to accurately assess the carbon footprint
initially, and to track progress over time. In some cases, the availability of data is good but in others, there is scope to
improve data collection processes to align with the objective of measuring and reducing GHG emissions.
The footprint categories are derived from simplified Government guidance (based on the old National Indicator 1853)
that result in 11 categories across the three scopes. In many cases specific issues are split across multiple categories
e.g. “transport” sits within “owned transport” (for the combustion of fuel in vehicles owned by ECC), “purchased
materials and fuel” (for Well to Tank [WTT]) emissions, and “transport related activities” (for commuting and travel in
vehicles not owned by ECC).
The calculation of emissions from ECC’s Scope 2 electricity consumption uses the published carbon intensity of the
national electricity grid b. The carbon intensity of the grid has declined significantly in recent years. The Climate Change
Committee (CCC) forecasts that significant falls in grid intensity will continue as increasing amounts of renewable and
low carbon energy comes onto the system (See Figure 1)4.

Figure 1: UK electricity grid carbon intensity (source CCC Sixth Carbon Budget)

a
b

A footprint was not formally produced for 2019/20 due to disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic
For a discussion of alternative Scope 2 GHG accounting methods see Appendix 1.

Page2 44

For 2020/21, total emissions are 52,551 t CO2e. Figure 2, which uses the categories in the guidancec, shows 2020/21
compared to the 2018/19 footprint.

Figure 2: ECC’s GHG emissions by footprint reporting category for 2018/19 and 2020/21 showing Scope 1 (blue) Scope
2 (red) and Scope 3 (green)
The most significant change from 2018/19 is a 517% increase in Scope 3 emissions. This is a result of improved data,
more detailed methodologies and, most significantly, changes in the activity levels describes in later sections. Scope 3
emissions are now double those from Scopes 1 and 2, which have fallen a modest, and partly Covid driven, 4% over the
two-year period.
To provide more clarity, the 11 categories included in the footprint table (see Appendix 2) were re-mapped into 6 sector
categories for this report. Figure 3 shows the breakdown of emissions by footprint category and report sector category.
The sections following discuss details of emissions within each sector category, with the addition of a land use change
and afforestation sector that projects future emissions offset by tree planning in the Valley Parks and other greenspace.

c

The guidance “leased assets/franchising/outsourcing” category is in ECC’s case populated with the embodied GHG emissions in
procured services
3
Page
45

Figure 3: ECC’s footprint in 2020/21 organised by category as annually reported (left), and by category as considered in
this report (right)

Page4 46

3 Non-domestic buildings
3.1 Detailed sector summary
The 2020/21 footprint shows GHG emissions of 2,236 t CO2e from non-domestic buildings, of which 60% are associated
with electricity consumption, and 40% from gas.
There are 424 sites/assets included in the footprint, ranging from very large buildings to small individual landlord
supplies in tenanted areas. Emissions are classified into nine categories, as shown in Figure 4.
Historic fabric and demanding climatic requirements mean that the Royal Albert Memorial Museum (RAMM) has the
largest GHG emissions. More generally, around 80% of all emissions are associated with the council’s buildings
(corporate estate) and leisure centres. These two categories of buildings are also characterised by being users of gas (as
shown in Figure 5). In general, there is good quality energy consumption data from non-domestic buildings that should
support annual monitoring of progress.

Figure 4: Breakdown of GHG emissions from non-domestic buildings by category

5
Page
47

Figure 5: Split of GHG emissions by category for electricity and gas (left) and total split (right). Gas is only significant in
the corporate estate and leisure centre categories

Figure 6: GHG emissions from the previous three years from electricity (left) and gas (right). The reduced emissions in
2020/21 are a result of the Covid pandemic and are not likely to be representative going forward.
A review of energy data from the previous three years (see Figure 6) shows that the 2020/21 data (which runs from
April to March) was heavily influenced by Covid (many buildings were closed for periods during the year). In any year,
external temperature affect the amount of energy used to heat buildings. Finally, between now and 2030 ECC will
occupy new buildings, and dispose of others in their portfolio. Accounting for these factors is important in planning for
the 2030 net zero target. The 2020/21 footprint was adjusted as follows:

Page6 48






Covid impact: Buildings and sites were reviewed on an individual basis, and energy demand reverted to the
2019/20 level where it appeared Covid was a likely factor in a decline in demand.
Temperature effect: From analysis of the previous 14 years of regional external temperature data using degree
day theory5 it was found that 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21 were all warmer than the average over the period
by 8%, 7% and 2% respectively. It has been assumed that 80% of gas consumption (used for space heating) is
dependent on the external temperature (the balance is assumed to be used for other uses such as hot water)
and energy demand was adjusted (increased) to account to a “typical” year.
Change in assets: There is uncertainty regarding which buildings may be disposed of by 2030, and what new
buildings might become incorporated into ECC’s portfolio (either constructed from new, or purchased). There
are however several projects where there is more certainty, and these were included in adjustments to the
most recent footprintd.
o The opening of the St Sidwell’s Point swimming pool, at which point Pyramids will be closed and
redeveloped outside ECC’s footprint.
o A number of infrastructure projects committed to in ECC’s Capital Programme, mainly multi-storey car
parks.
o The full reopening of the Riverside Leisure Centre in Summer 2021 will mean that energy consumption
will be higher than the previous 3 years, so an estimate was made based on the most recent few months
of energy data.
o More uncertain changes (i.e. where there is no policy or commitment in place) to ECC’s non-domestic
estate are discussed in Section 3.3.

These adjustments result in an overall increase in emissions from 2,236 t CO2e to 3,461 t CO2e (a 55% increase). Figure
7 shows the incremental changes; the reopening of buildings to normal capacity is estimated to be responsible for a
957 t CO2e increase (43%); adjusting for a year with normal (i.e. slightly cooler) weather a further 94 t CO2e (3%); and
the change in assets, an increase of 174 t CO2ee.

Figure 7: Changes to 2020/21 emissions resulting from Covid bounceback, the temperature effect, and known change
in assets and occupancy levels
d

The closure of the Belle Isle depot and consolidation of those services at the Exton Road depot is assumed to have a very marginal
effect on building emissions and so was not included.
e
There is a 455 t CO2e decrease from selling Pyramids which is more than offset by the added 294 t CO2e from St Sidwell’s Point
and the increase of 335 t CO2e from the full reopening of the Riverside Leisure Centre.
7
Page
49

3.2 National policy framework
The high-level assumptions and projections for non-domestic buildings at a national level are as follows:







The decarbonisation of the electricity grid will reduce emissions from consumption of electricity in nondomestic buildings.
The CCC Net Zero Technical Report6 assumes a 25% reduction in heat demand in non-domestic buildings by
2050, though clarity was not given as to how this might occur. The remaining heat decarbonises using low
carbon heat networks (46% of the demand) and heat pumps (the remaining 54%). It also assumes the
electrification of non-heat uses of gas and oil (e.g. catering), and a 21% reduction in electricity demand from
non-heat uses (e.g. lighting) due to energy efficiency.
The CCC Sixth Carbon Budget7 report assumes a 26% reduction in energy consumption in 2030 compared to
the CCC’s 2018 baseline (based on the application of findings from the Building Energy Efficiency Survey (BEES)
study). The CCC applied several measures (building controls, fabric, carbon and energy management, lighting,
refrigeration, swimming pools, heating, and hot water) across non-domestic buildings in different sectors whilst
excluding other more expensive measures (humidification, small appliances, ventilation, air conditioning and
cooling, and building services distribution systems) and those associated with replacement of heat sources.
These were handled separately by assuming that non-domestic buildings are switched from gas and oil heating
(where applicable) to a mix of heat pumps (65% in 2050), district heating (32%), hydrogen boilers (5%) and
direct electric heating (1%). The CCC has not included biomass boilers as a replacement technology for public
or commercial buildings “as a matter of principle”. Nationally, the CCC project non-traded (i.e. direct) emissions
from non-domestic buildings will fall from 20.4 Mt CO2e in 2020 to 13.8 Mt CO2e in 2030 (a 33% reduction)
through a combination of energy efficiency and fuel switching, though some of this will be shifted to traded
emissions (i.e. electricity).
The CCC 2021 Progress Report8 states for non-residential energy efficiency and behaviour change that
“commitments of 20% efficiency savings in business and 50% reduction of public emissions by 2032 are in line
with the CCC pathway. Policy proposals only cover private-rented and larger buildings to date and there is little
evidence for reduced energy demand at present”.

3.3 Opportunities
The factors and opportunities identified for decarbonising non-domestic buildings are as follows.

Decarbonisation of electricity
National policy projections decrease the carbon intensity of electricity delivered through the grid. The consumption of
electricity by ECC is included in the footprint under both Scope 2 (from the generation of electricity in power stations,
wind farms etc.) and Scope 3 (from losses associated with Transmission and Distribution [T&D] and the Well to Tank
[WTT] overhead applied to both Scope 2 and T&D emission factors). In 2020 the Scope 2 electricity factor used in the
footprint was 0.233 kg CO2e/kWh. The emission factors produced by government for company reporting lag the actual
values by 2 years and so in 2030 (the 2030/31 footprint), the actual 2028 emission factor will apply when ECC report
their carbon footprint. The CCC 6th Carbon budget projects this to be 0.065 kg CO2e/kWh (a 72% reduction on the
current value). Projections for T&D and WTT emission factors are not published. Analysis of the most recent four years
of emission factors show that the T&D factor has fallen by a similar amount to the generation factor and, while the WTT
factors have been falling at a similar rate until 2021, they increased significantly this year due to a method change
applied by government. The approach taken here (in all sectors) has been to assume the ratio of WTT emissions to
direct emissions from the most recent year is the same in 2030, and therefore the total Scope 2 and 3 emission factor
for electricity would be 0.089 kg CO2e/kWh (down from 0.288 kg CO2e/kWh). This effectively means under a “do
nothing” approach for ECC, emissions from any electricity consumption will fall by 71% between the most recent year
of data and 2030.
The installation of renewable generation (e.g. PV panels) which produces electricity that is consumed on site provides
carbon free operational energy and financial savings from the date it is commissioned. Grid decarbonisation means that

Page8 50

early installation leads to the greater carbon savings. However, in the long term, the improvement in the grid emission
factor reduces the potential for renewable generation to offset gross emissionsf. In conversation with BEIS, an
alternative (and more conservative) approach could be to keep Scope 3 electricity emission factors constant at the most
recent values (2021). This results in a total 2030 emission factor of 0.144 kg CO2e/kWh, (a 50% reduction on the 2020/21
total emission factor), which is 62% higher than the value assumed, and a 50% reduction on the 2020/21 footprint.

Change in assets (speculative)
The period to 2030 extends beyond the currently planned five-year capital programme. Changes to ECC’s corporate
estate in 2030 are therefore unknown. Nonetheless, adding or removing buildings from the estate can potentially have
large positive and negative impacts on the overall carbon footprint.
Changes can include the sale of buildings to other users or demolition construction of new facilities on sites that may
or may not have similar uses to that previously. Service needs and detailed financial assessments (including reductions
in the energy and maintenance costs of older buildings) will drive such changes with GHG impacts an important but
secondary consideration. Energy efficient new builds will generally have lower operational emissions. However, the
assessment of the GHG impact should account for the lifetime emissions of each project. Lifetime assessments can show
that refurbishment and/or reuse can be lower carbon outcome than new build.
The approach taken is to highlight the potential impact of changes to various buildings in the estate, for demonstration
purposes. These examples are not an endorsement or recommendation, and each case outcomes will depend on many
factors that extend beyond the carbon impact. The buildings considered are as follows:







In conjunction with potential development at CityPoint, sell the Civic Centre for development by others and
build a smaller facility near to the bus station. Assumptions in this scenario are that the new building will be
25% of the floor area of the Civic Centre g, achieve a top 10% benchmark performance for electricity and “nonelectrical energy” and that it will meet heat demand using an ASHP.
The removal of the Northbrook Pool from the estate.
Renovation and extension of the Wonford Leisure Centre. The assumption is that after demolition of the existing
building, the replacement building has a floor area schedule that achieves a top 10% benchmark performance
for electricity and “non-electrical energy” and meets heat demand using an ASHP.
The addition of new landlord areas in a shopping centre.

The Liveable Exeter project is not included.

Efficiency and demand reduction
Greenhouse gas emissions from ECC’s buildings can be reduced by using less energy in those buildings, either by
reducing the demand for energy (for example by improving insulation) and/or by delivering that energy in a more
efficient way (for example with more efficient systems and controls). Section 3.1 shows that currently emissions arise
from buildings across a range of services, with the corporate estate and leisure centres being the most significant. Within
these services, a relatively small number of large buildings dominate. The RAMM, Civic Centre, Riverside, Northbrook
Pool and ISCA centre make up almost two-thirds of non-domestic building GHG emissions. It is worth noting that the
two largest emitters of GHG (Riverside and RAMM) have recently undergone general refurbishment works.

f

For renewable energy generation it is assumed that only the Scope 2 factor is applied, as it is assumed T&D is accounted for by the
final users of any grid electricity, and renewable energy has no associate WTT emissions. Associated embodied emissions impact
emissions through Procurement.
g
The Covid pandemic has resulted in significant changes to working patterns, including home working. The majority of ECC jobs are
service based e.g., at depots, and so the potential for home working is limited. The most relevant site where home working is a
consideration is the Civic Centre, and it is assumed that the impact of home working is included in any potential sale of the building,
and provision of a smaller one in its place.

9
Page
51

Estimating the potential for carbon reduction from the estate requires individual investment-grade audits of each
building, to identify potential savings and to establish whether energy savings meet a business test. Resource was not
available to survey individual buildings as part of this study. The approach taken examined the currently available data
about the building stock, together with other reference documents, to make high-level estimates of the potential that
might be available to reduce energy consumption from the estate. The data includes:









A spreadsheet produced by ECC identifying potential opportunities at each buildingh.
A Schedule of Condition and Estimated Costs for Exeter City Council Leisure Estate i, which highlighted that that
most boilers, pumps, hot water and Air Handling Units (AHUs) are due to be replaced in the next 3-5 years and
that all lighting would need replacing within 10 years.
Previous work by the University of Exeter 9 looking at the potential for energy reduction at ECC’s leisure centres.
Discussions with key ECC staff about the potential at various sites j.
ECC’s Capital Programme Schedule. The schedule breaks down ECC’s planned capital expenditure for the next
5 years (average £7.5 million per year) by:
o Condition survey backlog (approximately £5 million total): This is investment for a backlog of
construction costs for identified buildings to reach Condition B (Satisfactory: Performing as intended
but exhibiting minor deterioration) though not explicitly connected to improving energy efficiency.
o Corporate property maintenance requirements (approximately £22 million total): As with the backlog
list, this is to enable identified buildings to reach Condition B. The majority of the spend is for structural
repairs and improvements to multi-storey car parks (£18.5 million) which would not necessarily impact
operational energy consumption, though would result in emissions from construction works (covered
in Section 6). There are also planned roof replacements for the Guildhall (£614k), RAMM (£989k), Civic
Centre Phase 3 (£230k) and a package of measures including heating system replacement at Brandninch
Place (£242k). For all of these, Part L2B of the Building Regulations requires an improvement in energy
performance.
o Engineering maintenance requirements (approximately £11 million total): This spend is almost entirely
on infrastructure projects which would not impact operational energy consumption, though as with the
car park works could impact embodied carbon emissions.
The Building Energy Efficiency Survey (BEES)10 [7], which is referred to extensively by the CCC in its general
analysis of the sector. This provides breakdowns of energy consumption and total abatement opportunities
across various end uses for different sectors in the UK.

The data above enabled the formulation of an indicative programme of energy efficiency and demand reduction
interventions with the following key assumptions:



Improvements to space heating and hot water systems (see Section 3.3.4 - decarbonising heat).
Improvements to the RAMM. The RAMM is one of ECC’s highest emitting buildings; it reopened after an
extensive refurbishment in 2011. A breakdown of end use energy is not available, though the majority is likely
to be for space conditioning and lighting. Due to its complexity, the building ideally needs a full decarbonisation
survey to identify the changes needed. For this analysis, the following is assumed:
o No change to the external fabric (walls and glazing) due to the age and historic nature of the building.
o There is an existing application to the Arts Council for works on the roof (102,566 kWh gas saving),
upgrade of halogen lighting to LED (58,333 kWh electricity saving), and for 20 kW of solar PV. These
measures are implemented prior to 2025.
o The spaces housing the temporary exhibitions are controlled to very tight temperature and humidity
levels (19oC +/-0.5, 50-55% humidity; a requirement to display items from important lenders). A

h

“Renewable Plan.xlsx” provided by Paul Wotton 16th November 2021
September 2021, Randall Simmonds
j
Including Jo Pearce, Paul Wotton and Mike Carson for the estate in general terms, Tim Webb and Darren Summers regarding the
Leisure Centres, and Alison Hopper Bishop regarding the RAMM.
i

Page10 52







speculative option is included loosening environmental control (to 40 to 60% humidity) with estimated
savings based on CIBSE Guide F energy intensity values and these spaces occupying 17% of the building
floor area. This would only be possible with the wider support of the sector, or from changes in
approach to curation. This results in an 18% reduction in electricity consumption and a 12% reduction
in gas consumption.
o Other permanent gallery spaces (with open objects on display) have temperature control at 20.5oC
+/-2.5 and relative humidity at 48-60%. Here the speculative option is a reduction to 35-65% with an
accompanying overall 2% and 5% reduction in building electricity and gas consumption.
o Replacement of the AHU resulting in generic savings identified from the BEES study.
Improvements to the Leisure Centres (Riverside, ISCA Centre, Exeter Arena):
o Fabric improvements are assumed to have the potential for energy saving based on the BEES study,
which for the sector, averages an 8% reduction in building gas consumption (or 10% where a pool is
present). Implemented post-2025.
o Improvements to or implementation of BMS systems, carbon management measures, and ventilation
upgrades are estimated based on the BEES study based on sector wide average improvements to
electricity and gas consumption (BMS 3% electricity, 9% gas; carbon management 7% and 8%;
Ventilation 5% and 0% respectively). BMS and carbon management measures implemented pre-2025
and ventilation improvements post-2025.
o Lighting replacement between 2025 and 2030 (as in the leisure condition survey) with reduced
electricity consumption data from a University of Exeter leisure centre report and an assumed
improvement in efficacy from 95 lumens/Watt to 203 lumens/Watt).
o Reductions in energy consumed by the swimming pool are estimated based on the BEES study (assumes
24% reduction in electricity consumption and 25% of heat consumption within swimming pool energy
use in the leisure sector). Implemented post-2025.
Improvements to the Corn Exchange, with the same savings assumptions as the leisure centres (except lighting
based purely on the BEES study with an 11% potential saving).
Improvements to all remaining buildings and sectors, assuming a 20% improvement in energy efficiency can be
realised by 2030 (as per the CCC’s projections and labelled as “general efficiency” in Figure 8).
Any new buildings constructed (e.g., St Sidwell’s Point and potential replacements for the Civic Centre or
Wonford Leisure Centre) or included in the asset disposal scenarios are excluded from having energy efficiency
measures applied.

Figure 8. provides a summary of the combined impact of these measures on total annual electricity (20% reduction) and
gas (26% reduction) consumption by measure. Table 1 shows the approximate simple payback period for a range of
measures averaged across the community, arts & leisure sector from the BEES study.

Figure 8: Savings in energy by measure across all ECC’s corporate estate
11
Page
53

Table 1: Simple payback period for a range of energy reduction measures from the BEES study for the community, arts
& leisure sector
Simple Payback
(years)
11

Measure
Air conditioning and cooling
Building fabric

19

Building instrumentation and control

5

Building services distribution systems

49

Carbon and Energy Management

3

Hot water

12

Humidification

0

Lighting

7

Cooled storage

5

Small appliances

22

Space heating

16

Swimming pools

11

Ventilation

9

Decarbonising heat
Following the decarbonisation of the electricity network, assumptions about asset changes, and demand reduction
measures, around 70% of the remaining emissions from ECC’s non-domestic buildings are likely to be from the use of
natural gas; shifting to lower carbon alternatives will be necessary to achieve net zero carbon targets. Potential options
include:


Heat pumps: Air source heat pumps (ASHP) and ground source heat pumps (GSHP) absorb heat in the external
air or ground respectively for use within buildings. Low carbon grid electricity means that by 2030 heat pumps
are a significantly lower carbon option. Their efficiency (known as the Coefficient of Performance [CoP])
improves as the temperature difference between inside (supply temperatures) and outside decreases, which in
practical terms means they are most effective in well insulated buildings with low temperature (large emitter)
heating systems. Retrofitting heat pumps into poorly insulated buildings equipped with higher temperature
systems is likely to lead to low efficiencies and high running costs. An economic comparison between heating
with gas boilers and heat pumps will depend of the difference between gas and electricity prices combined with
the efficiencies of the appliances. Recently the price of electricity has been about 4.3 times greater than gas.
Assuming the current efficiency of a gas system is 80%, the CoP of a heat pump would need to be at least 3.4
for the operational energy cost of a HP to be no higher than gas. Experience has shown that seasonal CoPs
above 3 can be difficult to achieve. In addition, heat pumps (and especially GSHPs) are significantly more
expensive than gas boilers. Replacing gas boilers with heat pumps is currently challenging both from a technical
and economic perspective. In discussion with other local authorities ECC has identified two recent case studies:
o The proposed replacement of an existing heat source with ASHPs (rated at 500 kW) at a leisure centre
with swimming pools of comparable size to Riverside. Here it was found that the project was not
financially viable for the conditions set by the project, that noise was a significant factor, and that it
would necessitate expensive local sub-station upgrades from 250 to 400 kVA.
o The replacement of existing gas boilers (74% efficient for space heating boiler and 80% efficient for hot
water boiler) with ASHPs in an office building using Salix funding. The calculations assume an air-to-air
ASHP with a generous seasonal COP of 5 meeting 90% of the building’s heat demand and an air-towater ASHP with a seasonal COP of 4 serving the balance. Energy costs were taken as 7 p/kWh for gas

Page12 54









and 25 p/kWh electricity. The financial payback was over 50 years for both systems (in excess of the 20year lifetime of the ASHPs).
These examples demonstrate that the financial cost and carbon benefits of adopting heat pumps needs careful
assessment. It is also important that heat pumps are located and installed to minimise noise and vibration
nuisance.
Direct electric heating: As with heat pumps, by 2030 direct electric heating should be a significantly lower
carbon option than gas heating (though higher than heat pumps). However, whilst panel heaters are cheaper
than heat pump systems, running costs are several times higher. Direct electric heating is therefore not
included.
District Heating (DH): District heating is a method for distributing heat produced in a centralised location (at an
energy centre). Historically heat generation is from gas, often with Combined Heat and Power (CHP). However,
as the electricity grid has decarbonised the carbon benefit of this approach has eroded, especially as the
distribution of heat in insulated pipes results in system losses. Where there is a local low carbon source of heat
then DH can still be a viable low carbon option for replacing gas heating in buildings. For most of the significant
buildings in ECC’s corporate estate, there are no immediately suitable low carbon heat sources (gas-led City
Centre DH initiatives have not been successful). The Riverside is a possible exception, with the Energy from
Waste (EfW) site at Marsh Barton being some 2 km away. However, the heat from the EfW would first need to
be utilised in the Water Lane and Marsh Barton mixed-use developments, both of which are likely to be a prerequisite for extending a network as far as Riverside. DH is therefore not included.
Hydrogen: Nationally, there are decarbonisation pathways that envisage the use of hydrogen as a replacement
or partial replacement of natural gas in centralised infrastructure. As this is highly uncertain and unlikely to
materialise prior to 2030, it is not included.
Biomass: The CCC des include the use of biomass boilers in public or commercial buildings as “biomass resources
could be better used as part of engineered removals or in other sectors where alternatives are limited”. In
practise, experience with biomass boilers has shown that they are difficult to retrofit and run successfully in
commercial buildings.

From the above, heat pumps are taken to be the preferred option and are included in the buildings within the estate
with the highest emissions from gas use (Riverside, RAMM, ISCA, Arena and Corn Exchange). It is assumed that an overall
CoP of 3.0 (for space heating and hot water) is achieved and that existing systems have an efficiency of 80% i.e., 1 kWh
of electricity displaces 3.75 kWh of gas.
The heat scenario envisaged is an indication of the potential for carbon reduction. As noted above, there are significant
technical and financial barriers to achieving it in practice; each site needs detailed appraisal.

Renewable energy
Section 8 gives a schedule of potential implementation of building scale PV across the estate and assesses the proportion
that is exported (and so classified as an offset in that section), together with the amount that is self-consumed and
therefore results in the avoided import of grid electricity. Self-consumption is included on an individual building basis
within this section of the analysis.

3.4 Target for 2030
Projections suggest a reduction in the emissions from non-domestic buildings from 2,236 to 602 tCO2e in 2030 (-73%).
The projections are based on:


Emissions increasing by 55% on the 2020/21 total due to envisaged return to “business as usual” following
Covid, consideration of average temperatures for the region, and known changes to ECC’s assets with the full
reopening of Riverside and the addition of St. Sidwell’s Point more than offsetting the closure of the Pyramids
Leisure Centre.

13
Page
55










The continuing decarbonisation of the electricity grid, which results in a windfall carbon reduction for all current
electricity consumption and provides incentive to switch from natural gas to electric solutions.
Estimates of a range of energy efficiency interventions quantified from national sector level data supplemented
with local information. It is important to note that firming up these estimates requires detailed site-by-site
evaluation. The assumptions result in a 20% reduction in electricity consumption, and a 26% reduction in gas
consumption.
The scenario assumes that towards the end of the decade (i.e. beyond ECC’s current Capital Programme) that
the Civic Centre is sold and replaced with something new and much smaller, that the Wonford Leisure Centre
is refurbished and extended , and that the Northbrook Pool is disposed of. There is no suggestion that this is
council policy; these assumptions are included to provide an indication of the magnitude of potential carbon
reduction that such measures can achieve.
The replacement of gas heating in ECC’s major buildings with low carbon alternatives. Given the limited
potential for low carbon district heating or hydrogen, this is likely to be electrified heating, with heat pumps
being the lowest energy and carbon option. Recent experience from other local authorities indicates there may
be technical and financial barriers to implementing this.
The inclusion of PV on any suitable outstanding roofs across ECC’s non-domestic estate. The potential for carbon
reduction from this measure is relatively low, and falls over time as the wider electricity network decarbonises.

Figure 9 shows projected emissions from non-domestic buildings for ECC in 2020, 2025 and 2030.

Figure 9: Measures to reduce ECC non-domestic building emissions to 2025 and 2030 (including WTT emissions)

Page14 56

4 Housing
4.1 Detailed sector summary
ECC’s council owned housing contributed 33% of gross emissions in 2020/21 (17,319 t CO2e). As of April 2021k it
comprises 4,835 dwellings of which 2,557 (53%) are flats/bedsits, 254 (5%) are bungalows, 954 (20%) are terraced
houses and 1,070 (22%) are houses (see Figure 10).

Figure 10: Domestic properties by type

Data acquisition and processing
A list of council homes provided by ECC gives data on the physical attributes including built form and construction as
well as details of the heating systems. There are also fields for floor area and current SAP ratings. There is little
quantitative data on energy use.
Data from Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) is now available to download from a dedicated portal set up by the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) l. Registration with the site allows access to filtering
tools (including by local authority) and an option for bulk data download in csv format. The EPC data includes all the
assessment details including estimated energy costs for main and secondary heating, domestic hot water (DHW) and
lighting. While the EPC data represents only a snapshot at the time that the assessments were carried out and some
properties may have been improved since, there is currently no better accessible source for estimating address level
data.
The EPC data for the whole of Exeter contains approximately 47,000 records and requires a considerable amount of
pre-processing before it can be used, this includes removing duplicate assessments and accounting for anomalies in the
numbering system (which is not unique to each building) to leave only the most recent assessments (approximately
37,000 records). Matching the EPC data to ECC assets ultimately relied on ‘string matching’ of addresses, which is
difficult where different address formats are used. The use of Unique Property Reference Numbers (UPRNs) would

k
l

Details provided in an ECC spreadsheet
epc.opendatacommunities.org
15
Page
57

simplify this process and while the ECC asset list gives the UPRN for each property, the EPC bulk data has only recently
included a UPRN field and, of the matched addresses, only about 50% include a UPRN. This may improve in time.
The matching process eventually yielded EPC data for 2,444 of the ECC addresses, about 51% of the total number. The
portal currently has records up to the end of September 2021 and it might have been expected that more addresses
from the ECC asset list would have been included in the search as almost all of them appear to have EPC ratings.
However, the portal is relatively new and therefore may not be entirely complete.
Details for addresses without EPC data were ‘cloned’ from similar homes, mostly from those in the same street (2,385
addresses), and in a small number of cases, based on postcode averages (8 addresses).
EPC energy data for heat, secondary heat, DHW and lighting is provided in the form of cost, and was converted into
energy (kWh) by reverse-engineering the EPC Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) calculations that would have been
used to generate them. Calculations typically require the application of factors relating to the cost of energy, the
proportion of energy that is used for main and secondary heat, and the proportion of consumption at higher tariff rates
(in the case of address with dual tariff meters). The factors have changed with successive iterations of the SAP so
addresses had to be matched to the appropriate document according to the date when the assessment was carried out.
The EPC data includes regulated energy sources (space heating, water heating and lighting) but not electricity used
otherwise, for example in appliances. Ofgem provides typical domestic consumption values (TDCVs) based on returns
from electricity suppliers at a national level which are reviewed on an annual basis. This are given at ‘high’, ’medium’
and ‘low’ consumption levels for gas, electricity and dual tariff meters (where a 45/55% split is assumed for day/night
consumption). The TDCV figures do not account for regional or local variations and an alternative dataset from BEIS was
used which gives TDCVs for domestic meters at the postcode level. The 2020 release gives consumption from 2019.
This postcode level data is used in the production of subnational energy consumption statistics but on its o wn is
considered ‘experimental’ so is provided with some caveats 11. Postcodes with fewer than five addresses for example
are excluded on the basis of disclosure, as are postcodes where more than 90% of consumption is due to a single meter.
These however may be included in the data for partial postcodes (EX1, EX2 and so on) providing they are not considered
too disclosive. Domestic meters with more than 100,000 kWh or less than 100 kWh are also excluded.
The TDCV data is matched with the Exeter EPC data by postcode and the electricity used for heating and lighting
subtracted from the TDCV to give an estimate of unregulated electricity use. While the calculation for unregulated
electricity may not hold up at an individual address level, aggregated over all of the ECC addresses it should give a better
estimate than using national figures.

Energy and emissions in 2020
Figure 11 shows estimates of energy by end use for all of the ECC addresses from the methodology outlined above.

Page16 58

Figure 11: Estimated energy by end use in 4,835 domestic addresses
Energy use is dominated by space and water heating which is estimated at 65.4 GWh of which 95% (62.4 GWh) comes
from gas. Most homes (93%) currently use gas as their main source of heat (Figure 12). Additional secondary heating is
used in 607 (13%) of homes, mostly using electricity (368 homes) or gas (213 homes) with 25 homes listed in the EPC
data as using solid fuel. In most cases water heating is done through the main system (92%, 4465 addresses) with the
remaining homes using electric immersion heaters (7%, 338 addresses) or point of use water heaters (22 addresses)
which are almost all electric. Homes that are part of community heating schemes (11 addresses) are provided with both
space and water heating.

Figure 12: Number of homes using different fuels for the main source of heat

17
Page
59

Emissions from energy consumption are estimated at 17,377 tCO2e and have been broken down by end use in Figure
13.

Figure 13: Estimated emissions from homes in 2020 by end use
A modest adjustment to the emissions total can be made as a result of renewable energy technologies, in particular the
self-consumption of electricity generated by photovoltaic (PV) panels on some of these homes. There are 23 addresses
which include solar DHW but energy saving and emissions reduction from solar hot water are difficult to quantify as
they depend very much on storage and the extent to which occupants engage with the system. Given that they are
small in number the energy and emissions savings for solar hot water are ignored.
Data on PV generation is not available directly but is derived from a report by E.ON12, who installed PV at addresses
across the ECC estate around 2012. The ECC asset list includes a field indicating which properties have solar PV panels.
The initial list from E.ON included 283 properties with solar PV while the ECC asset list has 280 properties. There are
some address-level disagreements between the two sets of data and a search for unique instances gave 310 addresses
with PV. Properties that are not on the current ECC asset list are removed to leave 296 addresses where it is assumed
that solar PV is installed.
Neither of the sources give the capacity or annual output of the individual systems. The E.ON report was supplemented
at the time with some supporting data which gives the electricity generation at each address for the month of November
2012. The November data was used in conjunction with the solar modelling platform PVGISm and images from Google
Street View to estimate the number of panels and average panel capacity at each address. From this an estimate of
annual generation at all sites was extrapolated so that it matched an annual assessment figure from E.ON. While
exported solar electricity contributes to the decarbonisation of grid electricity, emissions at source are reduced when
PV is consumed on site and an estimation of self-consumption was drawn from the Microgeneration Certification
Scheme (MCS) guidance13. The MCS document provides tables to estimate self-consumption by annual output in three
scenarios: occupants who tend to be out all day, out half of the day or in all day. It is assumed that the average case is
best represented by an ‘out-half-of-the-day’ scenario and the table values are interpolated to give estimates of selfconsumption at all of the addresses with PV.

m

https://re.jrc.ec.europa.eu/pvg_tools/en

Page18 60

The efficiency of PV panels deteriorates over time with most manufacturers providing a guarantee that the panel will
retain 80% of their generating capacity after 20 years of service. This equates to an annual decrease of 20√0.8 = 0.989
for each year of operation. After 8 years (from 2012) the panels might therefore expect to be generating at (0.989)8 =
0.915 of their capacity when new.
Including degradation from new, the annual output from the existing PV installations is estimated at 554 MWh, with
self-consumption estimated to be 199 MWh (the average proportion of self-consumption is 0.376). This figure is
subtracted from overall electricity consumption and provides an emissions credit of 57 t CO2e when multiplied by the
corresponding emissions factor for electricity.
Total emissions from all sources is estimated at 17,319 t CO2e, approximately 75% of which is due to the combustion of
gas and the majority of the remainder from electricity (Figure 14). Other sources, including LPG, solid fuel and district
heating account for less than 0.4% of total emissions.

Figure 14: Estimated emissions from homes in 2020 by fuel

4.2 National policy framework
In the Sixth Carbon Budget UK residential emissions in 2019 are estimated to be 70.5% of emissions from buildings
(20.6% of total emissions). UK housing is diverse and relatively inefficient so there is no ‘one-size-fits-all-approach’ to
decarbonisation. The CCC notes a lack of progress on decarbonisation with housing emissions remaining largely flat in
recent years. The implementation of key measures is slower than would be required to deliver Net Zero due to immature
supply chains, low levels of public engagement and, until very recently, the low cost of gas.
The delayed Heat and Buildings Strategy14 released in October 2021 announced funding of £3.9bn for low carbon
initiatives in homes but appears somewhat lower than the 2019 manifesto commitment of £9.2bn and arrives off the
back of the scrapping of the £1.5bn Green Homes Grant which failed to live up to expectations. The domestic element
aimed at homeowners reached less than 7% of the intended target of 600,000 households although the Local Authority
Delivery (LAD) scheme targeting homes with an E, F or G EPC rating has been extended.
The reaction to the strategy has been mixed with concerns over the ambition and funding being made available. Specific
criticisms from the CCC include a lack of focus on fabric efficiency where the implementation of measures remains slow
and some way behind the peak delivery levels that were seen in 2012 (Figure 15).

19
Page
61

Figure 15: Progress in fabric efficiency improvements since 2010 (CCC)
Notable targets include a commitment to phasing out the installation of new gas boilers from 2035, reducing the costs
of installing heat pumps by at least 25% by 2025 and developing the market for heat pumps to the point where it will
be able to install to install at least 600,000 heat pumps per year by 2028. All new buildings in England will be ‘ready for
Net Zero’ from 2025 through the Future Homes Standard with an ambition to build 300,000 new homes a year by the
mid-2020s. Amending of building regulations is promised to ensure higher levels of energy efficiency and to drive the
installation of low carbon heating to prevent the need for more costly retrofits. While further trials and research are
carried out, a decision on the role of hydrogen is postponed until 2026.
Much of the policy detail is yet to be revealed although a timetable for a series of consultations and demonstrators is
provided in the annexes.
The Climate Change Committee (CCC) describes four broad areas where emissions from buildings are likely to be
reduced:
 Behaviour change;
 Increasing the energy efficiency of the building stock;
 Improving the energy efficiency of lighting and electrical appliances;
 Switching away from fossil-fuel based heat.
Behaviour change incorporates a range of actions, some of which require simple adjustments like turning things off or
considering energy efficiency when making appliance purchases. Often however the changes are more profound and
affect the way that homes are heated and controlled and will need to be implemented alongside enabling technologies
and smart management systems so that consumers do not become overwhelmed or disengaged. Improving the
controllability of heating systems and using financial signals through time-of-use pricing and smart infrastructure will
aim to promote the demand management and load shifting behaviours that will be needed to facilitate the increased
penetration of renewable energy into the electricity mix.
Many of these enabling technologies are in their infancy and are considered more likely to be implemented at scale in
the period after 2025. In this assessment they are brought in as a suite of measures after more readily quantifiable

Page20 62

changes are made and are considered as part of a ‘whole house approach’ to bring building performance to levels
expected in Passivhaus/EnerPhit standards.
The energy efficiency of the fabric of the building stock in this assessment is primarily addressed through loft and cavity
wall insulation (CWI) in the first instance and solid wall insulation (SWI) later. Data and metrics that are based on actual
performance rather than models are being developed through the National Energy Efficiency Data-Framework (NEED)
and it is hoped that regulatory requirements will follow in an attempt to bridge the ‘performance gap’ between
modelled and actual performance.
Electrical efficiency of appliances in operation and standby has been driven by industry standards, and (prior to 2016)
by EU legislation. A 12% decrease in residential electricity consumption between 2008 and 2018 has taken place despite
population growth of 7% and is expected to continue 15.
With a typical design life of 15 years, many of the existing fossil fuelled heating systems will need to be replaced over
the next ten years or so and in its Balanced Pathway the CCC envisages phasing out the installation of fossil fuel boilers
before 2035. The switch to technologies such as heat pumps will be made easier if building fabric and thermal efficiency
is brought up to recommended standards beforehand. The CCC considers that in most cases switching to efficient
electric heating systems (largely heat pumps) offers the most viable route to the largest emissions savings. As the power
sector continues to decarbonise, the emissions savings from these technologies will also accrue.

4.3 Opportunities
The most readily quantifiable measures for the domestic housing stock are considered individually in the following
sections. These include relatively simple or low-cost measures such as ensuring that all lofts and cavities are insulated.
A continuation of the rollout of PV can also be considered; while Feed-in Tariffs (FITs) are no longer available the cost
of installations has fallen considerably. The council has said that it plans to provide over 500 new homes before 2025 n
which will increase emissions from housing, but it is assumed that these will continue to be built to Passivhaus standards
in order to minimise the impact on emissions. It is assumed that this rate of provision will continue over the period 2025
to 2030 to provide a further 500 new homes. Additional homes that may be delivered through the Liveable Exeter
project are not included.
For the purposes of the analysis, it is assumed that the majority of the simpler measures would be carried out before
2025. More challenging measures including solid wall insulation (SWI) on homes without cavity walls and replacing gas
boilers with air source heat pumps (ASHP) and are more likely to be successful when steps have been taken to improve
fabric efficiency. It is assumed therefore that these measures are more likely to be carried out post 2025. As a wellestablished technology, PV installations are assumed to be carried out over the whole period up to 2030.
It is hard to quantify all possible measures directly, the use of smart technologies in conjunction with storage and
modified behaviours for example will vary considerably between homes and without more detailed information is hard
to model directly. Instead, a final ‘catch-all’ is considered where a Passivhaus/EnerPhit energy standard of 15 kWh/m2
is achieved through a combination deep retrofit and energy saving strategies by following a whole house approach.
Other impacts that will reduce energy use and emissions without the council acting directly include the steady increase
in the efficiency of appliances and the decarbonisation of the grid as the penetration of renewable energy sources
increases. These are considered separately in the period up to 2025 and the period between 2025 and 2030 as the
impact will vary depending on the carbon intensity of grid electricity and the extent to which domestic heating is
electrified.

n

https://news.exeter.gov.uk/stunning-new-passivhaus-council-homes-unveiled-in-exeter
21
Page
63

New Passivhaus dwellings
The 1,000 new dwellings are assumed to be built to low energy standards to minimise emissions. The ECC asset list
includes 66 addresses which have been designed to low energy/Passivhaus principles. These include:







Chester Long Court (26 flats)
Knights Place (18 flats)
Rowan House (3 flats)
Reed Walk (6 terraced houses)
Silverberry Close (8 terraced houses)
Barberry Close (5 terraced houses)

Assuming that the new homes broadly match the current mix of flats and houses, the EPC data can be used to clone a
typical ECC low energy dwelling to derive energy consumption figures. Within the existing low energy homes 45 have
gas boilers as their main heating system while the remainder use either direct electric heating or warm air systems. It is
assumed that all new dwellings would install ASHP to minimise emissions.
Statistics from BEIS 16 and work carried out for the CCC 17 show that the seasonal performance factors for ASHP have
improved from the legacy installations where the average seasonal performance factor (SPF) was 2.5. Instead, it is
assumed that current trends will see SPFs for space heating with ASHPs increasing from 3.0 in 2018 to 3.5 in 2028. The
SPF for DHW from an ASHP is assumed to be 2.3.
An average SPF over a build out period between 2020/21 and 2025 was taken as 3.2 for space heating, improving to
3.44 in the post 2025 period, with an SPF of 2.3 for DHW maintained over all builds. In the current mix of low energy
homes, replacing boilers with an assumed efficiency of 89% and 100% for direct electric heating with ASHP would result
in average annual space and DHW demand of 900 kWh per home and associated emissions of 166 kg CO2e in 2025. By
2030 the average reduces to 884 kWh per home with emissions of 79 kg CO2e

Loft and cavity wall insulation
The potential impact of loft and cavity wall insulation (CWI) has been assessed using the National Energy Efficiency Data
Framework (NEED)18, which combines data from multiple sources to derive representative figures for the energy saving
potential of various measures. These are broken down by their impact on homes in a series of categories including EPC
rating, property age, property type, occupancy and so on. The sample sizes on which the figures are base is modest (up
to a thousand or so in each category) but are expected to be added to as more data becomes available.
The median impact of loft and cavity wall insulation by EPC category in the NEED Framework is summarised in Table 2.
Table 2: Median energy saving potential for loft and cavity wall insulation (NEED)
EPC rating
A-C
D
E-G
No rating

Loft insulation
4.3%
5.4%
4.7%
3.3%

Cavity wall insulation
7.1%
7.8%
6.1%
8.3%

The EPC data provides information on the nature of the installation (for example depth of loft insulation) and a
qualitative assessment of its current state (from ‘very good’ to ‘very poor’). Most of the ECC properties have existing
insulation in lofts and cavities and for those with lofts 4,122 (85%) have insulation considered to be ‘good’ or ‘very good’,
while 4,430 homes with cavity walls (92%) are said to be insulated.
The NEED data reflects the impact compared to no insulation and many lofts are seen to be partially insulated and would
benefit from top-up insulation to bring them up to the 270 mm recommended. Data from the Energy Saving Trust 19
indicates that top-up insulation (from 120 mm to 270 mm) has a saving about 8.9% that of going from 0 mm to 270 mm.

Page22 64

If loft insulation and top-up insulation is applied to all properties with less than the recommended 270 mm/300 mm, as
well as to those where the condition is deemed ‘average’ or worse there is an estimated emissions saving of 52 t CO2e
for loft insulation and 87 t CO2e for cavity wall insulation.

Improvements in energy efficiency
In the CCC Sixth Carbon Budget sector summary on electricity generation, residential electricity consumption is said to
have fallen by 12% between 2008 and 2018 due to improvements in energy efficiency of lighting and appliances.
Further, it says that this trend is likely to continue so an annual adjustment to the lighting and unregulated emissions
can be made of 10√(1 − 0.12) = 0.987 which over the first five-year period might be expected to reduce consumption to
(0.987)5 = 0.938 of its value - a reduction of 6.2%.
Estimates for lighting and unregulated energy would reduce by 747 MWh by this measure resulting in emissions savings
of 217 t CO2e
The material savings here will be driven by industry standards and government policy but, given the relative scale of this
reduction compared to measures such as insulation, there may be an indirect role for ECC to maximise the potential
benefit, for example by continuing to support, promote or endorse energy saving technologies and low energy
appliances and/or to provide advice on where to access good quality information.

Further deployment of solar photovoltaic panels
Since the financial support for PV through Feed-In Tariffs (FITS) has been withdrawn there has been a notable decrease
in the number of small-scale installations. The Smart Export Guarantee which launched in 2020 pays a nominal price for
exported electricity (generally between 1 p/kWh and 6 p/kWh) and even though panels and installation costs have fallen
considerably consumers have been less prepared to accept longer payback periods. However, as more systems switch
from fossil fuels to electricity and the use of electric vehicles (EVs) becomes more prevalent the economic arguments
will change for many consumers, particularly if elements of the switch to homeworking through the Covid pandemic
persist and the percentage of self-consumption of PV generated electricity increases. The use of EVs in conjunction with
options for smart charging and vehicle-to-grid technology may provide another driver for domestic PV.
The potential for increased deployment of domestic PV in the ECC housing stock is based on current consumption as
there is little evidence on the potential adoption of EVs among ECC tenants or their working patterns.
Estimating the potential for further deployment of PV was based on EPC data on built form (homes with roofs) and floor
area which was used to give an estimate of the number of standard 1.6m × 1.0m panels that might fit on a pitched or
flat roof (with allowances made for margins at the edges and gaps between rows). The peak generating capacity of
panels has increased since the first wave of installations in 2012 so a capacity of 250 Wp per panel has been assumed.
No account has been made for cross-gable roofs, hipped roofs, the presence of dormers, chimneys, or services so the
analysis will not necessarily stand up at an address level but should give a reasonable approximation in aggregate. In
terms of the potential output PVGIS was used to determine an average annual output figure based on an east or west
orientation. The reduced output compared to an ideal south facing property should account for those properties where
it is not possible to install PV or where output might be compromised by shading.
If half of the currently available properties were to install PV before 2025 the annual generation is estimated to be
2,752 kWh of which an average of 996 kWh would be consumed, and the remainder exported. As a first estimate, the
assumption is also made that new low energy homes have some solar capacity with the self-consumption based on the
average of existing dwellings. In terms of avoided emissions in 2025 this would amount to 334 t CO2e.

Grid decarbonisation
As discussed in Section 3.3.1 the decarbonisation of the grid will occur largely as a result of national rather than local
policies although exported electricity from domestic roofs will contribute in a small way to the renewable content of
grid electricity.

23
Page
65

Taking into account the modest improvements in building fabric efficiency, self-consumption of solar electricity and
electrical efficiency improvements, the projected decrease in grid emissions is estimated at 1,517 t CO2e making it by
far the largest contributor to decarbonising housing in this first period and almost three time the additional emissions
from the additional low energy homes.

Solid wall insulation
Solid wall insulation (SWI) can be technically challenging to install and expensive and is considered a measure that would
most likely be attempted after easier options have been completed. In this assessment it is assumed that any SWI would
be carried out in the later period between 2025 and 2030.
Referring again to the NEED Framework it can be seen that the potential for energy saving with SWI is greater in
percentage terms than for loft and cavity wall insulation (Table 3).
Table 3: Median energy saving potential for solid wall insulation (NEED)
EPC rating
A-C
D
E-G
No rating

Solid wall insulation
19.0%
18.9%
16.3%
18.0%

The number of properties for which SWI might be suited was determined from the EPC data where construction details
include properties that are described as 'system built' (pre-fabricated), 'timber frame', 'solid brick' or 'stone’ along with
those described as having ‘no insulation’. This gives 502 buildings where SWI may be appropriate. Three homes
described as being constructed from cob were not included as these are likely to require specialist attention.
The resulting annual energy savings from SWI are estimated to be 1,176 MWh, 96% of which would be through reduced
gas consumption. The resulting emissions savings would be 244 tCO2e.

Replacing fossil fuelled heating with air source heat pumps
With reasonable steps taken to improve fabric efficiency ASHPs are considered a viable alternative to heating with gas
(and other fossil fuels such as LPG) in 3,510 homes. The installation of heat pumps on this scale needs ensure that they
are located and installed to minimise noise and vibration nuisance and the leakage of high global warming potential
F gas working fluids (as highlighted in Section 7).
The switch to heating with electric will by itself deliver large emissions savings as a result of falling grid emissions up to
2030. Homes with other forms of electric heating have therefore been ignored in the first instance. Where heat pumps
deliver space heating and hot water the energy requirement will also reduce due to the heat pump efficiencies (SPFs).
As described in Section 4.3.1 SPFs are expected to increase over the coming years and an average figure of 3.2 for space
heating rising to 3.44 by 2030 and 2.3 for water heating have been assumed. With new heating systems it is assumed
that the precise heat loss calculations that are required when specifying heat pumps correctly will mean that all forms
of secondary heating become redundant.
The shift to ASHPs results in an annual fall in gas and fossil fuel consumption of 61,976 MWh and a corresponding
increase in electricity consumption of 15,294 MWh. The net impact on emissions is a reduction of 9,871 t CO2e driven
by electrical efficiency and heat pump efficiency.

Deep retrofit and other energy saving
Additional measures that are hard to model directly at this scale include the use of smarter technologies, thermal and
electrical storage (including vehicle-to-grid), managed ventilation and heat recovery, and modified behaviours. Taking
a whole house approach where measures need to be considered holistically means that precise measures will be
different for each property type. A combination of all these is to be likely to be necessary to get emissions from homes
as close to zero as possible. The Passivhaus/EnerPhit standards currently represent best practice and expect annual

Page24 66

heat consumption not to exceed 15 kWh/m 2. Taking the all the floor areas from the EPC data and multiplying by this
figure gives the likely best-case scenario for the heat requirement of all homes in the ECC estate. At this stage it is
assumed that ASHPs are installed in all homes where they are viable. Additional energy and emissions savings arise from
electricity alone.
The resulting reduction in annual electricity consumption is 8,222 MWh with a corresponding emissions reduction of
1,520 t CO2e in 2030. As the carbon intensity of grid emissions reduces so does the emissions saving potential of energy
saving measures, however it does increase the likelihood of achieving net zero as the remaining emissions can be offset
with less reliance on generating renewable energy.

Final deployment of solar photovoltaic panels
The rollout of PV to the remaining homes that are able to take panels is modelled in the same manner as in Section
4.3.4. Panels originally installed in 2012 will be at or near the end of their expected operating lifetime while those
installed in the period between 2020/21 to 2025 will have seen their effective capacity decline over 5 years and will be
operating at around 94.6% of their new capacity. Self-consumption patterns are assumed to be the same as in the first
period although it is likely that the use of storage and vehicle-to-grid technologies in conjunction with smarter systems,
and perhaps time-of-use charging by energy suppliers, will see the percentage of self-consumption for most systems
increase. The estimated reduction in electricity consumption is 1,097 MWh with associated emissions savings of 203
t CO2e.

Further improvements in energy efficiency and grid decarbonisation
Following on from Section 4.3.3 and Section 4.3.5 the electrical efficiency of appliances in this post-2025 period
continues to improve at the same rate resulting in emissions savings of 146 t CO2e and 2,074 t CO2e respectively.
Unregulated emissions in this simple model have been estimated by subtracting regulated energy consumption from
TDCVs. These are likely to change in the future. However, it is hard to predict whether they will continue fall as a result
of continued efficiency savings or whether they could see increases as a result of wider adoption of technology and
gadgetry or a ‘rebound’ effect (as the increased penetration of renewable energy and lower grid emissions leads to
more ambivalence around energy saving).

4.4 Target for 2030
Projections suggest a reduction in the emissions from domestic housing in from 17,319 to 1,916 tCO2e in 2030 (-89%).
The projections for emissions from the current stock of domestic homes and anticipated new low energy homes are
based on a bottom-up assessment of emissions associated with current homes and a combination of a direct and
indirect measures that might be expected in the intervening period.







Baseline emissions of 17,319 t CO2e for the existing stock of 4835 homes are based on information provided by
ECC which has been matched with the EPC database to determine energy use.
An increase of 536 t CO2e as a result of 500 new low energy/Passivhaus homes announced by ECC which are
assumed to be heated with ASHP. The associated emissions savings will accrue as grid electricity decarbonises.
Ensuring that loft and cavity wall insulation is up to recommended standards in all existing homes will deliver
savings of 52 t CO2e and 87 t CO2e respectively and appear modest as most homes are already at or near the
required standard. However, such measures will ensure that homes are in a better position to switch to ASHP
as heating systems are replaced.
Electrical efficiency of appliances has been improving consistently and delivers savings of 217 t CO2 to 2025 and
while ECC is not directly responsible for these it can promote the use of high efficiency appliance options.
The self-consumption of solar PV generation saves 334 t CO2e to 2025 based on deployment in half of all suitable
existing and new homes. The end of FITs means that the economic appraisal of PV is not as straightforward as
it once was as savings are dependent on maximising the avoided costs and emissions of imported electricity. As
the penetration of smart systems, storage and EVs increases the economic benefits will become more
favourable.
25
Page
67

















At 1,517 t CO2e grid decarbonisation is likely to be a major source of emissions reduction to 2025 and while this
may be appear as something of a ‘free-hit’ as key measures will largely be determined by national energy policy,
lower emissions factors will be aided by energy reduction measures and exported electricity.
This leaves interim emissions in 2025 of 15,650 t CO2e.
A further 500 low energy homes will add emissions of 325 t CO2e by 2030.
Solid wall insulation applied to 502 homes will reduce emissions by 244 t CO2e but perhaps more importantly
will lay the groundwork to enable more of those homes to switch to ASHP.
Installing ASHP in 4,495 homes that are not already heated electrically will yield the greatest reduction in
emissions if homes can be made ready to accept them by upgrading thermal performance. Resulting emissions
savings are estimated at 9,871 t CO2e due to the reduction in the emissions intensity of grid electricity and
reduced energy consumption if the improvement in SPF for ASHPs can be achieved by 2028.
A combination of smart technologies, heat recovery, thermal and electrical storage are likely to be necessary to
get homes to the Passivhaus/EnerPhit standard for annual space heating of 15 kWh/m 2. Taking the whole house
approach to deliver the deep retrofit in a manner appropriate for each property type would deliver further
savings of 1,520 tCO2e.
Installing PV on remaining homes saves an estimated 203 t CO2e, a figure which has lessened as a result of
falling grid emissions. However, measures such as PV, particularly when coupled with storage assets, will
provide the basis for the shift to a low carbon electricity grid as they will introduce flexibility and reduce the
load on electricity infrastructure.
The increase in appliance efficiency is predicted to continue and could lead to further reduction in emissions of
146 t CO2e in the period 2025-2030. ECC can support the adoption of low energy appliances and devices.
As emissions from grid electricity approach zero towards 2030 the emissions savings have the greatest impact
where heating has transitioned away from fossil fuels. In this second period an additional emissions reduction
of 2,074 t CO2e is anticipated.
The collective impact of all the measures in 2030 is a 90% reduction from domestic housing to 1,916 t CO2e.

The emissions reductions for the measures outlined above are summarised in Figure 16:

Figure 16: Measures to reduce ECC emissions from domestic housing to 2025 and 2030 (including WTT emissions)

Page26 68

5 Transport
5.1 Detailed sector summary
Emission from transport in 2020/21 totalled 1,108 t CO2e. Direct (Scope 1) transport GHG emissions arise from vehicles
and other machineryo owned or rented by the Council: the ECC fleet. Indirect transport emissions come from employee
business travel, the “grey fleet” (employee vehicles used for work and claimed on expenses) and staff commuting.
Indirect embodied emissions are included under procurement (Section 6).

Direct emission from transport
The transport footprint for the ECC fleet is built up from fuel consumption data for individual vehicles, which is available
for the majority of the fleet. The exceptions are red diesel used in specialist vehicles and portable machinery used by
the Public and Green Spaces team. In this case bulk red diesel (for vehicles) and petrol card data (for portable machinery)
has been used to calculate emissions. Total 2020/21 emissions (direct and WTT) are shown in Table 4.
Table 4: ECC transport emissions in 2020/21 (including WTT)
Diesel
(t CO2e)

Petrol
(t CO2e)

Electric
(t CO2e)

Total
(t CO2e)

3.8

0.0

0.2

4.0

0.4%

Cleansing - refuse trucks

556.3

0.0

0.0

556.3

58.3%

Cleansing - other

151.1

0.3

0.2

151.6

15.9%

Housing

0.7

0.0

1.4

2.1

0.2%

Leisure and museum

1.3

0.0

0.0

1.3

0.1%

203.2

30.8

2.4

236.4

24.8%

Waterways

1.8

0.0

0.0

1.8

0.2%

Other

0.0

0.5

0.7

1.2

0.1%

918.1

31.7

4.9

954.7

100.0%

Fuel
Car parking services

Public & green spaces

Total 2020/21

Percent
%

Nearly all (99%) vehicle emissions come from the waste service (74%) and public and green spaces (25%).
The highest emission vehicles in the fleet are refuse collection vehicles (typically Dennis Eagle Olympus 16) which in
2020/21 had average annual emissions of 33 t CO2e each. ECC has 16 of these giving total 2020 emissions of 528 t CO2e.
Four other waste and cleansing vehicles have average 2020 emissions of 19 t CO2e (total 78 t CO2e) with 18 Iveco and
Isuzu lorries run by cleansing, public and green space and waterways contributing a total of 82 t CO2e. Together these
38 vehicles contributed 89% of non-red diesel road vehicle emissions.
Red diesel consumed by 20 public and green space vehicles (not including the lorries above) represented 10% of
2020/21 emissions which, together with petrol for portable equipment (3%), was half of the department’s emissions.
Direct emissions are those over which the Council has most control. Given the uncertainties over indirect emissions,
these should be the focus of initial efforts to reduce transport emissions.

Indirect emissions from transport
ECC’s indirect transport emissions come from business travel, mileage undertaken in staff vehicles on council business
(so-called “grey fleet” miles) and staff communing. Estimates of business travel emissions are made from spending and
are included under procurement (see Section 6). Grey fleet mileage data is available. Emissions for the last 3 years have
fallen from 21 t CO2e to 20 t CO2e and most recently to 16 t CO2e in 2020/21. The most recent fall has an element of
Covid impact. ECC’s estimates of commuting mileage give emissions of 202 t CO2e in 2018/19 and 244 t CO2e in

o

Portable machinery used by the Public & Green Spaces team is included in transport emissions
27
Page
69

2019/20. In 2020/21 the council estimates that commuting emissions were 10% of the 2019/20 figure (24 t CO2e). Post
Covid, the extent to which normal staff travel patterns will resume is unclear making estimation of future indirect
emissions difficult.

5.2 National policy framework
In the Sixth Carbon Budget the CCC’s balanced pathway projects:









9% of car miles can be reduced (e.g. through increased home-working) or shifted to lower-carbon modes (such
as walking, cycling and public transport) by 2035.
High take-up of electric vehicles (EVs) with conventional cars, vans and plug-in hybrids ended by 2032 at the
latest.
The roll-out of zero-emission HGVs accelerates to reach nearly 100% of sales by 2040.
Continuing vehicle efficiency improvements.
A reduction of 3% in van miles by 2035 through measures such micro-consolidation centres.
HGV logistics measures to reduce miles driven by lorries.
All sales of new buses are zero-carbon by 2035.
Diesel trains are phased out by 2040.

The Government has set 2030 as the date when the sale of petrol and diesel vehicles should stop with all new cars and
vans being fully zero emission at the tailpipe in 2035. It is also proposing that the sale of new diesel HGVs should end in
2040.

5.3 Opportunities
ECC Fleet
The main source of ECC fleet emissions is from essential cleansing and public and green space services. Refuse collection
and grass cutting are unlikely to yield material opportunities for mileage reduction and, given the nature of these
services, efficient driving is likely to have little to contribute. However, in other services mileage reduction and increased
vehicle efficiency offer potential opportunities for emissions reduction.
Tasking each department using vehicles with reducing annual mileage starts with measuring and reporting mileage and
giving feedback to staff. This can be followed by target setting by department and then for individuals. Adopting
processes which minimise the need to travel and ensure the shortest trip distances together with training staff to ask,
“is this journey essential?” before each trip can also support a mileage reduction strategy.
Efficiency improvements are achieved by choosing the smallest vehicle practical for the needs and by driving it
efficiently. Efficient driving can be encouraged through training such as that provided by Lightfoot. This will be
particularly important as electric vehicles are introduced to the fleetp.
Migrating the fleet to low and zero emission vehicles will be an essential part of the transition. Identifying how and
when waste and public and green space vehicles can be electrified will determine the speed and success of emission
reduction. 2021 emissions from the fleet totalled 830 t CO2e.
ECC’s vehicle replacement schedule for higher emission vehicles (above 10 t CO2e/year) is summarised in Table 5.

p

https://www.fleetandleasing.com/leasing-news-1/driver-training-essential-for-electrifying-fleets-says-lightfoot/

Page28 70

Table 5: Replacement schedule for high emission vehicles in ECC’s fleet
Year
Pre 2021
2022
2023
2024
2026
2027
Total

Vehicle type (s)
Other waste
Refuse collection
Street sweeper & other waste
Refuse collection
Refuse collection
Refuse collection

Number
2
3
2
3
10
2
20

2020/21 emissions t CO2e
38
98
40
107
309
40
632

Table 6 summarises the replacement schedule for more moderate emission vehicles: the 27 Iveco and Isuzu trucks in
the fleet.
Table 6: Replacement schedule for Iveco and Isuzu trucks in ECC’s fleet
Year
Pre 2021
2021
2022
2024
2025
2026
2027
Total

Vehicle type (s)

Number

Public & green space lorry
Housing lorry
Public & green space lorry
Cleansing & Public & green space lorries
Public & green space lorries
Public & green space & Waterways lorries
Cleansing & Public & green space lorries

1
1
1
5
2
8
8
26

2020/21 emissions
t CO2e
5
6
6
25
10
28
30
110

High emission vehicles were responsible for 76% of emissions with the moderate emission vehicles responsible for a
further 13%.
ECC has ordered three electric refuse collection vehicles for delivery in 2022 replacing those due to be retired from the
fleet in the year, demonstrating that electrification of the fleet is a realistic opportunity. Assumed electrification is in
line with vehicle post 2021 replacement schedule, i.e. all replacements are electric. This is an aggressive assumption as,
for example, there are no suitable currently replacements for 3.5 tonne vans and 7.5 tonne refuse vehicles. The timing
of replacements with electric alternatives is therefore likely to slip.
The replacement of petrol and diesel vehicles with EVs to 2025 yields in a reduction of 277 t CO2e giving a resultant
472 t CO2e. By 2030 the entire fleet is assumed to be electric and emissions reduce by a further 391 t CO2e to a residual
81 t CO2e.

Other direct transport
28 specialist vehicles operated by the Public and Green Spaces team use red diesel, emitting 94 t CO2 in 2020/21. The
vehicles include tractors, mowers, sweepers, tele-handlers, etc. The specialist nature of these vehicles and their
relatively small markets make it less certain that low and zero carbon alternatives will be developed, particularly before
2030. The council will therefore need to use the knowledge and expertise of the public green space team to develop a
zero red diesel strategy. In the interim, the assumption is that 25% of red diesel use is electrified between 2025 and
2030.
There are some 282 items of portable equipment. Public and green spaces operate the majority (249), with waterways
operating 13 with the remainder being scattered across various other departments. 244 are fossil fuelled (132 two
stroke (petrol with oil added), 95 petrol, 15 diesel, 2 butane gas) with emissions of 31 t CO2e annuallyq. As with specialist
q

The balance of equipment is battery/electric. Emissions from this equipment are captured by electricity consumption.
29
Page
71

vehicles, the development of low and zero carbon alternatives with the equivalent functionality is less certain,
particularly before 2030, and the knowledge and expertise of the public green space team will be needed to develop a
low carbon portable equipment strategy. In the interim, the assumption is that 25% of portable equipment use is
electrified between 2025 and 2030.

Indirect transport
The council has less control over indirect transport emissions particularly commuting which, pre Covid, historically
represented over 90% of indirect emissions. However, policy on business travel (included under procurement in
Section 6) and grey fleet miles can encourage or mandate the use of low and zero carbon travel alternatives.
The council has estimated that Covid reduced commuting emissions in 2020/21 by 90%. As the pandemic recedes it is
assumed that commuting levels return to the pre-pandemic levels (an average of 2018/19 and 2019/20) raising
commuting emissions from 24 t CO2e in 2020/21 by 200 t CO2e.
The Sixth Carbon Budget provides data on car mileage reduction (9% by 2035, with 3% by 2025 and 6% by 2030) and
the penetration of EVs (9% in 2025 and 34% in 2030)r. Assumed uptake of EVs by ECC’s staff is assumed to be in line
with national trends and these figures provide estimates of the reduction in grey fleet and car commuting emissions.
There is the potential to be augmented these assumptions with forward looking ECC policies on business travel and
commuting which could deliver significant improvements on national trends.
Commuting on public transport will inevitably rely on changes driven nationally but it is unlikely that all buses and trains
serving Exeter will be low and zero carbon by 2030. Commuting emissions therefore persist beyond 2030.
The CCC estimates that in 2030 69% of new buses sold will be zero carbon s. Assuming a linear rise from 2021 to 2030
and a 15-year vehicle life suggests that 5% of bus fleets will be zero carbon in 2025 increasing to 23% in 2030. Emissions
from bus commuting reduce accordingly. The CCC assumes that nationally there is little change in rail electrification
between 2020 and 2030 (41% to 44%). Emissions from trains serving Exeter therefore do not reduce over this period.

5.4 Target for 2030
Projections suggest a reduction in the emissions from transport from 1,108 to 331 tCO2e in 2030 (-68%). The projections
are based on:






A Covid bounceback in staff travel to pre pandemic levels before 2025
The vehicle replacement programme acquiring 100% electric vehicles between now and 2030
Reductions in staff car grey fleet and commuting mileage by 3% to 2025 and an additional 3% between 2025
and 2030
Electrification of cars and busses used for staff commuting in line with national trends between now and 2030
Electrification of 25% of public and green space specialist and portable equipment between 2025 and 2030

Table 7 and Figure 17 show projected transport emissions for ECC in 2020, 2025 and 2030.

r
s

Sixth Carbon Budget, Charts and data in the report, CCC, 2021 (surface transport key assumptions & charts 3.1b and B2.2)
Sixth Carbon Budget, Charts and data in the report, CCC, 2021 (surface transport key assumptions)

Page30 72

Table 7: ECC transport emissions in 2020, 2025 and 2030 (including WTT emissions)
Category
ECC fleet
Red diesel
Equipment
Grey fleet
Car commuting
Bus commuting
Rail commuting
Electricity sold for EV charging
Total
% change from 2020/21

2020/21
t CO2e

830
94
31
16
17
6
1
23
1018

2025/26
t CO2e

552
94
31
18
135
59
9
23
921
-10%

2030/31
t CO2e

89
76
25
9
58
42
9
23
331
-68%

2020
%

82%
9%
3%
2%
2%
1%
0%
2%
100%

2025
%

60%
10%
3%
2%
15%
6%
1%
2%
100%

2030
%

27%
23%
8%
3%
17%
13%
3%
7%
100%

Figure 17: ECC transport emissions in 2020, 2025 and 2030 (including WTT emissions) in absolute
and percentage terms

31
Page
73

Figure 18 shows the measures that contribute to the reduction in each 5-year period.

Figure 18: Measures to reduce ECC transport emissions to 2025 and 2030 (including WTT emissions)

Page32 74

6 Procurement
6.1 Detailed sector summary
Emissions from procurement are the most significant part of ECC’s footprint at 32,380 t CO2e, 61% of total 2020/21
emissions. Emissions from procurement span a broad range of activities and include capital and revenue spend. The
total spent by ECC (excluding distribution of business grants) for 2020/21 was £77.2 million. This is an order of
magnitude larger than the amount used for the footprint in 2018/19, which did not capture all Council spending.
£3.2 million (4%) of the £77.2 million 2020/21 spend was on suppliers whose emissions are captured in the footprint
using better direct data (e.g. energy companies and Strata whose emissions are included in building energy use). The
remaining 96% of spend does not have any specific carbon emission data associated with it and requires the use of
much less accurate proxy emission factor as detailed in Annex E of the Government’s Environmental Reporting
Guidelines. This allocates suppliers to sectors within the UK economy and applies a kg CO2/£ spent factor to determine
emissions. Figure 19 shows the results. Approximately 60% of emissions are from construction activities, 18% from
“unallocated” spend (see next paragraph), and the remaining 22% from specific sectors that are likely to be mainly
revenue spend.
This simplified spend method is helpful in providing an initial approximation of potential impact from procurement, but
beyond this there are numerous critical disadvantages to the approach. Firstly, there is significant potential to
misallocate the sector to the supplier. Without the capture of sector specific information as part of the procurement
process, manual sector assignment takes place as part of the production of the footprint. The data contains nearly 9,000
entries for the year and so it is not possible to allocate all of them manually. Instead, manual assignment was limited to
items over £50,000 identifying 129 suppliers and capturing 82% of spend. The remaining 18% of spend was labelled as
“unallocated” and an emission factor applied based on the average of all allocated spend. Even for those suppliers that
are manually allocated, there is sometimes ambiguity as to which was the most suitable sector, and sometimes a
supplier may be providing goods or services spanning more than one sector within the contract.
A further issue with this approach is that because emissions are based on spend multiplied by an emission factor (that
is out of the control of ECC), the only way to “reduce” calculated emissions would be to spend less. Whilst sometimes
this would be genuinely beneficial (both from a financial and environmental perspective e.g., by increasing the amount
that is re-used within the organisation), it also by definition penalises spending more on “better” products e.g., those
with lower upfront embodied or lifecycle emissions (or costs).
Finally, the emission factors themselves are crude and dated. Annex E of the Environmental Reporting Guidelines still
uses factors from 2009, and whilst there have been some revisions to emission factors since, many originate from the
same data (and are not internally consistent), or remap the sectors, with high discrepancies between emission factors
within sectors (shown in Figure 20). For example, the emission factor for the Construction sector (the largest ECC
category by spend) is four times greater in the 2009 Environmental Reporting Guidelines than in the 2017 UK Carbon
Footprint to the point where it is not apparent whether the scope of these two emission factors is truly comparable.
Within ECC’s spend, approximately half has been allocated to Construction, though within this there is considerable
diversity, for example the construction of the new St. Sidwell’s Point swimming pool complex as well as various
maintenance contracts. The carbon impact of these activities will clearly be different (even on a kg CO2/£ spent basis),
and in particular “big ticket” construction projects are not predictable on a year-to-year basis (and ECC’s capital budget
is agreed up to 5 years in advance). This means that determining the procurement footprint from year to year and
particularly for a year as far away as 2030 is not possible as it strongly depends on what might be built in that year. For
example, in 2020/21, £28.4 million (37% of total annual spend resulting in 43% of procurement emissions) was paid to
the contractor of St. Sidwell’s Point.

33
Page
75

Figure 19: Sector breakdown of spend and resulting emissions for all spend that does not have direct emission data
associated with it i.e., 96% of ECC’s total spend

Figure 20: Scope 3 procurement emission factors from various sources filtered to show only categories where data is
estimated for each source

Page34 76

6.2 National policy framework
Current national policy does not address directly ECC’s procurement activities. However, there are several indirect policy
areas that should improve data quality and emissions reduction including:









Major contracts to Central Government requiring quantification of carbon impact. Whilst this will not directly
affect ECC, the policy is helpful in readying supply chains more generally.
The SECR (Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting) regulations now require large companies t to disclose their
annual greenhouse gas emissions and intensity ratio (e.g., kg CO2/£ spent). This should enable much more
specific information to be available from those suppliers, in addition to providing incentive to those suppliers
to reduce those emissions year on year.
The greenhouse gas aspects of Building Regulations for new buildings have to date focussed on operational
energy performance, and even the proposed “Future Homes Standard” changes planned for 2025 will still only
consider operational emissions. However, there is a growing realisation of the need to include embodied
emissions, and there are several emerging guidelines that cover embodied emissions being adopted in local
planning policy, notably in London through the “London Energy Transformation Initiative” (LETI)u. As this issue
gains prominence, consultants and contractors will have higher levels of readiness to measure and reduce
embodied emissions from construction projects.
Whilst the kg CO2/£ spent emission factors are unreliable, there are an increasing number of private sector
organisations who are developing products and services that aim to plug this gap, and it is expected that these
should be more widely available over the period to ECC’s planned decarbonisation in 2030.
The general decarbonisation of the UK and global economies should have knock-on effects on all procurement
by ECC. For example, all ECC’s suppliers will benefit from the reducing carbon intensity of the electricity grid,
just as ECC is.

6.3 Opportunities
Improve data capture
“You can’t manage what you can’t measure”. At present, the quality of procurement GHG emissions data is poor, as is
the default condition for organisations nationally. Only 4% of the council’s spend can be converted to greenhouse gas
emissions using direct measurement (e.g., units of energy consumed rather than amount spent on energy). The
remaining 96% is based on an inaccurate spend method. To improve data capture so that year-on-year quantification
of procurement emissions are both meaningful and provide incentives for ongoing reduction, it is recommended that
all suppliers for new contracts exceeding £50,000 (in 2020/21 this captured 82% of all spend) should be required to
state the associated greenhouse gas emissions with that contract for each financial year. For large organisations, this
information should be readily available due to their obligations under the SECR regulations. Small and medium
organisations should be encouraged to provide similar information as part of their own commitments to mitigate
climate change. Where this is not available, as a minimum suppliers should provide the corresponding sector for spend
to minimise the effort and error associated with manual allocation, and this information be recorded in procurement
records.

Consider the need for new buildings
Construction was by far the most significant sector for greenhouse gas emissions from procurement, with 54% of spend
on items where emissions were calculated using the spend method, and 60% of the overall emissions. St. Sidwell’s point
dominated with 43% of all procurement emissions. Clearly, constructing new buildings has the potential to be a

t
u

Turnover more than £36 million, balance sheet over £18 million, or more than 250 employees.
https://www.leti.london/
35
Page
77

significant contributor to the Council’s footprint. Questioning the need for new buildings, as opposed to reorganising,
extending the life of, or refurbishing existing assets, results in lower environmental impact (see Figure 21).
Unlike general operations of the Council where emissions arise annually (e.g., fuel use in buildings and vehicles, spend
on ongoing services), construction projects result in embodied emissions in the year of construction (and if the whole
life cycle is considered, at regular maintenance periods and at the end of life/demolition). Therefore, the impact in any
given year is highly dependent on what (if anything) is constructed in that year. The projected scenario assumes that St.
Sidwell’s Point is a one off. However, when there are other non-residential construction projects they will contribute
additionally to the footprint.
An annual pipeline of 100 homes delivered by the Council is included.

Figure 21: Carbon reduction potential of various build strategies 20

Follow circular economy principles
Where a need for new goods and services is demonstrated, it is important to follow circular economy principles to
minimise environmental impact. Figure 22 compares a linear and circular approach. Following a hierarchy of repair,
reuse, remanufacture, and recycle, goods are involved in one less part of the value chain each time, leading to
significantly reduced environmental impact. It is important that, as per the recommendation to improve data capture,
circular economy decisions are taken with good quality data, i.e. from the suppliers. Failure to do so may result in simply
looking to spend the lowest amount possible (as this returns the lowest emissions using the simple spend method),
when sometimes solutions with higher upfront costs have lower lifecycle emissions (and potentially overall costs too).
Greenhouse gas emissions should be a determining factor alongside cost and quality considerations when awarding
new contracts. It is recognised that it is not straightforward to do this for existing contracts, but by 2030 most contracts
in place will be new.

Page36 78

Figure 22: Circular Economy Principles, compared to existing Linear Economy (Source LETI 21)
Whilst for most sectors or products and services there are no specific standards that can be applied to set targets or
requirements through procurement, the construction of new buildings (which is the most significant source of emissions
for the Council) is a notable exception. LETI have produced benchmarks for different building types as shown in Figure
23 shown on an A++ to G scale. A rating of E is equivalent to business as usual. The assumption is that this is how
buildings would otherwise be constructed in Exeter. The upfront-embodied carbon for new homes for an E rated
building is 850 kg CO2e/m2 as opposed to 300 kg CO2e/m2 for an A rated building (the LETI 2030 target) or
100 kg CO2e/m2 for A++. This demonstrates the significance of construction emissions, and the potential savings
compared to business as usual were ECC to construct new buildings to higher standards. The assumption in the
trajectory is that by 2025 the 100 new homes annually are built to an A rating and that all other construction achieves
a similar equivalent reduction in emissions. By 2030 the target is increased to A++.
Interestingly, if it is assumed that the build cost of a new dwelling is £1,750/m 2 (at the lower end of the market), then
an E rating implies 0.49 kg CO2/£ spent which is the same as the emission factor used for construction when using the
simple spend method. Ratings of A and A++ (at the same build cost) result in 0.17 kg CO2/£ spent and 0.06 kg CO2/£
spent respectively, highlighting the potential limitations of using the spend method alone.

Figure 23: Upfront and lifecycle embodied carbon for different building typologies (Source: LETI)

37
Page
79

It is much less easy to specify targets for other parts of ECC’s procurement. Most of ECC’s spend is on services rather
than goods, and it is therefore assumed that most suppliers are based nationally and that their emissions arise in the
UK. For all spend on goods and services other than construction, the scenario assumes that emissions from those
contracts fall in the same proportion as the CCC identify in their Sixth Carbon Budget report to 2030. There is clearly a
much higher chance of this being realised in practice if ECC obligates suppliers to provide contract specific emissions
data, and uses this in the contract selection process.

6.4 Target for 2030
Projections suggest a reduction in the emissions from procurement from 32,380 to 9,658 tCO2e in 2030 (-70%). The
projections are based on:





Improving data capture, as an enabling measure that will both improve the accuracy of the footprint and
provide the foundations for incentivising suppliers to reduce their emissions.
Making use of existing assets before committing to new construction projects.
Setting firm embodied carbon targets (A by 2025 and A++ by 2030) for all new Construction projects.
Using greenhouse gas emissions as part of the selection process for new suppliers capturing all contracts (not
just Construction), with the aim of decarbonising these contracts at least as fast as the UK’s general
decarbonisation trajectory.

Figure 24 shows projected emissions from procurement for ECC in 2020, 2025 and 2030.

Figure 24: Measures to reduce ECC procurement emissions to 2025 and 2030

Page38 80

7 F gas and waste
7.1 Detailed sector summary
This section only considers ECC’s own waste and F-gas emissions, not the waste it collects or the F-gas emitted in the
city.
The City Council makes provision for recycling in its offices and composts much if it parks and green space material.
However, the current footprint has no waste volume and composition data available for calculating emissions from
waste and limited information on F gases. The management of these emission sources requires the collection of data
to measure how much of what waste types ECC disposes of and a complete F gas inventory.
An initial estimate of waste emissions can be made using the number of staff employed (635 v) together with an estimate
of waste generated per person (200 kg/yearw), resulting in 127 tonnes/year. Table 8 shows estimated GHG emissions
for landfill and non-landfill disposal (assuming 60% of the waste is paper).
Table 8: Estimated ECC corporate waste emissions for landfill and non-landfill disposal
Amount t/year

Emissions factor kg CO2e/tonne

Waste type

GHG emissions t CO2e

LF disposal

Non- LF disposal

LF disposal

Non- LF disposal

Paper kg

76

1041

21

79.3

1.6

Residual kg

51

467

21

23.7

1.1

Total

127

103.1

2.7

The table illustrates the relatively small contribution of waste emission to the organisational footprint.
Some information on F gases is available from the leisure sites. Although the surveys are not complete, the information
available, combined with assumptions about the missing data points, provides estimated emissions for the Riverside
and Arena sites (see Table 9).
Table 9: Estimated F gas emission from the Riverside and Arena leisure sites
Leisure site
Riverside

No. of
units
13

Refrigerant
type
R410A

Weight
kg
84.5

GWP
kg CO2e/kg
2,088

11

R407C

64.9

1,774

3%

3.5

1

R32

2.6

677

3%

0.1

1

R224

9.3

587

3%

0.2

Riverside total

26

Arena

2

Total leisure

28

Leak
ratex
3%

t CO2e
5.3

9.0
R32

5.2

677

3%

0.1
9.1
0.3

Average per unit

v

Email correspondence 30 July 2020
There is a dearth of data on commercial waste. This estimate and the 60% paper assumption is from a 2013 source which
references 2004 data and both may well be outdated (see
https://cundall.com/Cundall/fckeditor/editor/images/UserFilesUpload/file/WCIYB/IP-6%20%20CO2e%20emissions%20due%20to%20office%20waste.pdf).
x
From DEFRA Environmental Reporting Guidelines
w

39
Page
81

Satellite images of other ECC buildings suggest that there may be a total of 27 condenser units on the Civic Centre,
RAMM and the Corn Exchange buildings. If these units have the same average emissions as the leisure sites, emissions
from these other ECC buildings are estimated at 8.7 t CO2e giving total estimated annual F Gas emissions of 17.8 t CO2e

7.2 National policy framework
National waste policy primarily addresses municipal waste rather than waste generated by organisations which is
classified as commercial and industrial (C&I) waste.
In the Sixth Carbon Budget, where waste forms 6% of baseline GHG emissions in 2020, the CCC’s Balanced Net Zero
Pathway calls for:






Waste prevention and reduction including a 50 % reduction in edible waste by 2030 (vs 2007)
Increased recycling rates to above 70% (currently households 45% and C&I ~55%)
Installation of carbon capture and storage at EfW plants
Improved landfill methane capture, banning biodegradable waste from 2025 and ceasing landfill by 2040
Waste water and composting improvements

National data on commercial and industrial (C&I) waste, which makes up the majority of UK waste, is very poor.
Publication of C&I arisings data is sporadic (every 2-3 years) and composition and recycling data is not collected. The
Government’s recent Net Zero Strategy22y does not refer to C&I waste.
Emissions factors for most wastes are low with the recycling and EfW disposal for all categories of waste (refuse,
electrical, metal, plastic and paper) assigned a factor of 21.3 kg CO2e/tonne. Factors for anaerobic digestion and landfill
of non-biodegradable waste are lower at 9.0 kg CO2e/tonne. Higher factors are assigned to landfill of C&I refuse (467
kg CO2e/tonne) with landfill of paper the highest at 1,042 kg CO2e/tonne. Avoiding landfill is important.
The same is not true for F gases, some of which (Sulphur hexafluoride [SF6]) have emission factors 22,800 times that of
CO2. Regulation is the main tool for national reductions in F gas emissions. Current regulations require a range of
measures to reduce emissions, including controls on what gases are on the market, product bans, leak checks and
mandatory certification for handlers of F gases. The regulations target a 79% reduction in consumption from 2015 levels
by 2030. F gas regulations are currently under review with the potential that the revised regulations may go further.

7.3 Opportunities
Once the Council’s corporate waste leaves its premises it enters a policy vacuum. This argues for strong action on waste
prevention, reduction and recycling in-house. The first priority is to obtain accurate waste data. Waste data may be
available from the City Council’s waste collection contractor. Alternatively, estimates require records of the numbers of
containers and collection frequencies. The aim should be for an annual ECC waste report that includes:





Total tonnes per annum
A breakdown into categories by weight (e.g. paper, glass, aluminium, plastics, WEEE, aggregates, hazardous
etc.)
The final destination of the waste reported (e.g. 30% re-used , 50% recycled, 10% incinerated with energy
recovery, 10% to landfill)
The above will form a base year against which targets can be set to measure the effect of waste prevention
activities and recycling initiatives.

In the absence of this data it is not possible to identify specific opportunities for emission reduction. However, Table 8
emphasises the immediate attraction of using a contractor that can guarantee no waste going to landfill.

y

Page40 82

The recommended approach to F gases is contained in Annex C of the Government’s Environmental Reporting
Guidelines, which provide the recommended method for assessing emissions. This requires an inventory of
refrigeration, air conditioning and heat pump equipment that records for each item: the refrigerant type, the charge
capacity and the time in use during the reporting period. A comprehensive survey of ECC’s assets is required to collect
the information which can them be used to plan an F gas reduction programme.
Looking ahead, good record keeping will be essential as the installation of heat pumps in homes and non-domestic
buildings will inevitably lead to an increase in F gas emissions. The calculation of F gas emission increases are on the
basis that every home in ECC’s stock where a heat pump is installed increases the R32 refrigerant inventory by 2.2 kg
and that there is a 3% annul leak rate. The GWP of R32 is about one third of the currently commonly used R410a. It is
important to specify lower GWP refrigerants for new heat pump installations.
Section 4.3.7 assesses the deployment of heat pumps in council owned homes. There are currently 10 homes with heat
pumps. Looking ahead, the 1,000 new homes built evenly either side of 2025 will have heat pumps. After 2025, 4,495
existing homes will have heat pumps installed prior to 2030. Leakage from these appliances give rise to additional
emissions of 23 t CO2e in 2025 and a further 223 t CO2e in 2030. Heat pumps in in non-domestic buildings are also
responsible for some leakage.

7.4 Target for 2030
Projections suggest an increase in the emissions from waste and F gases from 21 to 252 tCO2e in 2030 (+1104%).
As reliable information on the amount of ECC’s waste and F gases is not currently available, the immediate target is to
quantify ECC’s own waste volumes and the Council’s full inventory of F gas.
Projections of GHG emissions are based on:






The assumption that none of ECC’s corporate operational waste is landfilled
No future changes in waste volumes or disposal methods
All existing F gas appliances with high GWP F gas will be replaced or recharged with R32 before 2025
Heat pumps deployed in 1,000 new build and 4,499 existing ECC homes by 2030 leading to a 245 t CO2e rise in
F gas emissions
Heat pumps deployed in ECC non-domestic buildings between 2025 and 2030

Figure 25 shows projected emissions form the waste and F gas sector to 2030.

Figure 25: ECC’s projected emissions from the waste and F gas sector in 2020, 2025 and 2030
41
Page
83

8 Renewable energy
8.1 Detailed sector summary
The City Council has been an exemplar in the deployment of solar photovoltaic (PV) arrays. ECC currently has some 2
MW of PV capacity on its estate which exported z 1,459 MWh of electricity in 2020/21 offsetting 340 t CO2e (as shown
in Table 10).
Table 10: Electricity production, own use and CO2 emissions offset from ECC’s current PV installations
Array size

Civic Centre

70

71

71

0

CO2 offset
2020/21
(tCO2e)
0.0

Oakwood House

22

22

11

11

2.6

Ark

40

41

41

0

0.0

MRF

50

51

51

0

0.0

8

8

7

2

0.4

25

25

19

7

1.6

MA Car Park

150

152

0

152

35.4

JL Car Park

122

124

14

109

25.5

Wat Tyler

26

26

15

11

2.7

Climb Centre

29

29

12

17

4.0

1,500

1,519

369

1,150

268.1

2,042

2,068

608

1,459

340.2

Site
(kW)

Belle Isle
RAMM

Livestock Centre
Total

Estimated
generation
(MWh)

Estimated own
use (MWh)

Export 2020/21
(MWh)

ECC’s estate is not suitable for the installation of other types of renewable energy on a material scale. This section will
therefore consider PV only.
The efficiency of PV panels deteriorates over time with most manufacturers providing a guarantee that the panel will
retain 80% of its generating capacity after 20 years of service. This equates to an annual decrease of 20√0.8 = 0.989 for
each year of operation. This factor is included in projections of PV generation.
The continuing fall in grid electricity emission factors means that future offsets will gradually reduce. In 2030 the grid
emission factor is projected to have fallen from the current 0.233 kg CO2e/kWh to 0.065 kg CO2e/kWh so, while
renewable electricity generation with a business case will continue to be financially attractive and resource effective,
its role in offsetting carbon emission reductions in other sectors will decline. For example, the export of 1.46 GWh in
2030 will offset 94 t CO2e, a reduction of 72% compared to the 340 t CO2e offset in 2020.

8.2 National policy framework
National policy no longer incentivises the installation of PV which must be justified on its own business case and, while
the Sixth Carbon Budget discusses the role of ground mounted PV in contributing to the electricity system, buildingbased PV, because of its relatively small scale in a national context, is not referred to.

z

Electricity generated by PV is also consumed on site. Self-consumption is accounted for in carbon terms by deducting it from overall
electricity consumption.

Page42 84

8.3 Opportunities
Non-domestic PV
The City Council’s is currently developing a 1,200 kWp ground mounted array at Water Lane and a 160 kWp array on
the roof of the Riverside leisure facility.
Potential future non-domestic schemes comprise two larger ground-based arrays and six rooftop systems. However,
there are considerable uncertainties over the timing of future schemes caused by scarce in-house resources, variability
in the factors contributing to the business cases, the future of some buildings in the ECC property portfolio and the
difficulties in gaining timely access to the electricity grid.
Table 11 summarises the currently identified potential future non-domestic opportunities and the assumed installation
periods.
Table 11:ECC’s currently identified non–domestic PV opportunities
PV capacity kWp

Site

Assumed installation period

200

2020-25

ISCA

40

2025-30

Arena

50

2025-30

ECFC

30

2025-30

Corn Exchange

30

2025-30

RAMM

30

2025-30

University fields (Streatham)

2000

2025-30

Water lane II

2600

2025-30

Guildhall

Total

4,980

Figure 26 shows the estimated own use and export generation from non-domestic PV to 2030 categorised into
existing, under development and future build.

Figure 26: Projections of ECC’s current, under development and future non-domestic PV generation
43
Page
85

GHG emissions offset through own use and export of non-domestic PV generation is summarised in Figure 27.

Figure 27: Projections of GHG emissions offsetaa by non-domestic PV generation
Figure 27 shows the impact of the reduction in the grid emissions factor; the business cases for a 300% increase in
total generation in 2030 (from 2020) will deliver a financial benefit, add local energy resilience and a hedge against
rising energy prices but results in a limited (9%) increase in total offset emissions.
Generated electricity that is self-consumed in buildings is accounted for by reducing the amount of imported grid
electricity. The amount of electricity identified as offset is the net amount exported to the grid from the buildings.

Domestic PV
ECC’s housing stock currently has an estimated 296 homes with PV arrays installed. Estimated current generation is 554
GWh of which 199 MWh is self-consumed and 355 MWh exported. The deployment of roof mounted domestic PV to
2025 and 2030 is described in sections 4.3.4 and 4.3.9.
By 2025 the number of existing homes with PV is estimated to grow by 1,193 from 296 properties to 1,498 and by a
further 1,193 to 2,682 in 2030. A corresponding proportion of the 1,000 new homes built by 2030 also have PV
installations.
Figure 28 shows the estimated own use and export generation from domestic PV to 2030 categorised into current PV
on existing homes, future PV on existing homes and future PV on new homes.

aa

Note that own use of PV generation is deducted from electricity use and export emissions provide offset credit

Page44 86

Figure 28: Projections of ECC’s current and future domestic PV generation
GHG emissions offset through own use and export of domestic PV generation is summarised in Figure 29.

Figure 29: Projections of GHG emissions offsetbb by domestic PV generation

bb

Note that own use of PV generation is deducted from electricity use and export emissions provide offset credit
45
Page
87

PV summary
Figure 30 and Figure 31 show the generation and emissions offset for all PV, non-domestic and domestic.

Figure 30: Projections of non-domestic and domestic PV generation

Figure 31: Projections of emissions offsetcc by non-domestic and domestic PV
cc

Note that own use PV generation is deducted from electricity use and export emissions provide offset credit

Page46 88

8.4 Target for 2030
Projections suggest an increase in the reduction in emissions due to the export of renewable energy from -432 to -756
tCO2e in 2030 (79%). The projections for GHG offsets arising from electricity export from ECC’s PV investments are based
on:





The completion of the current Water Lane (1,200 kWp) and Riverside (160 kWp) PV projects
The commissioning of one export roof mounted project (30 kWp) between 2025 and 2030
Two further ground mounted projects between 2025 and 2030 totalling 4,600 kWp capacity
The installation of roof mounted PV on 2,386 additional existing homes and a similar proportion of 1,000 new
council homes built between 2020 and 2025.

Figure 32 shows the resulting export PV generation and export offsets. It should be noted that own use PV generation
is deducted from electricity consumption.

Figure 32 : PV export generation and GHG offset (in MWh and t CO2e respectively on the same scale)
Export generation rises 545% between 2020 and 2030 whereas offset emissions rise only 79% from 423 t CO2e to 756
t CO2e over the same period. This is mostly due to the significant reduction in the projected grid emissions factor. Figure
33 shows projected emissions from ECC PV in 2020, 2025 and 2030.

Figure 33: Measures to increase ECC PV export offset emissions to 2025 and 2030
47
Page
89

9 Land use change - afforestation
9.1 Detailed sector summary
Land use is not included as part of ECC’s footprint as the assumtion is made that the use of ECC’s land does not change
significanlty from its current use.
ECC owns 162 hectares of greenspace in the city’s Valley Parks which are managed by the Devon Wildflfe Trust (see
Table 12). In addition the City Council manages other greenspace arround the city. The total area of parks and
greenspace is estimated at some 409 ha.
Exeter Valley Park

Area ha

Ludwell Valley Park

80

Riverside Valley Park

40

Mincinglake Valley Park

19

Barley Valley Park

11

Duryard & Belvidere Valley Park

11

Whitycombe Valley Park

1
162

Total

Table 12: The areas of Exeter’s Valley Parks dd
Additional planting creates beneficial land use change (LUC) that the potential to offset the council’s GHG emissions.
Evaluation of the offset potential is based on data from the Sixth Carbon Budget, which provides GHG savings from
planting different types of biomass (see Figure 34).

Figure 34 GHG savings from planting different types of biomass (source CCC)

dd

Source Devon Wildlife Trust

Page48 90

9.2 National policy framework
National policy initiatives for tree planting include:




The 2016 Woodland Carbon Fund for England, which provides £19 million for woodland planting and
maintenance.
The £640 million Nature for Climate Fund announced in the 2020 budget, part of which will deliver the
Government's manifesto commitment to plant 30,000 hectares per year of new woodland in the UK by 2025.
DEFRA’s Woodland Carbon Guarantee scheme, which is designed to increase private sector investment.

9.3 Opportunities
Figure 35 and Figure 36 show the GHG offset achieved from planting different proportions of the 409ha of Valley
Parks and greenspace with broadleaf trees and conifers respectively. Planting is assumes to take place evenly over the
years between 2022 and 2030.

Figure 35: GHG offset from planting varying proportions of Valley Parks and greenspace with broadleaf woodland

Figure 36: GHG offset from planting varying proportions of Valley Parks and greenspace with conifer woodland
The analysis shows that the if the Valley Parks and greenspace were completely planted with conifers between now and
2030 they have the potential to offset 4,855 t CO2e or 9% of ECC’s current emissions.
49
Page
91

9.4 Target for 2030
Projections suggest a reduction in the emissions due to afforestation of -829 tCO2e in 2030. The projections are based
on 25% of the area of the Valley Parks and greenspace (102 ha) being planted with broadleaf woodland between 2022
and 2030. A planting density of 2,000 trees/ha means the addition of 205,000 trees by 2030.
Figure 37 shows the projected ECC GHG emissions offset by afforestation in 2002, 2025 and 2030.

Figure 37: Afforestation measures to offset emissions to 2025 and 2030

Page50 92

10 All sectors
Table 13 gives a summary of ECC’s GHG emissions for 2020/21 and projections for 2025 and 2030 across all sectors.
Sector
Non domestic
Housing
Transport
Procurement
F-gas and waste
Renewables
LUC afforestation
Total

2020/21
t CO2e

2025
t CO2e

2030
t CO2e

2,236

2,503

602

17,319

15,650

1,916

1,018

921

331

32,380

15,450

9,658

21

28

252

-423

-699

-756

0

-50

-829

52,551

33,803

11,174

Trend

Table 13: Sector emissions projection summary for ECC
Overall, the projections suggest a reduction in emissions from 52,551 to 11,154 tCO2e in 2030 (79%). Figure 38 shows
the projected emissions for all sectors for 2020, 2025 and 2030.

Figure 38: Projected emission for all sectors for 2020, 2025 and 2030
Scope 3 procurement and housing emission dominate. Procurement of goods and services, the sector the council
perhaps has least control over, accounts for 61% of emissions in 2020 rising to 76% in 2030ee. Housing currently
contributes a third of emissions although its share falls to 15% in 2030 due to the implementation of extensive carbon
reduction measures across the stock.
The dominance of these sectors must not distract attention from the emissions in other sectors where the Council has
the ability to make progress. Figure 39 summarises emissions, in absolute and percentage terms, for all sectors, all
sectors less procurement and all sectors less procurement and housing. These graphics highlight, for example, the
potential for progress in non-domestic buildings, the contribution of offsets and the challenge of restraining F gas
emissions as the number of heat pumps rise.

ee

Emission percentages in this section exclude offset emission sectors
51
Page
93

All sectors

All sectors less procurement

All sectors less procurement and housing

Figure 39: Absolute and percentage GHG emissions by sector for 2020, 2025 and 2030 for all sectors, all sectors less
procurement and all sectors less procurement and housing

Page52 94

11 Conclusions
The improved data and detailed methodologies in this study, combined with changes in activity levels, have significantly
affected the 2020/21 footprint, particularly indirect (Scope 3) emissions which have risen by over 500% from 2018/19
and are now double direct emissions (Scope 1 and 2).
Indirect emissions from external sources are inevitably those over which ECC has least control and, while it is important
to take steps to influence indirect emissions, this should not overly divert attention from reducing direct emissions
where the Council is in control.
Direct emissions have fallen 3.7% over 2 years. However, this rate of decline is a sixth of the 11.1% annual reduction
needed to meet net zero by 2030.
The combination of highly aggressive carbon reduction measures included in the projections indicate the potential to
reduce 2020/21 net emissions from 52,551 t CO2e to 11,174 t CO2e a reduction of 79%. Indirect emissions from
procurement dominate the residual 2030 emissions (76%). Excluding procurement, residual emissions fall 92% from
20,171 t CO2e to 1,516 t CO2e with housing the largest remaining emitter (62%). Offset of residual emissions through
the purchase of Pending Issuance Units (PIU) for UK Woodland Carbon Units (see Appendix 3), assuming an average
cost of £13.5 per t CO2e, would cost £151k and £20k respectively. Alternatively, based on the land use change analysis
in Section 9, direct coniferous tree planting between now and 2030 of 941 ha or 128 ha respectively achieves these
offsets.
Annual assessment of the council’s GHG emissions to identify the changes that have taken place each year will enable
the evaluation and updating of the actions required to deliver net zero.
Achieving net zero, whether nationally, locally or organisationally requires broad action cross all sectors. The projections
for ECC show that delivering net zero in a timeframe as tight as 2030 is challenging.

53
Page
95

Appendix 1: Scope 2 (purchased electricity) GHG accounting methods
The method used for calculation Scope 2 (purchased electricity) emissions in this report follows the UK Government
Environmental Reporting Guidelines1 and adopts the GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2.
The Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard issued by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development
(WBCSD) and the World Resources Institute (WRI)(see https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/ghgprotocol-revised.pdf) gives two alternative GHG accounting methods for Scope 2:
Location-based
The location-based method reflects the average emissions intensity of the electricity grids on which energy
consumption occurs using grid-average emission factor data (as per the approach adopted in this report). The
location-based approach socialises the benefit or renewable energy to all electricity consumers on the grid.
Market-based
The market-based method allows any type of contractual agreement, which ensures the reporting organisation
pays for the same amount of renewable electricity as it consumes in a given year, to attribute its electricity
emissions to zero. The market-based approach give priority access to renewable energy to those with contracts
to acquire it.
To be mutually consistent in a single grid area, such as the UK, the UK grid emissions factor would need to be calculated
excluding the renewable energy acquired under market-based agreements. This is not the case and therefore, on a
national basis, the emissions reduction from renewables connected to the grid is, to the extent UK organisations are
using the market-based method, being taken twice. Consequently, the templates provided in the UK Environmental
Reporting Guidelines state that it is mandatory to report location-based Scope 2 emissions. Duplicate market-based
reporting is optional.
ECC’s electricity supplier provides ring fenced Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin (REGO) certification for the power
it purchases which it states “will not be allocated or counted against any other claim”. Using the market based method
in the WBSC and WRI standard this would allow ECC to account for its Scope 2 electricity as zero emissions. This could
also be show alongside the location-based emissions under the UK guidelines.
A briefing note for the CCC23 expresses concerns about the market-based method and the use of REGOs. It states that
the method does not guarantee that an organisation acquiring renewable energy is actually reducing emissions within
the wider system as contracts do not specify that new renewable generation needs to occur as a result of the
procurement contract, concluding that “in the UK, there is limited potential for independent procurement to actually
lead to new generation” i.e. there is no additionality. On REGOs the document concludes that “the REGO system and,
overall, the green tariff system cannot be considered as a support system to drive new renewable generation. For this
reason, green tariffs rarely create additionality – meaning, they rarely lead to any decarbonisation of the system.”
It should be noted that under the when reporting under Environmental Reporting Guidelines using the market-based
method, organisations are restricted in reporting offsets from exported own renewable generation that would have the
effect of creating overall negative emissions from electricity.

Page54 96

Appendix 2: Exeter City Council GHG emissions by scope in tonnes CO2e
Exeter City Council Inventory of GHG Emissions by Scope (tCO2e)
No.

Category

2018/19

2020/21

As % of Gross Total
2018/19 2020/21

SCOPE 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals

12,541

13,139

52.1%

24.8%

1 . Sta tio n a ry co mb u stio n

1 1 ,8 6 3

1 2 ,3 5 2

4 9 .3 %

2 3 .3 %

24
57
147
272
121
31
257
25
78
64
46
10,740
0
0

13
50
61
135
37
20
220
22
86
0
140
11,535
6
26

0.1%
0.2%
0.6%
1.1%
0.5%
0.1%
1.1%
0.1%
0.3%
0.3%
0.2%
44.6%
0.0%
0.0%

0.0%
0.1%
0.1%
0.3%
0.1%
0.0%
0.4%
0.0%
0.2%
0.0%
0.3%
21.8%
0.0%
0.0%

678

769

2 .8 %

1 .5 %

10
451
45
4
11
4
6
9
3
3
128
4

3
449
122
0
2
1
0
0
0
0
190
1

0.0%
1.9%
0.2%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.5%
0.0%

0.0%
0.8%
0.2%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.4%
0.0%

0

0

0 .0 %

0 .0 %

0

0

0.0%

0.0%

0

18

0 .0 %

0 .0 %

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

Exeter Arena
ISCA Centre
Nothbrook Pool
Pyramids
Riverside
Wonford
RAMM
Guildhall
Civic Centre
Corn Exchange
Other Buildings
Council Owned Homes - gas
Council Owned Homes - LPG
Council Owned Homes - solid fuel

2 . Own ed tra n sp o rt

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

Car Parking Services
Cleansing & Fleet Manager Refuse Trucks
Cleansing & Fleet Manager Other
Corporate Customer Services
Housing
Leisure and Museum Manager
Patrollers
Pool Car
Pool Van Engineering
Principal EHO
Public & Green Spaces
Waterways

3 . P ro cess emissio n s

3

Process emissions

4 . Fu g itiv e emissio n s

0

18

0.0%

0.0%

SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions

4

5,812

4,537

24.1%

8.6%

5 . Electricity

5 ,8 1 2

4 ,5 3 7

2 4 .1 %

8 .6 %

25
46
1
29
123
144
0
26
0
60
32
238
153
69
50
27
24
34
178
39
13
20
95
79
40
4,269

17
26
0
34
103
140
0
20
5
0
12
161
99
48
33
0
21
27
113
19
7
70
43
60
33
3,444

0.1%
0.2%
0.0%
0.1%
0.5%
0.6%
0.0%
0.1%
0.0%
0.2%
0.1%
1.0%
0.6%
0.3%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
0.7%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.4%
0.3%
0.2%
17.7%

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.1%
0.2%
0.3%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.3%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.0%
0.0%
0.1%
0.2%
0.0%
0.0%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
6.5%

SCOPE 3: Other indirect GHG emissions

5,724

35,297

23.8%

66.6%

6 . P u rch a sed ma teria l a n d fu el

4 ,3 1 6

3 ,6 6 4

1 7 .9 %

6 .9 %

1,032
3,284

804
2,860

4.3%
13.6%

1.5%
5.4%

179

32

0 .7 %

0 .1 %

17
106
48
8

13
13
5
1

0.1%
0.4%
0.2%
0.0%

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

0

3

0 .0 %

0 .0 %

0
0

2
1

0.0%
0.0%

0.0%
0.0%

1 ,2 1 8

3 1 ,5 7 6

5 .1 %

5 9 .6 %

1,218

31,576

5.1%

59.6%

11

23

0 .0 %

0 .0 %

11
24,077

23
52,974

0.0%
100.0%

0.0%
100.0%

-3 6 3

-4 2 3

-1 .5 %

-0 .8 %

0
-3
0
0
-1
-4
-40
-28
-3
-5
-280
0
23,714

0
-3
0
0
0
-2
-35
-26
-3
-4
-268
-83
52,551

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
-0.2%
-0.1%
0.0%
0.0%
-1.2%
0.0%
98.5%

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
-0.1%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
-0.5%
-0.2%
99.2%

5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5

6
6

F gases

Exeter Arena
ISCA Centre
Northbrook Golf
Nothbrook Pool
Pyramids
Riverside
Clifton Hill Sports Centre
Wonford
Leisure others
St Nicholas Priory
St Georges Market - Corn Exchange
RAMM
Civic Centre
MRF
Matford Livestock Centre
Cctv Control Centre
Oakwood House
Economy Site Others
Car Parks
Facilities Management
Public conveniences
Public Realm
Sheltered Accommodation
Tenant Services
UMS Energy
Council Owned Homes

Procured Goods
Well to Tank Emissions fuels

7 . Tra n sp o rt rela ted a ctiv ities

7
7
7
7

Staff mileage
Commute by car
Commute by bus
Commute by train

8 . Wa ste d isp o sa l

8
8

Paper
Residual waste

9 . Lea sed a ssets/fra n ch isin g /o u tso u rcin g

9

Procured Services

1 0 . So ld g o o d s a n d serv ices

10

Electric vehicle charging at Council car parks (kWh)

TOTAL GROSS FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3)
1 1 . Offset emissio n s

11
11
11
11
11
11
11
11
11
11
11
11

Civic Centre PV
Oakwood House PV
Ark PV
MRF PV
Belle IslePV
RAMMPV
MA Car Park PV
JL Car Park PV
Wat Tyler PV
Climb Centre PV
Livestock Centre PV
Council Owned Homes PV

TOTAL NET FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3 and Offsets)

55
Page
97

Appendix 3: Purchase of carbon offsets
Offsetting can be used where GHG reductions can be achieved more practically or cost effectively from external sources,
or where emissions are otherwise unavoidable. However, the effectiveness of carbon offsetting relies on the availability
of high quality schemes to reduce carbon emissions.
Definitions of ‘Good Quality’ criteria for carbon offset projects are provided in Government guidance on environmental
reportingff where the following criteria are highlighted:
•

Additionality – projects must demonstrate that the carbon saving would not have happened without the finance
provided by selling credits. This would exclude projects that might be required under legislation or for
compliance against legally binding targets.
• Avoiding leakage –projects must not cause an increase in carbon emissions elsewhere, the effects of leakage
may be experienced either in upstream or downstream emissions and must be accounted for.
• Permanence – projects must address the risk of becoming impermanent, the loss of forest through disease or
fire for example, would be expected to demonstrate actions to minimise and replace losses.
• Validation and verification - independent verification must come from an accredited, independent third party.
Those looking to purchase credits should carry out due diligence to check projects are implemented according
to the prescribed methodology and monitored to quantify emissions reductions.
• Timing – carbon credits should be ex-post i.e. they must only be issued once the emissions reduction has been
achieved.
• Avoiding double counting – a registry of credits awarded and cancelled must be maintained to avoid double
counting, this includes double counting against existing and mandatory targets.
• Transparency – registry information should be publicly-available and include project details, quantification
methodology, validation and verification procedures, credit ownership and date of retirement of credits.
Carbon Offsets that are Kyoto Protocol Compliant will have met all these criteria, be fully traceable and will have been
verified by the United Nations. Examples include the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) gg, the Joint Implementation
(JI)hh and European Union Allowances (EUA) which are traded through the EU Emissions Trading Scheme (EU ETS) ii.
Carbon credits from Voluntary Emission Reductions (VER) schemes that are not Kyoto Protocol compliant should provide
full documentation showing how the above criteria were met. Organisations that provide VER schemes include:
The Gold Standardjj, established in 2003 by the World Wildlife Fund (WWF) and other international NGOs to
develop projects that reduced carbon emissions while maintaining high levels of environmental integrity and
contributing to sustainable development goals
• The Verified Carbon Standard (VCS) kk developed by the Climate Group and International Emissions Trading
Association (IETA)
Projects offered under the Gold Standard are all based in developing countries and the cost of offsetting each tonne of
carbon varies between projects. Community based energy efficiency projects are available at 12 to 25 USD/tonne (8.5
to 17.6 GBP/tonne). These usually consist of cooking stove projects with some biogas and water projects. Other projects
are focussed on land use and nature based activities such as community forests, reforestation and biodiversity and cost
in the region of 18 to 34 USD/tonne (12.7 to 24.0 GBP/tonne). Renewable energy projects featuring wind, hydroelectric,
•

ff

www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-reporting-guidelines-including-mandatory-greenhouse-gas-emissionsreporting-guidance
gg
https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-kyoto-protocol/mechanisms-under-the-kyoto-protocol/the-clean-developmentmechanism
hh
https://unfccc.int/process/the-kyoto-protocol/mechanisms/joint-implementation
ii
https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets_en
jj
https://www.goldstandard.org/
kk
https://verra.org/project/vcs-program/

Page56 98

solar and biomass in India, Brazil, Indonesia and Honduras are 10 to 15 USD/tonne (7.0 to 10.6 GBP/tonne). A single
waste management project aimed at plastic recycling in Romania is 47 USD/tonne (33.1 GBP/tonne).
Projects that reduce UK territorial emissions are mostly based around tree planting and woodland and the most
established scheme for woodland projects is the Woodland Carbon Code ll (although there is an emerging scheme for
peatland restoration). Credits from verified projects are referred to as Woodland Carbon Units (WCU) and can be used
to report against UK based emissions. It is also possible to purchase a Pending Issuance Unit (PIU) which is the carbon
equivalent of a promissory note to deliver a carbon saving in the future. PIUs are based on anticipated carbon
sequestration and, as such are not guaranteed, so they cannot be used for official reporting purposes.

ll

https://woodlandcarboncode.org.uk/
57
Page
99

References
1

HM Government, Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance, 2019.

2

HM Government, GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (version 1.0), 2020.

3

HM Government, Sharing information on greenhouse gas emissions from council own estate and operations: Frequently asked
Questions, April 2014,
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/303310/sharing_informa
tion_greenhouse_gas_emissions_from_council_own_estate_operations_faqs.pdf

4

Climate Change Committee, The Sixth Carbon Budget, 2020. https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/.

5

Dan Curtis Energy, Degree day service, 2021 http://degreedaysdirect.com/monthly.htm

6

Committee on Climate Change, Net Zero Technical Report, 2019.

7

Committee on Climate Change, Net Zero Technical Report, 2019.

8

Climate Change Committee, Progress in reducing emissions: 2021 Report to Parliament, 2021.

9

D. Lash, SWEEG Internal Document 921, Opportunities for Investing in Energy Performance at Exeter City Council Leisure
Centres, 2016.

10

BEES, Building Energy Efficiency Survey, 2014–15: Overarching Report, BEIS. (2016).

11

BEIS, Guidance: Postcode level domestic gas and electricity consumption: notes, 2022,
www.gov.uk/government/publications/postcode-level-domestic-gas-and-electricity-consumption-about-the-data/postcodelevel-domestic-gas-and-electricity-consumption-notes

12

L. Blake, E.ON Sustainable Energy: 2012 Performance Summary, 2013.

13

MCS, MCS Guidance Document MGD 003: Determining the Electrical Self-Consumption of Domestic Solar Photovoltaic (PV)
Installations with and without Electrical Energy Storage, n.d. https://mcscertified.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/MGD-003Guidance-Note-Self-Consumption.pdf.

14

HM Government, Heat and buildings strategy, 2021, www.gov.uk/government/publications/heat-and-buildings-strategy

15

Climate
Change
Committee,
The
Sixth
Carbon
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/.

16

BEIS, Renewable heat incentive statistics, 2022, www.gov.uk/government/collections/renewable-heat-incentive-statistics

17

Currie & Brown, AECOM, The costs and benefits of tighter standards for new buildings, 2019. https://www.theccc.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/07/The-costs-and-benefits-of-tighter-standards-for-new-buildings-Currie-Brown-and-AECOM.pdf.

18

BEIS, National Energy Efficiency Data-Framework (NEED), 2021, www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-energyefficiency-data-need-framework

19

EST, Roof and loft insulation, 2022 https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/advice/roof-and-loft-insulation

20

H M Treasury, Infrastructure Carbon Review, 2013
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/260710/infrastructure_c
arbon_review_251113.pdf

21

LETI, Embodied carbon primer, 2020, https://www.leti.london/_files/ugd/252d09_8ceffcbcafdb43cf8a19ab9af5073b92.pdf

22

UK Government, “Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener” UK Government, 2021

23

Corporate procurement of renewable energy: Implications and considerations, Terri Willis, 2020,
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Corporate-Procurement-of-Renewable-Energy-Implications-andConsiderations-Terri-Wills.pdf

Page 58100

Budget:

Electricity

Generation,

2020.

Exeter City Council Corporate Net Zero Carbon Reduction Plan
2022 - 2030

Exeter City Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and as part of this commitment it aims to achieve Net Zero GHG emissions for its own corporate activities by 2030.
The core measures set out in this Carbon Reduction Plan are needed to drive forward and deliver a broad range of actions across all services to deliver Net Zero. The greatest challenge to the Council is the financial
resource and capacity needed to reach Net Zero in a timeframe as tight as 2030. A one off budget of £800,000 has been provided to support the Net Zero team, which has enabled two temporary posts to be
recruited for 4 years, and a revenue budget to support service delivery of the Carbon Reduction Plan.
The Carbon Reduction Plan is supported by the ‘Exeter City Council Corporate Carbon Footprint’ report produced by the Centre for Energy and the Environment at the University of Exeter, which sets out
opportunities, actions, and targets required to reduce carbon emissions across all Council operations, and links to the Net Zero Risk Register completed June 2022.
The Carbon Reduction Plan is a living active document to be reviewed every 6 months to update on progress made, as well as legislative, financial, technical and operational changes. The plan is clearly laid out and
includes an assessment of potential measures to reduce carbon emissions in each Council service ranging from the straightforward to far more challenging. The aim is to lead by example and to reduce emissions
across all Council sectors, services and operations, with the aim of being Net Zero by 2030.
The success of the Carbon Reduction Plan will need support politically and financially to ensure every Council service and employee can lead by example and demonstrate the broad and sometimes extreme actions
to reduce carbon emissions, whilst delivering a service to the residents of Exeter.
Document Framework
The seven sectors in the Carbon Reduction Plan (below) are those assessed in the Corporate Carbon Footprint report, with an additional Overall Organisational Change section. The footprint was completed
following an appraisal of central government policy, input from discussions with ECC service leads and other officers in relevant departments, and consultation with key ECC documents and data sources.

Page 101

Measures identified for each sector include possible actions attributed to services with an update on progress made, priority, lead and resource. It is noted this further work is needed to identify investment and
accurate GHG savings.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Non-domestic buildings
Council-owned housing
Transport
Procurement
F gases and waste
Renewable energy
Land use change – afforestation
Overall organisational Change

Governance and Monitoring
Delivery of the Action Plan will involve:
1. A rolling programme of projects, funded by invest to save opportunities, borrowing, the Net Zero budget, and available grant funding.
2. Progress to be monitored and reported on a six monthly basis to Strategic Scrutiny Committee, including an annual report of the Council’s GHG Carbon Emissions to measure and monitor progress.
3. Monitoring and updating of the Net Zero Risk Register will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee every six months, as well as Strategic Scrutiny Committee.

Exeter City Council Corporate Net Zero Carbon Reduction Plan
2022 - 2030

Sector

Area of Focus

Change in assets
(speculative)

Potential Measures
Longer term rolling plan to address retained assets and fabric first
approach measures to reduce consumption beyond 2025
Consider GHG impacts in conjunction with potential development,
construction of new facilities, sale of buildings, or change of asset to
ensure lifetime emissions are accounted for, such as sale/repurpose of
Civic Centre.
Take GHG emissions into account alongside cost and commercial
considerations when making key decisions to renovate and retain
exiting sites. Refurbishing existing assets results in lower
environmental impact
Improve space heating, hot water heating systems to decarbonise
heat

Council Nondomestic buildings

Page 102

(4% of 2020/21
footprint)

Efficiency and
demand reduction

Resource
needed

tbc

SMB /City Surveyor/Net
Zero Lead

Y

-473

SMB/City Surveyor

Y

September 2022 Update





City Surveyor/Net Zero
Lead/SMB

-572

tbc

Improvement opportunities at RAMM include sector based changes to
temperature and humidity controls of temporary exhibitions, and
other permanent galleries to reduce consumption

tbc

Replacement of Air Handling Units

tbc

tbc
tbc

Improvements to all remaining buildings with a 20% energy efficiency
improvement by 2030

tbc

Decarbonising heat

Installation of heat pumps, district heating, direct electric heating or
hydrogen heating (if feasible) in public buildings to decarbonise heat,
including those requiring replacement at Riverside, RAMM, ISCA and
Arena Centre. Where heat pumps are installed, ensure that low and
zero GWP refrigerants are used.

-584

Water

Review water saving opportunities

-

Inclusion of PV on any suitable outstanding roofs across ECC's nondomestic estate – see Renewable Energy Sector below.

-82

Investigate potential for further energy storage

Tbc

New Passivhaus
dwellings

Build 1,000 new Passivhaus dwellings at proposed rate of 500 before
2025, and a further 500 up to 2030to A++ target standard

+861

Loft and cavity wall
insulation
Improvements in
energy efficiency

Install loft and cavity wall insulation top-up where required in existing
homes pre 2025
Promoting energy efficiency and use of low energy appliances by
promotion of /access to good quality guidance

Renewable energy

(33% of 2020/21
footprint)

Lead

Full energy efficiency and demand reduction investment grade audit
at RAMM

Improvements to Leisure Centres (Riverside ISCA, Exeter Arena) e.g.
fabric improvements, ventilation upgrades, lighting replacement,
swimming pool efficiency
Improvements to Corn Exchange e.g. fabric improvements, ventilation
upgrades, lighting replacement

Council-owned
housing

Identified
GHG
reduction
tCO2e

-139
-363

Corporate Property/Net
Zero Team/Service
Leads
Corporate Property/Net
Zero Team/
RAMMService Lead
Corporate Property/Net
Zero Team/
RAMMService Lead
Corporate Property/Net
Zero Team/ RAMM
Service Lead
Leisure Service Lead/Net
Zero Team
Corporate Property/Net
Zero Team/Service Lead
Corporate Property/
Net Zero Team/Service
Leads
Corporate Property/Net
Zero Team/Service
Leads
Net Zero Team/Service
Leads
Net Zero Team/City
Surveyor
Net Zero Team/City
Surveyor
Assistant Director
Housing/Exeter City
Living
Assistant Director
Housing
Assistant Director
Housing

Y

Y






Y

Y





Y

Decarbonisation survey undertaken to establish available PSDS funding
to establish corporate properties that qualify for retrofit, insulation and
decarbonisation of heat
Currently only two properties qualify, highlighting critical lack of funding
needed to deliver actions required
BMS upgrade and Energy Management Information system installed to
better identify projects and measure improvements
Guildhall Shopping Centre acquired in May 2022. Net Zero discussions
with the Centre Operator have begun
ASHP survey undertaken for two key leisure sites
Heat Network Zoning Pilot being undertaken on City wide basis –
potential if successful to feed high use sites
Roof replacement underway to provide for solar array at Riverside
Leisure Centre
Investigate opportunities to expand renewable energy production, solar
thermal, wind, hydrogen and heat pumps
Full Membership to SWEEG in 2022 will allow studies to investigate
energy efficiency assets and carry out feasibility studies
Water Lane Smart Grid and Storage project underway which includes
testing of battery storage at three sites where solar energy is generated

Y
Y
Y

Y

Y
Y
Y
part




Y

Y

Green Homes Grant – Local Authority Delivery of £1.6m secured and
delivered in 2021/22
426 properties retrofitted as part of a ‘fabric first’ strategy – with the
inclusion of PV installation and smart heating controls
Delivery target date being assessed on the basis of current delivery and
resource/funding availability.

Exeter City Council Corporate Net Zero Carbon Reduction Plan
2022 - 2030

Sector

Area of Focus

Lead

Resource
needed

Assistant Director
Housing

Y

Further deployment
of solar photovoltaic
panels

Installation of PV to half of suitable existing and new homes by 2025

-334

Solid wall insulation

Install solid wall insulation in 500 appropriate homes

-244

Replacing fuel fuelled
heating with ASHPs

Install ASHP in 3,510 homes not already heated electrically ensuring
that low and zero GWP refrigerants are used.
Install combination of smart technologies, heat recovery, thermal and
electrical storage where a property type is able to achieve
Passivhaus/EnerPhit standards of 15kWh/m2 however Government
grant funding now requires 90 kwh/m2/year

Deep retrofit and
other energy saving
Final deployment of
solar photovoltaic
panels

Page 103

ECC Fleet

Transport
(2% of 2020/21
footprint)

Potential Measures

Identified
GHG
reduction
tCO2e

Other direct
transport

Indirect transport

Install PV on all remaining suitable homes by 2030
Migrating the fleet to low and Zero Emission Vehicles, including
solutions for specialist waste and public and green space vehicles and
equipment by 2030
Minimise number of and mileage of journeys / better route planning
for bin collections / waste bin collection rounds
Drive efficiently e.g. through Telematics (especially important with
electric vehicles)
Better reporting - each department using vehicles to measure and
report mileage and give feedback to staff, set targets for reduction
and incentivise to use most efficient vehicle
Zero Red diesel strategy for specialist vehicles and equipment for
Public and Green Spaces team e.g. tractors, mowers, sweepers, telehandlers and other portable equipment
Electrification of 25% of public and green spaces specialist equipment
between 2025 and 2030 and removing red diesel
Policy on business travel and grey fleet miles to ensure all business
travel to be using public transport, active travel or electric vehicles
Mandating use of low and zero carbon travel alternatives and green
travel incentives
Further expansion of EV Charging Network across Council owned
assets

Improve data capture
Procurement
(62% of 2020/21
footprint)
Consider the need for
new buildings

Improve Data Capture, with minimum corresponding sector spend
recorded in procurement records
Make it a requirement that all suppliers for new contracts exceeding
£50k should state associated GHG emissions with that contract for
each financial year, or as a minimum suppliers should provide the
corresponding sector for spec to minimise the effort and error
associated with manual allocation, and this info be recorded in
procurement records.
On consideration of the hierarchy for buildings and maximise use of
existing assets: build nothing, build less, build clever, build efficiently
Implement a Sustainable Procurement Policy which specifically
includes a minimum A and A++ (LETI) for all City Council new
development projects

-9,871

Assistant Director
Housing
Assistant Director
Housing

Y

September 2022 Update




Y


-1,520

Assistant Director
Housing

Y

-203

Assistant Director
Housing

Y

-746

Fleet Management/Net
Zero team

Y

tbc
tbc
tbc

tbc
-18

Cleansing Services Lead
/Fleet Management
Cleansing Services Lead
/Fleet Management
All Services/Net Zero
team
Cleansing Services Lead
/Fleet Services/ Parks
&Open Spaces Lead
Fleet Services/ Parks
&Open Spaces Lead

enabling
part
N

Y

OMB

N

tbc

OMB

N

tbc

Net Zero Team/Fleet
Services/ Parking
Services
Procurement Lead/Net
Zero Team




part
part




tbc

SMB/Procurement
Lead/Net Zero Team

N


tbc

tbc

SMB / City Surveyor/Net
Zero Lead
Procurement Lead /Net
Zero Team/City
Surveyor/Exeter City
Living

Continue Fleet and Equipment Electrification Plan
Driver Training undertaken
3No. Electric Refuse Collection Vehicles (ERCVs) in operation
Solar Farm at Water Lane co-located with energy storage technology
with PW will provide renewable energy and support charging
infrastructure to the Council’s Operations Depot at Exton Road and
electrification of the all operational fleet
Review of Green Travel Policy underway
Application for LEVI funding to provide City Charging submitted June
2022

Y

-127

tbc






Review of mechanical and electrical strategy underway
Analysis of non-traditional properties being completed – structural
condition now known to be sound and design plans are being prepared
to maximise building fabric thermal efficiency
New rented Council housing currently continues to be delivered to
Passivhaus standard – a 53 bed extra care scheme was completed in
2022
The current new-build target is for 500 Council homes over a 10 year
period – commenced in 2020

N

Y

New eProcurement software to be amended to allow for better
recording of Scope 3 emission data
Green Accord relaunch in Autumn 2022 providing an accreditation
scheme allowing businesses to evidence carbon reduction and suppliers
to use businesses with proven sustainable business practices and net
zero targets
Discussions ongoing with partnering organisations to introduce improved
supplier carbon accounting data and obligate suppliers to provide
contract specific emissions data, and use in contract selection process

Exeter City Council Corporate Net Zero Carbon Reduction Plan
2022 - 2030

Sector

Area of Focus

Follow circular
economy principles

Quantify ECC’s own
waste volumes
F gases and waste
(0.04% of 2020/21
footprint)

Reduce waste going
to landfill

Quantify ECC’s full
inventory of F-gas

Page 104

Renewable energy
(-0.80% of 2020/21
footprint)

Land use change –
afforestation
(0% of 2020/21
footprint)
offsetting potential

Overall
Organisational
Change

Non-domestic PV

Domestic PV

Planting broadleaf
and conifers

Improve
understanding of Net
Zero actions and
Climate Change

Potential Measures

Identified
GHG
reduction
tCO2e

Lead

Resource
needed

Decisions must be taken with good quality data i.e. from suppliers.
Take GHG emissions into account alongside cost and quality
considerations when awarding new contracts and all key decisions on
capital projects. Weight contract award weighting for climate change
in procurement processes where relevant and proportionate

tbc

Procurement Lead/City
Surveyor/Net Zero
Team/SMB

N

Ensure all new homes have LETI embodied carbon rating of A and
other construction has equivalent, target increased to A++ by 2030

tbc

Assistant Director
Housing /Exeter City
Living /SMB

Y

Produce an annual ECC waste report that includes total
tonnes/annum, breakdown into categories by weight, final destination
of waste reported. This will form a base year against which targets can
be set
Use a contractor that guarantees no waste going to landfill
Adopt a no-printing policy. Ensure all documents distributed are
electronic
Create inventory of refrigeration, air conditioning and heat pump
equipment and for each item, record the refrigerant type, the charge
capacity and the time in use during the reporting period to plan a
reduction programme
Identify and make business case / seek funding for further nondomestic PV opportunities across ECC estate e.g. Guildhall, ISCA,
Arena, ECFC, Corn Exchange, RAMM, University fields, Water Lane II,
Bus Station, St Sidwell’s Point

tbc

tbc
tbc

Net Zero
Team/Recycling Lead
Service Leads/Net Zero
Team

September 2022 Update



Net Zero Ambassador for Waste will help enforce waste prevention and
recycling in the work place



Ground mounted 1,200 kWp array at Water Lane co-located with energy
storage technology and a connection providing a renewable energy
supply to the Council’s Operations Depot at Exton Road to support the
electrification of the Council’s fleet. Including Solar PV on the Riverside
Sports hall roof and battery store, Matford Centre and John Lewis CP
underway. To complete in Dec 2022
Review of Solar opportunities and new Invest to Save proposal for
generation to reduce rising energy costs and PPA potential to reduce
carbon emissions through self-supply to be completed

part

N

OMB/Net Zero team

N

tbc

Corporate
Property/Building
managers/ Net Zero
Team

part

-461

City Surveyor/Service
Leads/Net Zero Team

Y

Install roof mounted PV on 2,386 existing homes and similar
proportion of new build Council homes

-376

City Surveyor/Housing
lead/Net Zero Team

Y

Planting broadleaf and conifers evenly throughout the Valley Parks
and greenspace woodland (409ha) between 2022 - 2030 identifies
potential to cover 25% of the area.

-829

SMB/Public & Green
Spaces Lead

Y

Explore options for offset funding and opportunities within Exeter,
utilising Council owned assets

tbc

Public & Green Spaces
Lead /Net Zero
Lead/SMB

Y

Implement ‘Carbon Literacy’ training to all Councillors, Net Zero
Ambassadors, SMB, OMB and other relevant officers

tbc

Net Zero Team





Within ECC Exeter P&G Spaces to move from 24% to 30% canopy cover
(tree line cover), target for 2030. Working with Greater Devon Network
partners to increase canopy cover further across remaining private open
spaces.



Study to be undertaken to evaluate offsetting opportunities



Quarterly meetings between Net Zero Ambassadors and Net Zero team
underway
4 members of Net Zero team and 1 Councillor have undertaken Carbon
Literacy training
2 members of Net Zero team have undertaken training to become
Carbon Literacy trainers in July 2022. Councillors, Net Zero Ambassadors,
SMB, OMB, and other relevant officers and teams all included in inhouse Carbon Literacy Roll Out Programme
Footprint Report, Action Plan and all Net Zero progress to be uploaded
to internal intranet page and internet page to highlight Council’s work
Active Members of the Devon Emergency Response Group and
endorsement of the Devon Climate Plan

part


Develop communications programme to highlight within the Council
and externally, achievements and projects delivered in working
towards Net Zero 2030

-

Net Zero Team

N

Review City Council policies to determine their negative and positive
impact on reducing Council carbon emissions

-

Net Zero Team/Service
Leads

N

Improve staff capacity to allow delivery of Net Zero across all ECC
Services (sectors)

-

All services/SMB

Y






Exeter City Council Corporate Net Zero Carbon Reduction Plan
2022 - 2030

Sector

Area of Focus

Potential Measures
Continue to work with partners locally and nationally to deliver Net
Zero

Identified
GHG
reduction
tCO2e

Lead

Resource
needed

-

All services/SMB/Net
Zero team

N

September 2022 Update

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment:
Working Towards Net Zero - Exeter City Council’s Corporate Carbon Footprint Report and Carbon
Reduction Action Plan
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the
need to:

Page 107

Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not
In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all
members of the community.
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular
groups and worsen inequality.
Committee name and
date:

Report Title

Working Towards Net Zero Strategic Scrutiny - 22 September Exeter City Council’s Corporate
2022
Carbon Footprint Report and
Carbon Reduction Action Plan

Decisions being
recommended:

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:

To share the City Council’s At present none, but this will be
Corporate Carbon Footprint reviewed for each project in the
report, ‘Achieving Net
future.
Zero’. A detailed bottom up
analysis of the Council’s

Committee name and
date:

Report Title

Decisions being
recommended:

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:

Page 108

own corporate activities
and associated greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions. The
methodology undertaken in
this study provides
significantly improved
emissions data across the
majority of the Council’s
direct and indirect activities,
with a detailed assessment
across these services.
To recommend A
Corporate Carbon
Reduction Plan is
established to bring to the
fore a mix of potential
actions set out in the
Carbon Footprint, ranging
from straightforward to far
more challenging, and
potentially contentious
solutions in one complete
table. The measures set
out in the Carbon
Reduction Plan are needed
to drive forward action
across all services to work
towards net zero.
Factors to consider in the assessment: For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed

decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions
planned to be carried out in future).
High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very
little discretion
Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 109

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Negative

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
Medium

Reason

Positive

High

Disability: as defined by the Equality
Act – a person has a disability if they
have a physical or mental impairment
that has a substantial and long-term
adverse impact on their ability to carry
out normal day-to-day activities.

Positive

High

Positive

High

Negative

High

Sex/Gender
Gender reassignment
Religion and belief (includes no
belief, some philosophical beliefs such
as Buddhism and sects within
religions).
Sexual orientation (including
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).

Neutral
Neutral
Negative

Low
Low
Low

There could be the potential for jobs for migrant workers within
construction sector and others that support net zero and clean growth
The building of new sustainable and active travel routes, would support
positive mental health and wellbeing and increase accessibility for those
less able
Buildings built to passivhaus standard, would support mental health &
wellbeing for individuals.
If city car parks are used for alternative means, those less able may not
be able to access city centre parking and use a car park not at their
desired location, or to using park & ride.
N/A
N/A
Some religions may potentially be against retrofitting buildings to be Net
Zero or Carbon Neutral

Neutral

Low

Race and ethnicity (including
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant
workers; asylum seekers).

There could be the potential of land that gypsies and travellers use for
temporarily means, not being available. E.g. afforistation

N/A

Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 110

Age (children and young people aged
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger
older people aged 51-75/80; older
people 81+; frail older people; people
living with age related conditions. The
age categories are for illustration only
as overriding consideration should be
given to needs).
Pregnancy and maternity including
new and breast feeding mothers
Marriage and civil partnership
status

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Positive

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
High

Reason

Negative

Medium

Some age categories may not engage with the aims and aspirations of
Net Zero, and projects to deliver net zero.

Positive

Medium

Neutral

Low

As a result of net zero there will be a healthier environment for expectant
mothers, as well as the ability to walk/exercise in a safe environment.
N/A

Delivering Net Zero across the city is likely to be embraced by younger
people who live, study, work and socialise in Exeter.

Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion
For each project the Net Zero team develops, an EQIA will be undertaken to ensure no project discriminates against any characteristic
The Net Zero team will consult with the Policy team on each project.
Officer: Jo Pearce
Date: 31 August 2022

Agenda Item 9
REPORT TO STRATEGIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting:

29 September 2022

Report of:

Service Lead Net Zero & Business

Title:

Progress Report Shared Prosperity Fund – Update 1

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Executive

1.

What is the report about?
1.1 This reports sets out progress made in developing an Investment Plan to release
Exeter’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) allocation.

2.

Recommendations:
2.1 That members note progress made in developing an Investment Plan, to support
Building Pride in Place and Increasing Life Chances in Exeter;;
2.2 That members note and comment on the range of interventions proposed for
Exeter, which will be presented at Strategic Scrutiny Committee; and
2.3 The Service Lead for Net Zero & Business provides an update to Strategic Scrutiny
every 6 months on the delivery and management of UKSPF, the next being March 2023.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1 Members have an understanding of the level of officer support required to deliver and
manage UKSPF in Exeter.
3.2 Members have knowledge on the range of interventions being proposed for Exeter.
3.3 Members are kept up to date on UKSPF delivery within Exeter.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources.
4.1 Overall Management of Exeter UKSPF is managed by the Service Lead for Net Zero
& Business, with time dedicated to ensuring spend is within budget. Updates are
provided to Strategic Scrutiny and the Liveable Exeter Place Board (our nominated local
partnership group) and interventions are procured correctly within City Council and
UKSPF policies.
4.2 The table below highlights the breakdown of the £1,403,877 allocated to Exeter. The
allocation to Capital spend is a minimum, this can be increased, which would result in a
reduction in revenue spend:

Page 111

2022 - 2023
2023 - 2024
2024 – 2025
Total
Capital
Revenue
Capital
Revenue
Capital
Revenue
10%
90%
13%
87%
20%
80%
£17,037.30 £153,335.70 £44,297.11 £296,449.89 £178,551.40 £714,205.60
Total £170,373
Total £340,747
Total £892,757
£1,403,877
4.3 4% of the £1,403,877 (£56,120) is available for the administration, monitoring and
evaluation of UKSPF. It is proposed to appoint a temporary Project Manager to
undertake this activity, this process will start once the City Council has received their offer
letter from the Department for Levelling Up Housing & Communities (DLUHC).
4.4 Once interventions have been procured, there will be a strong emphasis on ongoing
monitoring and evaluation to ensure interventions stay within the budget allocated to each
intervention. If an intervention overspends, the intervention owner will be required to fund
any overspend from their own budgets – unless there is underspend elsewhere within
Exeter’s UKSPF allocation.

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
5.1 Subject to the improvement plan being accepted by Government and the funding
being delivered, the section 151 Officer will ensure that the fund is managed in line with
Government requirements and that a suitable coding structure is used to monitor both
capital and revenue spend. Progress will be reported within the Council’s budget
monitoring reports in addition to any specific reports provided on the Fund.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
6.1

7.

Please see the Monitoring Officer comments below.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
7.1 The Council’s Organisation Change Policy applies to any proposal to appoint
additional/new staff.

8.

Exeter UKSPF Investment Plan
8.1 The Exeter UKSPF Investment Plan was presented to the Liveable Exeter Place
Board on 11 July 2022, where consensus was reached on the challenges the City Council
want to address through UKSPF. A letter of support has been received from the Chair of
the Board.
8.2 Support has also been received from both Exeter MP’s, MP Ben Bradshaw and MP
Simon Jupp:
MP Ben Bradshaw: "Championed by dynamic and innovative local
leadership, Exeter is one of the UK's fastest growing cities; business-friendly
with a positive and sustainable vision and ambitious Net Zero targets. The
City faces many challenges and opportunities around health and
wellbeing, public safety, skills, jobs, innovation, green spaces, and in tackling
climate change and crime and anti-social behaviour, and I strongly welcome
and support Exeter City Council's typically holistic and inclusive approach and
application to the Shared Prosperity Fund."

Page 112

MP Simon Jupp: “The interventions sound very impressive and wide
ranging, thank you for your work on this. I am happy to confirm my support for
Exeter City Council’s UKSPF Investment Plan.”
8.3 To develop Exeter’s Investment Plan, a list of ideas was gathered to address city
challenges and opportunities, listed below:
Communities & Place
Challenges
Opportunities
City Centre Anti-Social Behaviour
Improvements to green spaces to
reduce Anti-Social Behaviour
Net Zero
Building Pride in Place
Net Zero
Increase City Centre Footfall
Supporting Local Business
Challenges
Opportunities
Business Survival Rate in Exeter
Net Zero
Net Zero
Business Growth
People Issues effecting Business
Lack of commercialisation from R&D
from our research institutions
People & Skills
Challenges
Opportunities
Exeter Skills Strategy
Exeter Skills Strategy
Recruitment & Retention
Raising aspirations & Job Vacancies
Social Mobility
Learning
Net Zero
8.4 Due to a significant overspend of UKSPF, there was number of alterations to the
Investment Plan’s budget and outcomes/outputs spreadsheet, to ensure UKSPF came
within budget. The Investment Plan was signed off by The Leader of the Council, the
Chief Executive & Growth Director and the City Council’s S151 Officer – a requirement of
UKSPF.
8.5 The Exeter UKSPF Investment Plan was submitted to the DLUHC online portal by
the deadline of 1 August 2022, with an indicative budget and indicative outcomes/outputs
– Appendix 1. Within the Investment Plan, proposed interventions was left blank, so
additional consultation can take place with the Liveable Exeter Place Board, for sign off in
October. Interventions that will be presented to the Liveable Exeter Place Board are the
same that will be presented at Strategic Scrutiny Committee.
8.6 Since the Investment Plan was submitted, additional guidance has been received
from DLUHC https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-shared-prosperity-fundadditional-information which provides further information on:
Outputs & Outcomes Definitions
Reporting & Performance Management
Monitoring & Evaluation
Assurance & Risk
Branding & Publicity
Subsidy Control
Procurement
Equalities

Page 113

8.7 The Service Lead for Net Zero & Business has initiated discussions with Finance,
Legal, Procurement and Executive Support to ensure the City Council works within the
UKSPF’s new and updated guidance. DLHUC have indicated some of the above
guidance will be updated over the summer/autumn.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
9.1

UKSPF links directly to the Exeter Vision and a number of corporate priorities.

Corporate
Plan

Exeter Vision

Delivering Net Zero
Exeter 2030
Promoting active &
healthy lifestyles
Building Great
Neighbourhoods
Innovative &
Analytical City

Healthy & Inclusive
The Most active city
in the UK
Accessible world
class educations
Liveable &
connected
A leading
sustainable city
Culture

Interventions may support the delivery of the
Exeter Net Zero 2030 Plan.
Interventions may support people to become
more active.
Interventions may support businesses
innovation, research and development.
Interventions may support high growth potential
businesses, as well as the commercialisation of
research from city institutions. Skills and
learning interventions will be developed to
support residents to improve their learning
opportunities.
Interventions will be developed to encourage
people to travel into the city centre by bike and
to walk around the city.
Interventions may support people to become
more active.
Interventions may support residents to access
city educational institutions in delivering world
class education to residents and businesses,
giving opportunities to all.
Interventions may support a thriving city centre.
A number of interventions may support the
delivery of the Exeter Net Zero 2030 Plan.
Interventions may support cultural activity.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
10.1 As recommended in the report to Executive on 5 July 2022, a UKSPF Management
Group will be established. This will be made up of a relevant Director, Service Lead for
Net Zero & Business, officers leading on interventions, as well as Legal and Finance. A
representative from Exeter Chamber of Commerce and InExeter will also be invited to sit
on this Management Group.
10.2 The City Council’s UKSPF Management Group will provide ongoing reviewing,
monitoring and evaluation of Exeter’s Investment Plan, its interventions, budget spend
and the delivery of outcomes and outputs.
10.3 It is a requirement of UKSPF to provide regular monitoring and evaluation back to
DLUHC, to ensure interventions are within budget and delivering the required outcomes
and outputs.
10.4 There will be six monthly report to Strategic Scrutiny to reduce risks associated
with the delivery of UKSPF in Exeter.

Page 114

10.5 There will also be regular reporting, twice a year, to the Liveable Exeter Place
Board.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 In recommending this report, potential impact has been identified on people with
protected characteristics as determined by the Act and an Equalities Impact Assessment
has been included in the background papers for Member’s attention.
11.2 UKSPF is about levelling up opportunities and prosperity and overcoming deepseated inequalities. In developing interventions for Exeter, they will support the overall
objective of UKSPF in Building Pride in Place and Increasing Life Chances.
11.3 An EQIA has been developed in considering the impact of UKSPF on Exeter. The
EQIA will be further developed, as when interventions have been agreed and will be
reported back to Strategic Scrutiny.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
12.1 Some of the proposed interventions support Exeter’s Net Zero 2030 Plan in
reducing city carbon emissions. It also supports businesses and residents to reduce their
carbon emissions.
12.2 Elements of the People & Skills theme will focus on green skills. Larger projects
will be reviewed to keep carbon emissions to a minimum or to net zero.

13. Are there any other options?
13.1 Within the guidance for UKSPF, Exeter City Council is a ‘Lead Authority’, so there is
a requirement to manage Exeter’s UKSPF allocation and develop an Investment Plan.
13.2 There is an option of not appointing a Project Manager to manage a number of the
major projects. The decision was taken to appoint a temporary position, due to limited
capacity within the team and the City Council.

Director:

Net Zero & City Management, David Bartram

Author:

Service Lead Net Zero & Business

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:5 July 2022
UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Exeter allocation
Contact for enquires: Democratic Services (Committees)Room 4.36 01392 265275

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – Exeter’s UKSPF Investment Plan

UK Shared Prosperity
Fund
Investment Plan Drafting Template

Version 2
May 2022

Page 117

Your location
To be eligible for funding, you will need to be applying on behalf of a lead authority in one of
the delivery geographies.
Select the lead authority
For Scotland and Wales only: Who else is this investment plan being submitted on behalf
of? Select all that apply
Your details
Name
Email address
Phone number
Organisation name

Local challenges and opportunities
In this section, we will ask you:


If you've identified any challenges or opportunities, you intend to support



Which of the UKSPF investment priorities these fall under

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE
COMMUNITIES AND PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible
The following city challenges have been identified, from discussions internally, assessing local data
and discussions with city business leaders/organisations:

City Centre Anti-Social Behaviour
Within Exeter City Centre, there are challenges with crime, which includes violence, anti-social
behaviour and shoplifting.
https://www.police.uk/pu/your-area/devon-and-cornwall-police/exeter-city-centre/?tab=CrimeMap
The number of crimes reported in the city centre (below) are taken from the above website and
show the % change for the same period in 2021, all seeing a significant increase:
May 2022 – 322 (145% increase)
April 2022 – 214 (20% increase)
March 2022 – 188 (43% increase)
February 2022 – 240 (108% increase)
January 2022 – 222 (86% increase)
The city has recently received Safer Streets Funding to support measures to reduce crime, but
gaps still remain across the city centre to reduce crime. The level of crime within the city centre is
visible and is raised by city centre businesses and the Business Improvement District on a regular
basis. Feedback from businesses, is that on occasion, shoppers are not visiting certain shops due
to ASB outside their premises.
ASB has also affected some places in the city centre that city Red Coat Guides visit on a daily
basis. A footpath in Rougemont Garden was deemed unsafe and was cordoned off, which resulted
in an increase in ASB and forced a decline in public use of the public garden. It is proposed to
design out crime by reintroducing footfall within the public garden.

Page 118

Net Zero / Climate Change
Exeter declared a climate emergency in 2019 and adopted the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan at
Executive in 2020, which is the city roadmap to net zero.
https://committees.exeter.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=46373&PlanId=197&RPID=0
The city recently received a carbon baseline report which details which sectors emit carbon across
the city from our residents and business community. To achieve net zero by 2030, significant
investment is needed, radicle changes are needed and carbon offsetting needed to reach net zero.
Estimated total greenhouse gas emissions in Exeter in 2019 are 476,221 tonnes of carbon dioxide,
with the breakdown shown in the image below.

Copy of the report and committee report:
https://committees.exeter.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=6745&Ver=4
The report highlights the extent of the issue of what is needed to undertake to achieve net zero:
 Over 1,200 PV installations each year every year to 2030
 Installing loft insulation in 25,400 homes by 2030 or 2,800 homes each year every year to
2030.
 Insulating the walls of 13,500 homes by 2030 at the rate of 1,500 every year.
 Putting 4,600 heat pumps in homes every year to 2030.
 Improving the energy efficiency of 260 non-domestic buildings every year to 2030 and
switching 270 every year to low carbon heating.
 Reducing driving in Exeter by 10 million kilometres each year, every year to 2030.
 Continuing the exponential growth in electric vehicles ownership (aiming for 317 in 2021)
and putting in an additional 81 charging points in every year to 2030.
 Increasing cycling rates by 4 million kilometres annually (equivalent to 70% of the current
total level) with matching increases in walking.
 Achieving a 1,300 tonne annual reduction in household waste generation each year, every
year and a 4.2% annual increase in recycling rates each year, every year to 2030.
Businesses, community groups and residents are supportive of the city’s net zero ambition, but
some are struggling to understand how they can make a difference and what changes they need to
make to reduce their own carbon emissions. Due to the rise in energy costs, residents and
businesses are keen to reduce down their energy costs in the most cost effective way.
Within the county of Devon, residents in Exeter are the highest % suffering from fuel poverty.
Residents are struggling to pay the day to day bills, so any support to reduce energy costs will be
of benefit.

Page 119

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND PLACE
INVESTMENT PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT?
(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible

Improvements to green spaces to reduce Anti-Social Behaviour There are a
number of green spaces within the city centre that are not used significantly. These green spaces
are within easy walking distance from the High Street, as well as some residential areas close to
the city centre. Some of these green spaces have poor access and for those with limited mobility,
access is poor. One of the green spaces has an old bandstand, which is closed due to repair
needed to the structure.
It’s widely known that access to green spaces helps individuals with their mental health & physical
wellbeing. Significant work has been undertaken during covid on improving access to the Exeter
Green Circle Walk, such as improved signage, footpath maintenance, community engagement and
launching walks on a digital app.
There is the vision for more and more people to live in our city centre, this is through the Liveable
Exeter vision: https://www.liveableexeter.co.uk/ Some of these new homes will be within apartment
blocks, so access to quality outdoor spaces may be limited. A report by Leeds University highlights
the benefits of green spaces in urban environments https://leaf.leeds.ac.uk/wpcontent/uploads/sites/86/2015/10/LEAF_benefits_of_urban_green_space_2015_upd.pdf there are
benefits for air quality, health & wellbeing, climate change, flooding & water quality, wildlife and the
economy.

Building Pride in Place
Liveable Exeter https://www.liveableexeter.co.uk/ is a programme to build 12,000 homes in Exeter.
There is a major opportunity, through this home build programme, to build pride in place and
develop a range of programmes and initiatives to improve the awareness of local heritage and
culture where these new homes are built. When you move into a new home, you want to feel a
sense of connection and belonging in where you live.
Through the unique partnership with the University of Exeter, the City Council can resolve urban
challenges that repeatedly face Exeter. The city hasn’t been able resolve these challenges to date,
but due to the Civic University Agreement
https://www.exeter.ac.uk/about/regionalengagement/civic-agreements/ recently been adopted,
there is now the opportunity to work Wellbeing, Environment challenges.
Exeter is a Sport England Local Delivery Pilot, with the aim to improve the physical wellbeing of the
residents of Exeter. The Local Delivery Pilot ties in nicely with Liveable Exeter, in how do we

Page 120

develop homes to improve residents physical and mental wellbeing – healthy homes and easy
access to public transport and sustainable travel to access employment sites, and all what the city
centre has to offer.

Net Zero / Climate Change
Net zero also provides the city with an opportunity, in how we support community groups and
businesses to make changes in their local community to reduce carbon emissions. Groups that are
engaged and active in their local community, provide an opportunity to support residents to change
behaviour. For those that are not engaged in climate change do not want to be preached to, for
them to change behaviour the message is more to do with health & wellbeing and how they can
save money.
The budget to deliver and implement carbon reducing measures is limited, there is the opportunity
to develop programmes to provide an income to implement activity to reduce carbon emissions.
Just under 50% of the workforce in Exeter, live outside of the city and commute in on a daily basis.
There is the opportunity to develop a scheme for these commuters to offset their daily commute
into the city. For 2020/21, total emissions for the City Council are 52,551 t CO2e. Figure 2 (below),
shows 2020/21 carbon emissions compared to 2018/19.

Increase City Centre Footfall
During the pandemic footfall within the city reduced dramatically, with residents and shoppers
choosing to shop online. In order for city centres to remain relevant and to continue to thrive,
shopping cannot be the primary purpose for a visit. Cities need to evolve to attract shoppers,
visitors, commuters, students and residents in order for the city centre to remain viable, prosperous
and to even grow.
The City Council has invested in Exeter City Centre, in building a new passivhaus bus station and
swimming pool/leisure site, both located within the city centre:

Page 121

https://news.exeter.gov.uk/new-exeter-bus-station-opens-in-the-city-centre/
https://news.exeter.gov.uk/exeter-s-unique-new-leisure-centre-welcomes-its-first-customers/
St Sidwell’s Point provides a reason (leisure) for people to visit the city centre. It is hoped that
visitors to St Sidwell’s Point will also visit other locations within the city centre, such as cafes, the
cinema and shops.
We need to invest in our city centre, to provide the best possible experience to attract new and
existing people to sustain the city centre long term.
Figure 2 below highlights city centre that are home to productive businesses have fewer vacant
units, that there is a direct relationship between the strength of the city centre and vacancy rates.
Exeter is just above the national average

Figure 4 highlights the effect of the pandemic on Exeter for loss of sales. Even though Exeter
performs well overall, and is classified as a strong city. Due to a large proportion of office workers
within the city centre, the loss of sales was high during the pandemic.

https://www.centreforcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Cities-Outlook-2022-2.pdf

Page 122

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE
SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible

Business survival rate in Exeter
Within Exeter the three-year business survival rate in Exeter is 59%, which is below the Devon
(65%) and national (61%) averages. The business make up of Exeter is shown below, data is from
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157359/report.aspx The city has a high proportion
of micro and small businesses within the city, which is challenging to support. In order for these
businesses to survive, we need to support locally owned businesses, as these businesses provide
meaningful long term employment for residents and a good circular economy base.

Business owners tend to be HR, marketing, finance and the day to day running of their business,
they struggle to find the time to plan for change and to adjust to market forces.

Net Zero
The same as residents, businesses want to make a difference and reduce their carbon emissions.
As previously mentioned, the majority of businesses within Exeter are micro and small and struggle
to find the head space and capacity to make changes to their business so they reduce their carbon
emissions. At present, there is limited advice and support for businesses on carbon reducing
measures – that is independent and non-biased.
The City Council has recently launched a new bus station and a new swimming pool/leisure centre,
both built to passivhaus standard. The City Council also build new social homes to Passivhaus
standard, so that home are climate ready. There is limited scope to build at scale to this standard,
as the local college doesn’t train its students to Passivhaus building techniques. This is proving a
challenge for the City Council, as the expertise isn’t available locally.

People issues effecting business
During the pandemic the city underwent a number of changes, which is having a detrimental impact
on the business community and the growth of the city. There was the Great Resignation during the
pandemic, which is still effecting the economy of the city today.
Throughout the pandemic we have seen some record level of job vacancies, peaking at over 3,500.
Job vacancies on Indeed, within Exeter currently stands at 2,270 (15 July 2022)
https://uk.indeed.com/jobs?q=New&l=Exeter%2C%20Devon&radius=5&vjk=198684475f0c0f44

Page 123

Within the county of Devon, Exeter has consistently had the highest number of job vacancies per
district. This is potentially causing some businesses to reduce investment, resulting in growth
slowing down or becoming stagnant.
The types of occupations that have the highest demand in Exeter, and how this has changed over
time. As businesses are struggling to recruit into certain vacant positions, salaries are increasing.
A positive for the employee, but not so for the employer. Challenges are occurring in health,
administration and customer services.

Within Exeter we have a people issue, we don’t have enough people to fulfil the vacant roles
across the city. For the city to grow, we need to find ways to fill city vacant positions to show that
Exeter is a good place to work, that provides meaningful employment and a good salary.
University of Exeter Graduate retention is an ongoing challenge in Exeter, data from 2017/18
shows that one year after graduating only 28% of University of Exeter students remained in the
South West region, dropping to 24% for those who had graduated five years prior.
https://www.exeter.ac.uk/media/universityofexeter/aboutusresponsive/regionalengagement/docume
nts/Exeter_CUA_Brochure_Needs_Analysis.pdf

Page 124

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS
INVESTMENT PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT?
(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible

Net Zero
The same as residents, businesses want to make a difference and reduce their carbon emissions.
As previously mentioned, the majority of businesses within Exeter are micro and small and struggle
to find the head space and capacity to make change to their business to reduce their carbon
emissions. At present there is limited support and advice for businesses on carbon reducing
measures for their business.
The Governments Green Industrial Revolution, is a ten point plan that sets out an approach to build
back better, support green jobs, and accelerate our path to net zero:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution
Businesses are an integral part of delivering the above plan, in how they green their business
processes. A business that adapts, will be ahead of the game in the city.

Business Growth
There is the opportunity to support Exeter’s tech eco-system, in delivering innovation and digital
interventions to raise productivity and GVA within the city. There are support groups within the city
to enable businesses to network with like-minded tech entrepreneurs to grow their business.
These networks could be expanded to provide much more targeted support to our business
community.
Small and start-up businesses within the city struggle to gain mainstream finance, there is the
opportunity to develop and support existing networks to ensure businesses can access new types
of finance so their business can invest in R&D, staff and innovation.
There is also the opportunity for businesses to learn from one another in how they recruit and retain
employees – what do businesses offer employees to ensure they remain with the business. This
would help resolve city challenges in our high vacancy rates.

Lack of commercialisation from R&D from our research institutions
The University of Exeter is a Russell Group University, and is one of the best in the world. The
level of research that is commercialised locally from the University of Exeter is limited, there is a
need to boost local R&D spending by business and business innovation across a range of spheres.
Local businesses could benefit more from University of Exeter academic expertise but find it
challenging to articulate their needs or to identify and access the support that would help them.
There is an opportunity in how we resolve this challenge across the city to boost productivity to
level up. From evidence gathered in developing the Civic University Agreement, this was
highlighted as a challenge from both the University of Exeter and the City Council.
Evidence base:
https://www.exeter.ac.uk/media/universityofexeter/aboutusresponsive/regionalengagement/docume
nts/Exeter_CUA_Brochure_Needs_Analysis.pdf

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE PEOPLE AND
SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? (In Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland this should also
include challenges relating to Multiply)
(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible
Exeter Skills Strategy
The Exeter Skills Strategy was launched March 2019, the same month the country went into
national restrictions. The pandemic had a significant impact on the economy of the city, our
business community and especially our people. The evidence base of the skills strategy was
revaluated after the pandemic, with a revised skills strategy launched for Exeter (May 2022):
http://committees.exeter.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=6744&Ver=4
From the evidence, the strategy has a number of priorities:

Page 125

 Talent retention and attraction
 Alignment of training provision and future skills needs
 Clear map of skills provision available
 Raising aspirations
 Apprenticeships
The strategy provides an action plan to resolve challenges the city is facing, which will be used to
develop projects for Shared Prosperity Funding for Exeter.
Some of the key challenges for Exeter are around the retention of young people (a longstanding
trend) and staff locally, which is particularly driven by cost of living in Exeter, housing and
competition for employees. When students finish their studies at the University of Exeter,
graduates choose to leave the city for a job elsewhere, either closer to home or for a better salary
that Exeter can offer.
The pandemic has led to some people leaving the labour market in Exeter with a decrease in the
numbers of economically active individuals in Exeter, particularly those aged over 50. The chart
below from
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157359/subreports/ea_time_series/report.aspx?
Highlights the reduction of those that are economically active during the period of the pandemic.

Economic activity rates have declined by 6.1 percentage points since before the pandemic to
73.4% bringing implications for the supply of labour to the market. The total labour market is now
comprised of 68,200 individuals in Exeter. A key part of this reduction in economic activity has
come from the over 50s demographic with a 13.1 percentage point reduction in participation,
equivalent to 1,900 fewer individuals in the labour market in Exeter. These figures represent a
higher proportional reduction than found elsewhere in England but remain reflective of a national
pattern, with 6 in 10 reporting they would not return to work
During the pandemic, the Great Resignation occurred in Exeter with individuals re-evaluating their
careers and how they want to work. Changing working patterns with increased flexibility are likely to
continue to influence employment and skills over the coming few years. Other macroeconomic
trends including the net zero commitments and potential for stagflation and recession will further
affect the skills needs and employment in Exeter, to which the city must respond.
The city is expected to see a decline or a change in some sectors, such as:
 Food service sector
 Business administration
 Customer service and sales
 Leisure
 Real Estate
 Manufacturing
 Retail
Those who are currently working in these sectors face a decline or a shift in employment over the
next decade and will need retraining as they move careers. Further, the risk of global recession is
increasing, with potential repercussions for labour markets in the UK, pivoting away from the
current full employment.

Page 126

Large numbers of jobs are at risk of having some of their tasks automated. The risk of automation
varies by sector with lower potential in health care and higher potential in sectors with elementary
roles, including construction, mechanics and leisure. An estimated 39% of roles in Exeter are at risk
of automation and women are more likely to be in roles at risk, bringing in an equality dynamic.
Given the roles more at risk of automation, the effects will disproportionately affect those with lower
qualifications and education creating challenges for inclusion. This will generate further shifts in the
labour market and skills needed for employment, driving the digitalisation agenda and need for IT
literacy among many roles and pursuit of stable careers in sectors that may be less effected.
Despite the relative prosperity of Exeter as a whole, there are parts of Exeter that face various
deprivation challenges. Education and skills, employment and income, as well as health, are all
contributing factors to the deprivation in these communities. The challenges facing individuals
living in these areas of Exeter are often many and complex, contributing to some of these groups
being furthest from the labour market. As well as insufficient skills and qualifications, there are
those with physical and mental health care needs or disabilities. Ex-offenders who struggle to rejoin the labour market due to their criminal record, and those with drug or alcohol problems or
victims of domestic abuse facing confidence challenges. Responding to the challenges in these
areas will require nuanced employability support alongside other interventions that may differ from
the skills and employment support necessary for other parts of the city.
Below highlights the most vulnerable neighbourhoods in Exeter and how they relate to the rest of
Devon.

Recruitment & Retention
Due to a very tight labour market, businesses are struggling to recruit into their vacant positions.
Salaries are increasing, with some individuals demanding significant increases in salaries to accept
a vacancy. Some businesses across the city provide excellent terms and conditions and benefits
for its employees, these businesses tend to attract the best candidates. We need to learn from
these businesses that can attract and retain the best candidates.
Social Mobility
The University of Exeter published a report on social mobility across the South West April 2022:
https://www.exeter.ac.uk/research/socialmobility/news/articles/southwestblightedbylowsoc.html
The South West suffers some of the lowest levels of social mobility in the UK, blighting the
prospects of hundreds of thousands of young people across the region. Progression rates to
universities for both disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils are the lowest of all regions
across the UK. Gaps in classroom attainment between poorer pupils and their peers in the South
West are the largest of all English regions at the end of both primary and secondary school. These
two challenges can be seen in Exeter.

Page 127

Exeter KS2 attainment gap – 11.0%
Exeter KS4 attainment gap – 22.1%

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT
PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT? (In Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland this
should also include challenges relating to Multiply)
(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible
Exeter Skills Strategy
Exeter is a vibrant and dynamic city embracing the future whilst celebrating a past that is rich in
heritage. At the centre of the South West peninsula, the city has been an engine for growth and
development of Devon. Through its major institutions, desirable location and expanding sectors
Exeter has gone from strength to strength. The local labour market is a key part of this and further
improvements to skills and employment will enable Exeter to build on its successes and ensure a
shared prosperity for all.
The population has expanded at some of the fastest rates of all UK cities (13.8% since 2011
compared to 6.5% in England) and a large proportion of the resident population are of a working
age (68.6% compared to 62.3% in England and 58% in Devon).
Productivity in Exeter is high compared to the rest of Devon (GVA per hour of £35.80 against
£30.10 in Devon) driven in part by the sectoral composition of the city.
From research undertaken for the Exeter Skills Strategy, Exeter is seeing a growth is some sectors,
which will drive skills demand to fulfil roles:
 Health & Social Care
 Professional Services
 Wholesale & Distribution
 Creative Arts & Culture

Page 128




Education
Construction

Raising aspirations / job vacancies
Due to low levels of young people progressing into higher education and the high level of job
vacancies across the city, there is the opportunity raise the aspirations of our young people so they
see there is a realistic opportunity for a good career in Exeter. This is also the case for graduate of
the University of Exeter.
Learning
There are a small number of people in Exeter that are not engaged in skills or in employment.
These people are a valuable resource to the city, in filling entry level positions across the city to
release those that are over employed.
Net Zero
The City Council own over 4,700 social homes across the city. We are in the process of retrofitting
these homes, those with the poorest EPC rating. From the City’s Green House Gas report
http://committees.exeter.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=6745&Ver=4 it highlights the
level of retrofitting that is needed to improve homes across the city – its extensive. The City
Council has a programme to continue with retrofit social homes, but this is a slow process due to a
lack of retrofitting skills in the city. There is the opportunity to support people into construction to
support net zero opportunities across the city.

Interventions
In this section, we will ask you about:


Interventions you’ve chosen for each year of funding



Outcomes you want to deliver



Any interventions that are not listed here



How these interventions fall under the UKSPF investment priorities, and your
rationale for them



Interventions not included in our list will be assessed before being approved, where
you will need to show a clear rationale, how the intervention is value for money, what
outcomes it will deliver and how you will monitor and evaluate the intervention. This
may include a theory of change or logic chain.

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND
PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY.
Outcome
Tick if
applicable
Jobs created
Jobs safeguarded
x
Increased footfall
x
Increased visitor numbers
Reduced vacancy rates
X
Greenhouse gas reductions
X
Improved perceived/experienced accessibility
X
Improved perception of facilities/amenities
Increased number of properties better protected from flooding and coastal erosion
Increased users of facilities / amenities
x
Improved perception of facility/infrastructure project
x
Increased use of cycleways or paths

Page 129

Increase in Biodiversity (not on final submission to gov)
Increased affordability of events/entry
Improved perception of safety
Reduction in neighbourhood crime
Improved engagement numbers
Improved perception of events
Increased number of web searches for a place
Volunteering numbers as a result of support
Number of community-led arts, cultural, heritage and creative programmes as a result
of support
Increased take up of energy efficiency measures
Increased number of projects arising from funded feasibility studies
Number of premises with improved digital connectivity
None of the above

x
x
x
x

x
x

SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE COMMUNITIES AND
PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE.
Intervention
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.

E3: Creation of and improvements to local green spaces, community gardens,
watercourses and embankments, along with incorporating natural features into wider
public spaces.
E4: Enhanced support for existing cultural, historic and heritage institutions that make up
the local cultural heritage offer.
E5: Design and management of the built and landscaped environment to ‘design out
crime’.
E10: Funding for local sports facilities, tournaments, teams and leagues; to bring people
together
E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living, including through measures to
improve energy efficiency, and combat fuel poverty and climate change.

DO YOU PLAN TO USE ANY INTERVENTIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE COMMUNITIES AND
PLACE LIST?
State the name of each of these additional interventions and a brief description of each of
these
No
Explain how each intervention meets the Communities and Place investment priority. Give
evidence where possible, including why it is value money and the outcomes you want to
deliver.
N/A
Do you consider that any of these interventions may provide a subsidy to potential
recipients of the funding under the intervention’s planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
N/A

Page 130

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the intervention is a subsidy and
any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.
N/A

HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS WHICH FALL UNDER THE
COMMUNITIES AND PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
Describe these projects, including how they fall under the Communities and Place
investment priority and the location of the proposed project.
To be finalised
Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding
under the proposed planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
N/A
Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.
N/A

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL
BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY.
Outcome
Tick if
applicable
x
Jobs created
x
Jobs safeguarded
Increased footfall
Increased visitor numbers
Reduced vacancy rates
Greenhouse gas reductions
x
Number of new businesses created
Improved perception of markets
Increased business sustainability
x
Increased number of businesses supported
x
Increased amount of investment
Improved perception of attractions
x
Number of businesses introducing new products to the firm
Number of organisations engaged in new knowledge transfer activity
Number of premises with improved digital connectivity
x
Number of businesses adopting new to the firm technologies or processes
Number of new to market products
Number of R&D active businesses
x
Increased number of innovation active SMEs
x
Number of businesses adopting new or improved products or services
Increased number of innovation plans developed
x
Number of early stage firms which increase their revenue following support
Number of businesses engaged in new markets
Number of businesses engaged in new markets
Number of businesses increasing their export capability
x
Increased amount of low or zero carbon energy infrastructure installed
x
Number of businesses with improved productivity
x
Increased number of projects arising from funded feasibility studies

Page 131

Increased number of properties better protected from flooding and coastal erosion
None of the above
SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE SUPPORTING
LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE.
Intervention
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.

E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems, and supporting businesses at all
stages of their development to start, sustain, grow and innovate, including through local
networks.
E24: Funding for new and improvements to existing training hubs, business support offers,
‘incubators’ and ‘accelerators’ for local enterprise (including social enterprise) which can
support entrepreneurs and start-ups through the early stages of development and growth
by offering a combination of services including account management, advice, resources,
training, coaching, mentorship and access to workspace.
E31: Funding to support relevant feasibility studies.

DO YOU PLAN TO USE ANY INTERVENTIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE SUPPORTING LOCAL
BUSINESS LIST?
State the name of each of these additional interventions and a brief description of each of
these
No
Explain how each intervention meets the Supporting Local Business investment priority.
Give evidence where possible, including why it is value money and the outcomes you want
to deliver.
N/A
Do you consider that any of these interventions may provide a subsidy to potential
recipients of the funding under the intervention’s planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
N/A
Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the intervention is a subsidy and
any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.
N/A

HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS WHICH FALL UNDER THE SUPPORTING
LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
Describe these projects, including how they fall under the Supporting Local Business
investment priority and the location of the proposed project.
To be finalised
Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding
under the proposed planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
N/A

Page 132

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.
N/A

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS
INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY.
Outcome
Tick if
applicable

Number of economically inactive individuals in receipt of benefits they are
entitled to following support
Increased active or sustained participants of UKSPF beneficiaries in
community groups [and/or] increased employability through development of
interpersonal skills
Increased proportion of participants with basic skills (English, maths, digital
and ESOL)
Number of people in supported employment [and] number of people engaging
with mainstream healthcare services
Number of people sustaining engagement with keyworker support and
additional services
Number of people engaged in job-searching following support
Number of people in employment, including self-employment, following
support
Number of people sustaining employment for 6 months
Increased employment, skills and/or UKSPF objectives incorporated into local
area corporate governance
Number of people in education/training
Increased number of people with basic skills (English, maths, digital and
ESOL)
Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills
provision
Increased number of people familiarised with employers’ expectations,
including, standards of behaviour in the workplace
Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills
provision
Number of people gaining a qualification or completing a course following
support
Number of people gaining qualifications, licences, and skills
Number of economically active individuals engaged in mainstream skills
education, and training.
Number of people engaged in life skills support following interventions
Number of people with proficiency in pre-employment and interpersonal skills
(relationship, organisational and anger-management, interviewing, CV and job
application writing)

x
x
x

x
x
x
x
x
x

x

x
x
x
x
x

Multiply only - Increased number of adults achieving maths qualifications up to, and
including, Level 2.
Multiply only - Increased number of adults participating in maths qualifications and
courses up to, and including, Level 2.
None of the above
SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE PEOPLE AND
SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE.
Intervention
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.

Page 133

E33: Employment support for economically inactive people: Intensive and wrap-around
one-to-one support to move people closer towards mainstream provision and
employment, supplemented by additional and/or specialist life and basic skills (digital,
English, maths* and ESOL) support where there are local provision gaps.
E35: Activities such as enrichment and volunteering to improve opportunities and promote
wellbeing.
E36: Intervention to increase levels of digital inclusion, with a focus on essential digital
skills, communicating the benefits of getting (safely) online, and in-community support to
provide users with the confidence and trust to stay online.
E37: Tailored support to help people in employment, who are not supported by
mainstream provision to address barriers to accessing education and training courses.
This includes supporting the retention of groups who are likely to leave the labour market
early.
E38: Support for local areas to fund local skills needs. This includes technical and
vocational qualifications and courses up to level 2 and training for vocational licences
relevant to local area needs and high-value qualifications where there is a need for
additional skills capacity that is not being met through other provision.
E39: Green skills courses targeted around ensuring we have the skilled workforce to
achieve the government’s net zero and wider environmental ambitions.
E41: Funding to support local digital skills.

DO YOU PLAN TO USE ANY INTERVENTIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS
LIST?
State the name of each of these additional interventions and a brief description of each of
these
No
Explain how each intervention meets the People and Skills investment priority. Give
evidence where possible, including why it is value money and the outcomes you want to
deliver.
N/A
Do you consider that any of these interventions may provide a subsidy to potential
recipients of the funding under the intervention’s planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
N/A
Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the intervention is a subsidy and
any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.
N/A

ENGLAND ONLY: People and Skills interventions can only be used in 2022-2023 and
2023-2024 if you have identified a local voluntary and community provision, previously
supported by the European Social Fund, at risk of closure. If you have not identified a
suitable provision, you will not be able to select interventions for 2022-2023 and 20232024 and your investment plan will not be approved.

Page 134

HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS for 2024-2025 WHICH FALL UNDER THE
PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
No
Describe the projects for 2024-25, including how they fall under the People and Skills
investment priority and the location of the proposed project.
To be finalised.
Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding
under the proposed planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
No
Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.
N/A
HAVE YOU IDENTIFIED A LOCAL VOLUNTARY PROVISION AT RISK AS PART OF YOUR
PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITIES?
No
Some current provision is funded through ESF &
ERDF funds that covers Exeter. The projects
are managed by a number of organisations and
College’s located outside of Exeter, not
voluntary organisations.
(If Yes) Describe the local voluntary provision at risk and your rationale for supporting it.
Provide the European Social Fund Project Names and Project References for this voluntary
and community provision at risk.
N/A
What year do you intend to fund these projects? Select all that apply.
2022-2023
2023-2024
2024-2025
Describe the projects for 2022-2023 and 2023-2024, including how they fall under the People
and Skills investment priority and the location of the proposed project.
N/A
Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding
under the proposed planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
N/A
Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.
N/A

SCOTLAND, WALES & NORTHERN IRELAND ONLY
HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS WHICH FALL UNDER THE PEOPLE AND
SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
Yes
No
Describe the projects, including how they fall under the People and Skills investment
priority and the location of the proposed project.

Page 135

Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding
under the proposed planned activity?
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in
the guidance.
Yes
No
Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted.

Approach to delivery and governance
In this section, we will ask you about:


Structures you have in place to support delivery



Support you have from stakeholders and the local community



How you’ve engaged with MPs as part of your investment plan



Opportunities you have identified to work with other places

Places need to show how MPs that cover the lead local authority have been engaged on the
investment plan and whether they support it. More detail on the role of MPs can be found
here.
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT
Have you engaged with any of the following as part of your investment plan? Select all that
apply.
Public sector organisations
Private sector organisations
Civil society organisations
Describe how you have engaged with any of these organisations. Give examples where
possible.
The Net Zero & Business team has held 3 online (Zoom) consultation sessions, with each focused
on each investment priority:
 Communities & Place: 20 June 2022
 Supporting Local Businesses: 21 June 2020
 People & Skills: 27 June 2022
A wide range of public and private sector businesses were invited, as well as civil society
organisations. We have also held 1-2-1 sessions within our City Centre Business Improvement
District (InExeter) and our local Chamber of Commerce (Exeter Chamber). Both organisations
cover a wide range of businesses sizes and sectors located in Exeter.
Summarise the governance structures you have in place, including how any advisory panels
or associated partnership groups are made up
A session has been held with the Liveable Exeter Place Board (11July), an existing group of public
& private sector businesses from across Exeter, as well as our two MP’s. This will be our Local
Partnership Group for the delivery of SPF for Exeter. https://www.liveableexeter.co.uk/ There will
be regular reports/updates to the Liveable Exeter Place Board on progress on Exeter’s SPF.
The Liveable Exeter Place Board has been running for a number of years, and has Terms of
Reference, which has been adjusted to assist with oversight of SPF. The group is chaired by Sir
Steve Smith, a UK Government International Education Champion.
The Liveable Exeter Place Board has adopted the city wide vision of "By the time they are an adult,
a child born in Exeter today, will live in a city that is inclusive, healthy and sustainable."

Page 136

The Net Zero & Business team have three structures in place to support the delivery of SPF:
 UKSPF Management Group: The purpose of this group will be for management and
oversight of the delivery of the investment plan and interventions. It will be the role of this
group that interventions are on budget, working to the correct timeframe and that they are
delivering the outputs and outcomes indicated. This group will be made up of the Officer in
charge with the delivery of SPF, Officers leading on interventions, Legal, Finance, Project
Manager and relevant Director. Exeter Chamber of Commerce and InExeter (BID) have
been invited to have representation on this Group. The group will meet every 3 months.



UKSPF Assessment Group: The purpose of this group will be to assess applications
(Project Concept Form) received, both from within the City Council and from businesses
and organisations looking to develop an intervention to be delivered in Exeter. Successful
applications will receive SPF funding. This group will be made up with the officer in charge
of the delivery of SPF, Procurement and one other senior officer.



Exeter City Council Strategic Scrutiny: Every 6 months the Net Zero & Business team
will be reporting to Strategic Scrutiny Committee, with progress of Exeter Investment Plan
and subsequent interventions. This is our opportunity to inform elected members and
members of the public.

Confirm all MPs covering your lead local authority have been invited to join the local
partnership group.
Yes
Are there MPs who are not supportive of your investment plan?
No
(If Yes) Who are the MPs that are not supportive and outline their reasons why.

PROJECT SELECTION
Are you intending to select projects in any way other than by competition for funding?
Yes
(If Yes) Describe your approach to selecting projects, and why you intend to do it this way.
There is some business support provision that already exists in the city, it is likely that the City
Council will fund some existing activity – so that provision does not stop in the city.
Another project is Building Greater Exeter https://buildinggreaterexeter.co.uk/ this has some
funding to deliver activity, but there is an opportunity to upscale activity to encourage and support
individuals into construction and the development of Employment & Skills Plans for developments
over a certain size. Also, SPF may fund support and advice for the construction industry into
sustainable constriction methods.
There are some People & Skills interventions that we may look to implement in Exeter. There are
some projects developed by Devon County Council, funded by the through Community Renewal
Fund that may be suitable for Exeter. Dependant on city challenges, we may procure some of
these project direct from Devon County Council.

DO YOU INTEND TO WORK WITH OTHER PLACES ON ANY OF THE INTERVENTIONS
WHICH FALL UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
Which interventions do you intend to collaborate on? Select all that apply.
Intervention
Tick if
applicable

Page 137

A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the
Prospectus.

E3: Creation of and improvements to local green spaces, community gardens,
watercourses and embankments, along with incorporating natural features into
wider public spaces.
E4: Enhanced support for existing cultural, historic and heritage institutions that
make up the local cultural heritage offer.
E5: Design and management of the built and landscaped environment to ‘design out
crime’.
E10: Funding for local sports facilities, tournaments, teams and leagues; to bring
people together.
E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living, including through measures
to improve energy efficiency, and combat fuel poverty and climate change.

Describe any interventions not included in this list?
Who are the places you intend to collaborate with?

DO YOU INTEND TO WORK WITH OTHER PLACES ON ANY OF THE INTERVENTIONS
WHICH FALL UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
Which interventions do you intend to collaborate on? Select all that apply.
Intervention
Tick if
applicable
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the
Prospectus.
E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems, and supporting businesses at
x
all stages of their development to start, sustain, grow and innovate, including through
local networks.
E24: Funding for new and improvements to existing training hubs, business support
x
offers, ‘incubators’ and ‘accelerators’ for local enterprise (including social enterprise)
which can support entrepreneurs and start-ups through the early stages of
development and growth by offering a combination of services including account
management, advice, resources, training, coaching, mentorship and access to
workspace.
E31: Funding to support relevant feasibility studies.

Describe any interventions not included in this list?

Who are the places you intend to collaborate with?
East Devon District Council
Mid Devon District Council
Teignbridge District Council

Page 138

DO YOU INTEND TO WORK WITH OTHER PLACES ON ANY OF THE INTERVENTIONS
WHICH FALL UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY?
Which interventions do you intend to collaborate on? Select all that apply.
Intervention
Tick if
applicable
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the
Prospectus.
x
E33: Employment support for economically inactive people: Intensive and wrap-

around one-to-one support to move people closer towards mainstream provision
and employment, supplemented by additional and/or specialist life and basic skills
(digital, English, maths* and ESOL) support where there are local provision gaps.
E35: Activities such as enrichment and volunteering to improve opportunities and
promote wellbeing.

x

E36: Intervention to increase levels of digital inclusion, with a focus on essential
digital skills, communicating the benefits of getting (safely) online, and in-community
support to provide users with the confidence and trust to stay online.

x

E37: Tailored support to help people in employment, who are not supported by
mainstream provision to address barriers to accessing education and training
courses. This includes supporting the retention of groups who are likely to leave the
labour market early.

x

E38: Support for local areas to fund local skills needs. This includes technical and
vocational qualifications and courses up to level 2 and training for vocational
licences relevant to local area needs and high-value qualifications where there is a
need for additional skills capacity that is not being met through other provision.

X

E39: Green skills courses targeted around ensuring we have the skilled workforce to
achieve the government’s net zero and wider environmental ambitions.

x

E41: Funding to support local digital skills.

x

Describe any interventions not included in this list?
Who are the places you intend to collaborate with?
East Devon District Council
Mid Devon District Council

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY
How have you considered your public sector equality duty in the design of your investment
plan?
In writing a committee report to inform members of Exeter’s SPF allocation, we undertook a EQIA,
both are being presented to Executive on 5 July 2022
http://committees.exeter.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=6745&Ver=4
The EQIA will be reviewed and updated when the Net Zero & Business team present at Strategic
Scrutiny every 6 months on the progress of SPF and our interventions.
In developing our Project Concept form, we have included questions on how the project has a
positive or negative impact on known protected characteristics.

Page 139

How will you consider your public sector equality duty when implementing your investment
plan, including in the selection of projects?
The City Council’s UKSPF Assessment Group will be assessing each Project Concept Form,
against protected characteristics.

RISKS
Have you identified any key risks that could affect delivery, for example lack of staff or
expertise?
Yes
(If Yes) Describe these risks or issues, including the contingency measures you have in
place to mitigate them.
There are risks within some of the interventions within Communities & Place. These risks would be
with the purchasing of raw materials to deliver interventions. These interventions will be tendered
for as soon as the City Council’s investment plan is signed off, so the City Council is ready to start
as soon as practicably possible.
Have you identified any key fraud risks that could affect UKSPF delivery?
No
(If Yes) Describe these risks or issues, including the contingency measures you have in
place to mitigate them.
The Net Zero & Business team are procuring each intervention through our Project Concept Form,
which includes an assessment criteria. The City Council’s Procurement Team will also be
assessing received Project Concept Forms and will undertake necessary checks on businesses
being awarded funding.

Capacity and capability
In this section, we will ask you about:


The capacity and capability of your team to manage funding



The resources you have in place for work related to UKSPF

Your answers here will help us know how to support you with delivery. They will not affect
the amount of funding you will get.
Answer as honestly as possible.
TEAM RESOURCE
How many people (FTE) will be put in place to work with UKSPF funding?
There will be two roles (people) working on SPF – 1.8 FTE
Service Lead Net Zero & Business (1FTE)
City Skills & Inclusivity Manager (0.6 FTE)
Service Accountant (0.2FTE)
Describe what role these people will have, including any seniority and experience.
Service Lead Net Zero & Business (3rd tier manager)
This role is a senior manager at Exeter City Council and will be the overall Project Manager for SPF
and will be working full time on SPF. The post holder successfully managed the City Council’s
Welcome Back Fund / Re-Opening Safely High Street Fund and the Additional Restrictions Grant.
Their role has oversight on net zero for the City Council and the city, as well as business/economic
development, city management and skills.
City Skills & Inclusivity Manager (4th tier manager)
This role is line managed by the Service Lead Net Zero & Business and currently works on
business support, skills and social mobility type activity. The post holder has worked in skills for

Page 140

over 20 years and delivered ESF skills funded programmes in the past. They have led on
researching and writing a new skills strategy for Exeter.
Service Accountant (4th tier manager)
This role is the account for a wide range of City Council services including waste & recycling, Parks
& Open Spaces, Waterways, Environmental Health and Net Zero & Business. They have numerous
years’ experience in managing public sector accounts, as well as ERDF programmes.



Strong capability: Has extensive experience and/or a proven track record of delivery
in this area.



Strong capacity: High degree of confidence that there is enough staffing/resource to
manage funding in this area.



Some capability: Has previous experience of delivery in this area.



Some capacity: Confident that there is enough staffing/resource to manage funding
in this area.



Limited capability: Does not have previous experience and/or no track record of
delivery in this area.



Limited capacity: Limited confidence that there is enough staffing/resource to
manage funding in this area. Additional resource may be needed to support delivery.

CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY
How would you describe your team’s current experience of delivering funding and
managing growth funds?
Some experience
How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for
procurement?
Strong capability
How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for
procurement?
Strong capability
How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for procurement?
Some capacity
How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for subsidies?
Some capability
How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for subsidies?
Some capacity
COMMUNITIES AND PLACE CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY
Does your local authority have any previous experience of delivering the Communities and
Place interventions you have select?
Yes
How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for Communities
and Place interventions?
Strong capability
Describe the key capability challenges (if you have any) for delivering Communities and
Place interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your
local/regional delivery system.
CURRENT CAPABILITY
The City Council have a service that maintains our parks and gardens, which two potential
interventions will focus on. We have significant experience in the maintenance and design of parks
and gardens, as well as equipment needed.

Page 141

The City Council have ran a CCTV network in the city for over 20 years. We have recently
purchase over 30 new digital CCTV cameras, to improve safety within the city. There is scope to
update old existing CCTV cameras, and from recent purchases, have experience in this specific
field.
The Net Zero & Business team have extensive experience in writing tenders for feasibility studies,
to determine a need or demand to improve an experience or to develop a new product.
Approx. 4 years ago, the City Council developed a new procurement Team, to provide a resource
and specialist advice to officers, to that the City Council procures in a legal and compliant manner.
CAPABILITY CHALLENGES
During the Welcome Back Fund, some projects were delayed significantly, as products that were
purchase weren’t able to be delivered. The company was having issues in sourcing raw materials.
Describe what further support would help address these challenges.

How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for Communities
and Place interventions?
Some capability
Describe the key capacity challenges (if you have any) for delivering Communities and
Place interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your
local/regional delivery system.
CAPACITY CHALLENGES
The City Council is currently struggling to recruit to certain positions, the city has an incredibly tight
labour market. This is evident in Parks & Open Spaces, which could affect deliver of some
interventions.
Our current Service Account is being seconded to cover maternity leave. The City Council may
struggle to recruit into this position.
Describe what further support would help address these challenges.
The Project Manager will be having discussions with Procurement in how we can tender out work
to local businesses, if the City Council is unable to undertake the task ourselves.

SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY
Does your local authority have any previous experience of delivering the Supporting Local
Business interventions you have select?
Yes
How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for Supporting
Local Business interventions?
Strong capability
Describe the key capability challenges (if you have any) for delivering Supporting Local
Business interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your
local/regional delivery system.
The Net Zero & Business team commissioned business support through the Welcome Back Fund.
We needed to determine gaps in the market, to understand where provision was needed. This will
be the same for SPF.
The Net Zero & Business team will be undertaking this process through their day to day role.
Describe what further support would help address these challenges.
N/A

Page 142

How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for Supporting
Local Business interventions?
Some capability
Describe the key capacity challenges (if you have any) for delivering Supporting Local
Business interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your
local/regional delivery system.
Within the first year of SPF, there will be lots of commission for feasibility studies, as well as
business support. We need to plan our time efficiently to meet the outputs and outcomes of SPF.
Describe what further support would help address these challenges.
None required, as Exeter Chamber is included in our management group to provide advice on what
challenges the business community are facing.

PEOPLE AND SKILLS CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY
Does your local authority have any previous experience of delivering the People and Skills
interventions you have select?
Yes
How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for People and
Skills interventions?
Strong capability
Describe the key capability challenges (if you have any) for delivering People and Skills
interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your
local/regional delivery system.
The City Council is unique, in that we have an officer dedicated to developing skills within the city.
There may be a demand on this post holder when working with neighbouring district council’s for
their knowledge and experience.
Describe what further support would help address these challenges.
None required
How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for People and
Skills interventions?
Some capability
Describe the key capacity challenges (if you have any) for delivering People and Skills
interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your
local/regional delivery system.
The post holder delivering People & Skills is supporting Devon County Council on the ‘skills ask’ for
the Devon Devolution Deal. It is hoped this support ends prior to SPF starting.
Describe what further support would help address these challenges.
Support from Devon County Council would assist the City Council to greater understand gaps in
the current provision, so SPF can be effective.

SUPPORT TO DELIVERY UKSPF

All lead authorities can use up to 4% of their UKSPF allocation to support the delivery of
their chosen interventions but by exception, lead authorities will be able to use more than
4%. Are you planning to use more than 4%?
No
(If Yes) Explain why you wish to use more than 4%.

Page 143

Approvals
Before submitting your investment plan, you should have approval from your:


Chief Executive Officer



Section 151 Officer



Leader of your lead authority

Do you have approval from your Chief Executive Officer for this investment plan?
o

Yes

Do you have approval from your Section 151 Officer for this investment plan?
o

Yes

Do you have approval from the leader of your lead authority for this investment plan?
o

Yes

If you do not have approval from any of these people, please explain why this is:

Additional documents
You will have received an email giving you access to a folder where you will need to upload
supporting evidence to your investment plan. All applicants must complete and upload the
following spreadsheet to the folder prior to submitting their investment plan:
-

UKSPF Expenditure Profile spreadsheet

-

UKSPF Indicative Deliverables spreadsheet

Your investment plan submission will be considered incomplete without the required
documents.

Have you completed and uploaded the two spreadsheets to the SharePoint
folder as requested?
o

Yes

Page 144

Equality Impact Assessment: UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Exeter allocation
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the
need to:
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not

Page 145

In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all
members of the community.
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular
groups and worsen inequality.
Committee name and
date:

REPORT TO STRATEGIC
SCRUTINY
Date of Meeting: 22 September
2022

Report Title

Progress Report Shared
Prosperity Fund – Update 1

Decisions being
recommended:

2.1 That members note progress
made in developing an
Investment Plan, to support
Building Pride in Place and
Increasing Life Chances in
Exeter.

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:

Committee name and
date:

Report Title

Decisions being
recommended:

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:

2.2 That members note and
comment on the range of
interventions proposed for
Exeter, and work required to
delivery UKSPF in Exeter.

Page 146

2.3 The Service Lead for Net
Zero & Business provides an
update to Strategic Scrutiny
every 6 months on the delivery
and management of UKSPF, the
next being March 2023.
Factors to consider in the assessment: For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed
decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions
planned to be carried out in future).
High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very
little discretion
Protected characteristic/ area of
interest
Race and ethnicity (including
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant
workers; asylum seekers).

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Positive

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
High

Reason

Interventions could be developed to support migrant workers and
asylum seekers into training and or work.

Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Positive

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
High

Reason

Neutral

Low

Gender reassignment

Neutral

Low

Religion and belief (includes no
belief, some philosophical beliefs such
as Buddhism and sects within
religions).
Sexual orientation (including
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).
Age (children and young people aged
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger
older people aged 51-75/80; older
people 81+; frail older people; people
living with age related conditions. The
age categories are for illustration only
as overriding consideration should be
given to needs).
Pregnancy and maternity including
new and breast feeding mothers
Marriage and civil partnership
status

Neutral

Low

Through consultation, interventions will be investigated to support
sex/gender
Through consultation, interventions will be investigated to support
gender reassignment
N/A

Neutral

Low

Positive

High

Positive

Medium

Neutral

Low

Disability: as defined by the Equality
Act – a person has a disability if they
have a physical or mental impairment
that has a substantial and long-term
adverse impact on their ability to carry
out normal day-to-day activities.
Sex/Gender

Interventions could be developed to support those with a disability into
work or training. There is potential to engage more and varied
businesses across the city in supporting those with disabilities in to
work. In particular encouraging the use of the ‘Disability Confident’

Page 147

Through consultation, interventions will be investigated to in how they
support sexual orientation
The primary goal of UKSPF is to build pride in place and increase life
chances. Interventions will be developed to support all age ranges into
training and work, as well as those leaving education and those currently
claiming Universal Credit.

Interventions will be consulted on to attract and retain the workforce
those back into training and or work.
N/A

Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion

Further consultation with the Liveable Exeter Place Board, on proposed Exeter interventions.
The Service Lead for Net Zero & Business team will consult with the Policy team on the development of the Exeter Investment Plan and
subsequent interventions.

Officer: Victoria Hatfield
Date: 15 August 2022

Page 148

Agenda Item 10
REPORT TO STRATEGIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND CUSTOMER FOCUS
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Date of Meetings: 29 September and 6 October 2022

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 1 November 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 13 December 2022
Report of: The Scrutiny Programme Board
Title: Annual Scrutiny Report 2021-22

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
1.1 To provide an annual update in respect of the Scrutiny work achieved during the
municipal year 2021 – 2022.

2.

Recommendations:
2.1 The Annual Scrutiny Report 2021- 2022 is noted by the Strategic Scrutiny
Committee and the Customer Focus Scrutiny Committee; and
2.2 The Executive note and recommend that Council approve Annual Scrutiny Report
2021- 2022.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1 The Annual Scrutiny Report provides the Scrutiny Committees with an opportunity to:a. Monitor the progress of the Scrutiny function and process at Exeter City Council;
b. Comment upon the progress and direction of Scrutiny over the past year and into the
future;
c. Ensure that the Scrutiny Committees are kept fully up to date as to the Task and
Finish Groups and what they have achieved;
d. Illustrate how effective Scrutiny can contribute towards an accountable, transparent
and democratic process.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources
None

Page 149

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
5.1

6.

What are the legal aspects?
6.1

7.

None identified.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
7.1

8.

There are no financial implications contained within this report.

This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

Report details:
8.1 This update concentrates on providing Members with an overview of the work and
achievements of Scrutiny during 2021 - 2022 and is set out in detail at Appendix A
attached to this report.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
9.1

Good governance contributes to the Council’s purpose of a “Well Run Council”.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
N/A

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to
consider the need to:
eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.
11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority
from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals
that consider the impacts on all members of the community.
11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a
decision.
11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people
with protected characteristics as determined by the Act because the report is for
information only.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
12.1 No direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations.

Page 150

13. Are there any other options?
N/A
Author: Scrutiny Programme Board

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:None

Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 151

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22
EXETER CITY COUNCIL
(APRIL 2021 – SEPTEMBER 2022)

1

Page 153

Appendix A

Contents
Foreword from Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Board…………………………………… 3
Introduction........................................................................................................................4
Terms of Reference and Membership…………………………………………………………6
Year in Review: Overview and Scrutiny 2021/22...............................................................9
Looking ahead to 2022/23.................................................................................................12
Scrutiny Contact Details....................................................................................................13

2

Page 154

Appendix A

Foreword from the Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Board
The role of Scrutiny is to provide support, challenge and to maximise the effectiveness of
Exeter City Council and its working relationships with its partners across the local and wider
communities it serves.
2021/22 has continued to have been a year of challenge in many areas as noted within this
report, but despite this, the two Scrutiny Committees have continued to take a proactive
approach to matters concerning the Council and its residents to support the Council in
making a positive contribution to work in the City. The Scrutiny Process had been delayed in
2020, and 2021 and 2022 has seen the Scrutiny Programme Board and Democratic
Services work tirelessly to reinforce the focus of Scrutiny and manage the available
resources to develop scrutiny training for all Members.
The Scrutiny Programme Board was setup to meet on a bi-annual basis, however given the
enormous changes faced by the Council, the Scrutiny Programme Board has met on more
than eight occasions during 2021/22, to provide oversight and direction on the work of
Scrutiny. The meetings review Scrutiny Committees held in the recent cycle, develop best
practice for both Scrutiny meetings, review Pro-forma Forms submitted by Members and
develop a programme of work for the year.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all Scrutiny Members, our partners for their
support over a difficult period and in particular to the Democratic Services team for their
continued support in facilitating and reviewing the scrutiny process.

Councillor Hannah Packham,
Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Board
September 2022

3

Page 155

Appendix A

Introduction
Welcome to the Annual Scrutiny Report for Exeter City Council, which provides an overview
of the work undertaken by the Customer Focus Scrutiny Committee and Strategic Scrutiny
Committee during the 2021/22 year (April 2021 to September 2022).
Scrutiny is a key tool for promoting the best interests and wellbeing of the area and seeks to
ensure that local people receive high quality services that meet their needs. The two
Scrutiny Committees acts as a ‘critical friend’ to the Executive, and holds it to account and
providing challenge where it deems necessary. Scrutiny is a vital role in the areas of
reviewing the formulation of policy development and advising the Executive of areas of
potential improvements. The work of the two Scrutiny Committees supports the Council in
the work undertaken to achieve the aims of the Council’s corporate objectives.
The aims of the Scrutiny process are to:add value to Council business and decision-making;
hold the Executive to account;
to monitor the budget and performance of services;
assist the Council in the development of policy and review the effectiveness of the
implementation of Council policy;
to review relevant Government policy development and legislation to assess the impact
on the City and make recommendations to Executive.
In 2019, the Council agreed to reduce the number of Scrutiny Committees to two – the
Customer Focus Scrutiny Committee and Strategic Scrutiny Committee, to discharge the
functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 or regulations under
section 32 of the Local Government Act 2000. Shortly thereafter, the Covid-19 Pandemic
occurred which impacted the Council’s decision making process. The new arrangements
could not be fully realised, and the role of the Scrutiny Committees was re-focussed on the
Council’s response to the Pandemic (both immediate and recovery). Work had since been
undertaken to highlight the role of Scrutiny under the new arrangements and additional
training and resources have been put into place. Among these are:the introduction of a Scrutiny Hub on the Council Intranet site, to provide Members with
supporting information and guidance to assist them in good scrutiny practice;
Appointing Deputy Chairs of Scrutiny Committee to Chair any Task and Finish Groups
or Spotlight Reviews, as and when established;
Highlighting the importance of Scrutiny Committees being led by Members, who are
responsible for setting their own work programme and taking into account the views of
Committee Members who are not Members of the largest political group on the Council;
Pro-Forma for Portfolio Holders to complete to update Members on activities within their
portfolios
The Council’s Scrutiny Committees continue to have an important role in relation to the
development of the Council’s budget and policy framework, as well as to make proposals to
the Executive in so far as they relate to matters within their terms of reference. Members
have access to the Council’s Forward Plan for work being undertaken throughout the year
and where there is need for Scrutiny consideration following an Executive decision to bring
the matter to Committee first – the Call In process.
4

Page 156

Appendix A
This Annual report serves as a reminder to Members of what their responsibilities and
powers are, and to re-iterate the importance of Scrutiny being Member led. For the benefit of
Members, the Terms of Reference for the Scrutiny Programme Board are included in this
report.

5

Page 157

Appendix A

Terms of Reference and Membership
Scrutiny Programme Board (SPB)
The purpose of the Scrutiny Programme Board is to manage scrutiny in a way that ensures
the functions of overview and scrutiny are fairly balanced across all aspects of the Council’s
work, with a view to improving services, reducing inequalities and improving outcomes for
the people of Exeter.
Role of the Scrutiny Programme Board:to set priorities for the annual scrutiny work programme, based on submissions from
Members, referrals from Council, the public and proposals from Executive, Strategic
Management Board (SMB) or Scrutiny Committees;
to allocate work fairly across the two scrutiny committees and that the work reflects all
aspects of the Council’s work by providing oversight and direction to the committees’
work programmes;
to ensure corporate and cross cutting business is dealt with by the relevant committees;
to review performance against the relevant corporate priorities and inform work
programmes as appropriate;
to receive for information, and oversee implementation of, recommendations made by
each of the two Scrutiny Committees;
to plan and oversee implementation of the process for annual Budget Scrutiny;
to produce an annual scrutiny report to Council (in conjunction with the scrutiny
committees);
to review national best practice and guidance in relation to scrutiny and recommend any
changes to the way scrutiny is undertaken as a result.
Committee Membership – Scrutiny Programme Board (formed of the current Chairs
and Deputy Chairs of the two Scrutiny Committees)
Councillor Hannah Packham (Chair);
Councillor Matthew Vizard;
Councillor Rob Hannaford;
Councillor Michael Mitchell; and
Councillor Andrew Leadbetter.
General role of the Scrutiny Committees
The relevant scrutiny committee is responsible for
hearing call-ins, petitions and any Councillor’s call for action (CCFA) - which enables a
ward Councillor to refer issues of direct local concern to the Scrutiny Board; approving
the creation of time limited working groups for issues within its remit;
monitoring performance against the relevant corporate priorities;
receiving finance and performance reports;
agreeing recommendations to Executive, Council and partner organisations;
agreeing appointments of co-opted representatives;
monitoring the forward plan;
reviewing new and developing legislation to assess its impact on the city;
considering and introducing schemes to involve the public in developing policy;

6

Page 158

Appendix A
working with national, regional and local organisations to promote the interest of local
people;
considering matters referred to the Scrutiny Committee through established Task and
Finish Groups and Spotlight Reviews

Customer Focus Scrutiny Committee
The Customer Focus Scrutiny Committee provides scrutiny for the following areas of Council
Work
Corporate Performance Monitoring
Financial Performance Monitoring
Annual Budget Setting Process
Service specific/operational matters
Hear call-ins relevant to the role of the committee Partnership links
Health and Wellbeing Board
Exeter Community Safety Partnership
Strata
Committee Membership
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Councillor Matthew Vizard (Chair);
Councillor Michael Mitchell (Deputy Chair);
Councillor Carol Bennett;
Councillor Joshua Ellis-Jones;
Councillor Bob Foale;
Councillor David Harvey;
Councillor Peter Holland;
Councillor Rob Newby;
Councillor Trish Oliver;
Councillor Martyn Snow;
Councillor Amy Sparling;
Councillor Rachel Sutton
Councillor Tony Wardle; and
Councillor Steve Warwick.

Note: Membership for Scrutiny Chair’s is proposed by the majority group and Deputy Chairs
are proposed from the opposition groups.
Strategic Scrutiny Committee
The Strategic Scrutiny Committee provides scrutiny for the following areas of Council Work
Relevant policies in the Exeter Plan
Corporate Health & Safety
Response to Central Government’s Policy Making
Climate change and sustainability
Council wide/strategic matters
Hear call-ins relevant to the role of the committee
Partnership links
Growth Board
Joint Committee for Heart of the South West
Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership
7

Page 159

Appendix A

Committee Membership
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Councillor Rob Hannaford (Chair);
Councillor Andrew Leadbetter (Deputy Chair);
Councillor Naima Allcock;
Councillor Marina Asvachin;
Councillor Yvonne Atkinson
Councillor Richard Branston;
Councillor David Harvey;
Councillor Paul Knott;
Councillor Anne Jobson;
Councillor Kevin Mitchell;
Councillor Jemima Moore;
Councillor Trish Oliver;
Councillor Tess Read; and
Councillor Matthew Vizard.

Note: Membership for Scrutiny Chair’s is proposed by the majority group and Deputy Chairs
are proposed from the opposition groups.

8

Page 160

Appendix A

Year in Review: Scrutiny 2021/22
Customer Focus Scrutiny Committee
The Customer Focus Scrutiny Committee has met on six occasions between April 2021 and
September 2022.
1 April 2021
Member Questions and Answers.
Presentation on Wellbeing Exeter – review of Wellbeing Exeter to be reported to this
Scrutiny Committee.
Update on work of Spotlight Review on Consultation Charter – final recommendations to be
submitted to the next meeting.
1 July 2021
Member Questions and Answers.
Report of Spotlight Review on Consultation Charter – recommendations made to Executive
and adopted.
Presentation on the role of Scrutiny.
7 October 2021
Member Questions and Answers.
Presentation on Homelessness/Universal Credit – Task and Finish Group recommended.
2 December 2021
Member Questions and Answers.
Car Parks and Environmental Considerations – to be re-visited in Autumn 2022.
31 March 2022
Member Questions and Answers.
Food Waste Collection - A Timeline of Plan and Decision Making - regular updates to be
provided.
Exeter’s Clear Street Charter Review - position noted.
30 June 2022
Member Questions and Answers.
Exeter Plan (Local Plan) - Community Engagement – report noted with a further update at
the end of 2022.
Presentation on the role of Scrutiny.
No call-in requests were received during 2021/22.
Strategic Scrutiny Committee
The Strategic Scrutiny Committee has met on six occasions between April 2021 and
September 2022. During the course of the year, there was a change in Chair, with Councillor
9

Page 161

Appendix A
Sills standing down in the role and Councillor Denning being appointed to the role. A further
change to Councillor Hannaford as Chair and Councillor Leadbetter as Deputy Chair took
place with effect May 2022.
10 June 2021
Member Questions and Answers.
South West Food Hub – position noted.
Presentation on the role of Scrutiny.
23 September 2021
Member Questions and Answers.
Petition - received in relation to the Protection of Green Infrastructure in Pinhoe - report
noted.
Graffiti Service - the Strategic Scrutiny Committee noted the report and asked that a request
be made to the Exeter Community Partnership for the collation of a database of any
information held by the Police on taggers.
18 November 2021
Member Questions and Answers
Commercialisation Work Stream - Members noted the presentation and asked the
Commercial Manager to explore the suggestions made and report back to Members.
17 March 2022
Member Questions and Answers.
Councillor Foale, Portfolio Holder Transformation and Environment Update – presentation on
the work being undertaken to help the city’s economy recover from the Pandemic.
16 June 2022
Member Questions and Answers.
Greenhouse Gas – recommendations to Executive below:The Strategic Scrutiny Committee supported the report and requested that comments made
by this Scrutiny be relayed to the Executive when it considers the Greenhouse Gas
Emissions Inventory report. Strategic Scrutiny Committee supported approval by Executive
Presentation on the role of Scrutiny.
No call-in requests were received during 2021/22.
Combined Customer Focus and Strategic Scrutiny Committee
The Combined Scrutiny Committee has met on five occasions between April 2021 and June
2022. The Chair rotated between the Chairs of the respective Scrutiny Committees.

10

Page 162

Appendix A
20 November 2021
Medium Term Financial Plan Update – report noted.
10 February 2022
Budget 2022/23 – reports noted and resolved that a recommendation be made to the
Executive and Council that Link Group include consideration of the climate impacts of
investments and banking activity within their advice provided to Council.
30 March 2022
Session 1 provided an introduction session on the approach that Scrutiny could follow with
regards to examining the City Development Fund.
27 April 2022
Session 2 covered what was the economic case for pursuing a City Development Fund to
support delivery.
6 June 2022
Session 3 covered the Governance question, Fund Management and Governance and Risk
areas.
28 July 2022
Session 4 covered the review the Strategic and Economic cases of the outline Business
Case of the Exeter Development Fund.
Members of the Board discussed the way forward to include a Task and Finish Group being
convened before a fifth session is held to cover a summary of sessions 1-4 and agree a way
forward with a report to be presented to the Executive Committee in due course.

11

Page 163

Appendix A

Looking Ahead to 2022/23
The Scrutiny Programme Board has agreed the format and content of a work programme for
2022/23 at its meeting on 28 April 2022. The Work Programme is regularly updated and
reported on, at each Scrutiny Programme Board meeting for information.
The Forward Plan is available on the Council Website

12

Page 164

Appendix A

Scrutiny Contact Details
Contact for information for Scrutiny items coming forward can be made through
committee.services@exeter.gov.uk
Customer Focus Scrutiny Contact
Howard Bassett - howard.bassett@exeter.gov.uk
Chair: Cllr Matt Vizard
Deputy Chair: Cllr Michael Mitchell
Strategic Scrutiny Contact
Sharon Sissons - sharon.sissons@exeter.gov.uk
Chair: Cllr Rob Hannaford
Deputy Chair: Cllr Andrew Leadbetter

13

Page 165

This page is intentionally left blank

